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CONCEPTUAL REFERENCE GUIDE

This outline is intended to provide the reader with a quick reference to the conceptual basis underlying
financial accounting and reporting.

. EXTERNAL USERS AND USES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

A.

B.

B.

External Users: Actual or potential investors (stockholders and bondholders), creditors (e.g., sup-
pliers and lending institutions), and other users (e.g., employees, stock exchanges).

Primary Decisions: To (1) buy, (2) hold, or (3) sell a particular security; or to (1) extend credit,
(2) maintain a credit relationship, or (3) not extend credit.

. OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING
A.

General Objective: Provide information useful in making rational investment, credit, and similar
decisions.

External User Objective: Provide information useful in assessing amounts, timing, and uncertainty
of prospective cash receipts from dividends and interest, and the proceeds from the sale, redemption,
or maturity of securities and loans.

. Company Objective: Provide information useful in assessing amounts, timing, and uncertainty of

prospective net cash flows to the related company.

. Specific Objectives: Provide information about a company’s: (1) economic resources, obligations,

and owners’ equity; (2) comprehensive income and its components; and (3) cash flows.

Other Objectives: Provide (1) information about how the management of a company has discharged
its stewardship responsibility to owners and (2) explanations and interpretations by management
to help external users understand the financial information presented.

TYPES OF USEFUL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

>

moO0Ow

B.

C.

. Return on Investment: Amount of return on capital that may be distributed to investors or

reinvested. Measure of overall company performance.
Risk: Uncertainty or unpredictability of the future results.

. Financial Flexibility: Ability to adapt to change.
. Liquidity: How quickly assets can be converted into cash to pay bills.

Operating Capability: Ability to maintain a given physical level of operations.

. QUALITATIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF USEFUL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
A.

Understandability: Information should be understandable to external users who have a reasonable
knowledge of business and economic activities.

Decision Usefulness: Information should be useful in external users’ decision making. Overall
qualitative characteristic.

Relevance: Capacity to make a difference in a decision. Includes (1) Predictive Value: Enables more
accurate forecast of outcome of past or present events, (2) Feedback Value: Enables decision makers
to confirm or correct prior expectations, and (3) Timeliness: Availability of information before it
loses its capacity to influence decisions.

. Reliability: Reasonably free from error or bias, and faithfully represents what it is intended to

represent. Includes (1) Verifiability (Objectivity): Ability of measurers (accountants) to agree that
measurement results can be duplicated, (2) Representational Faithfulness (Validity): Degree of
correspondence between reported measurements or descriptions and economic resources, obliga-
tions, and transactions and events causing changes in these items, and (3) Neutrality: Absence of
bias and completeness of information.
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A.

B.

Comparability: Enables users to identify and explain similarities and differences between two
(or more) items of information. Includes Consistency: Conformity of information from period to
period.

. Constraints: Limits to help identify useful accounting information. Includes (1) Benefits Greater

Than Costs: Benefits obtained by users of information must be greater than costs of providing
information, and (2) Materiality: Monetary impact of the information must be large enough to
make a difference in decision making (quantitative constraint).

ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS AND PRINCIPLES

. Entity: Information is recorded and reported about each separate economic entity (company).

Continuity (Going Concern): Company is assumed to continue future operations, unless substantial
contrary evidence exists.

. Period of Time: Information is reported in a company’s financial statements at least on an

annual basis.

. Monetary Unit: National currency of company is used as stable unit of measure in preparing

financial reports.
Historical Cost: Generally, exchange price is retained in the accounting records as the value of an
item until it is consumed, sold, or liquidated and removed from records.

. Recognition: Process of formally recording and reporting an item in a company’s financial

statements.

. Realization: Process of converting noncash resources into cash or rights to cash.
. Accrual Accounting: Process (matching) of relating financial effects of transactions, events, and cir-

cumstances having cash consequences to the period in which they occur rather than when the cash
receipt or payment occurs.

Prudence (Conservatism): Process of ensuring, to extent possible, that uncertainties and risks related
to a company are reflected in its accounting information.

GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (GAAP)

Definition: Guidelines, procedures, and practices that a company is required to use in recording

and reporting the accounting information in its audited financial statements.

Sources: (in descending order of importance)

1. Category A: FASB Statements of Financial Accounting Standards and Interpretations, FASB Staff
Positions, FASB Statement 133 Implementation Issues, APB Opinions, and CAP (AICPA)
Accounting Research Bulletins (as well as SEC releases such as Regulation S-X, Financial
Reporting Releases, and Staff Accounting Bulletins for companies that file with the SEC).

2. Category B: FASB Technical Bulletins and AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting Guides, and
AICPA Statements of Position, (if cleared by the FASB).

3. Category C: FASB Emerging Issues Task Force Consensus Positions and AICPA Practice Bulletins
(if cleared by the FASB).

4. Category D: FASB QO’s and A’s (Implementation Guides), AICPA Accounting Interpretations,
and practices that are widely recognized and prevalent either generally or in the industry
(e.g., AICPA Accounting Trends and Techniques).

5. When none of the pronouncements in Categories A through D apply, then the company may
consider other accounting literature such as FASB Statements of Concepts, AICPA Issues Papers,
IASB [International Financial Reporting Standards, AICPA Technical Practice Aids, and
accounting textbooks, handbooks, and articles for GAAP guidance.

(Continued on inside back cover)
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Known for its balanced coverage of both concepts and procedures, Intermediate Accounting
gives students an unparalleled look at financial accounting information and its increas-
ingly varied uses in the world today. In addition to the thorough coverage of GAAP
expected of a book of its caliber, the timely tenth edition illustrates the practices
professional accountants execute daily, as well as the concepts behind those practices.
Through this approach, this textbook equips students with the tools needed to critically
assess evolving, accounting practices needed to meet the demands of a dynamic, profes-
sional world.

With three decades of experience, we continue to connect with the contemporary
student with improved readability, while introducing them to the language of the profes-
sion. As before, compelling real world financial statements and research cases help stu-
dents see the implication of the material at hand and learn to apply it in a real business
context. Notably, Appendix A contains 2004 financial statements and supplemental data
of The Coca-Cola Company for use throughout the book, but the tenth edition brings
even more to the table.

With the new perspective brought by co-author Jeff Jones and the move to a lively,
four-color design, Intermediate Accounting effectively imparts essential knowledge and
skills through a student-friendly, easy to reference, and pedagogically sound presentation.
Coupling that with the comprehensive coverage, professional language, and real world
applications that have been the hallmarks of the text for many years, the tenth edition
provides the perfect link between the academic and professional world. We believe this
book simultaneously provides students with the vibrant pedagogy they need to under-
stand the material and the technical complexity they need to succeed as professionals.

Intermediate Accounting, Tenth Edition consists of five parts containing 23 chapters,
as follows:

Part 1 Financial Reporting: Concepts, Financial Statements, and Related Disclosures
(Chapters 1-6, and the Time Value of Money Module)

Part 2 Financial Reporting: Asset Measurement and Income Determination
(Chapters 7-12)

Part 3 Financial Reporting: Valuation of Liabilities and Investments
(Chapters 13-15)

Part 4 Financial Reporting: Stockholders’ Equity
(Chapters 16-17)

Part 5 Financial Reporting: Special Topics
(Chapters 18-23)

TEACH THE LOGIC AND THE PRACTICE

CLEAR OBJECTIVES

Objectives at the beginning of each chapter prepare students for what they will be study-
ing. We list each objective in the margin beside the topical coverage to reinforce students’
learning.

CONCEPTUAL-ANALYTICAL-REAL REPORT FRAMEWORK (C-A-R)

Over the years, a major strength of Intermediate Accounting has been its comprehensive cov-
erage of GAAP, but its unique hallmark is the authors’ conceptual and analytical
discussions related to those procedures. Through the C-A-R framework, the textbook draws
out these important explanations and presents the underlying thought processes of finan-
cial analysis. Coupled with the interactive new and improved Real Reports, the C-A-R

a»

4 Define the
elements of a
balance sheet.
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“This should help stu-
dents to differentiate
conceptual-analytical-
applied topics while still
showing how they are
integrated. [. . .]
Ideally, text, classroom,
and tests will all
encourage and facili-
tate integration, and by
extension, critical
thinking.”

Mark Comstock-
Missouri Southern
State University

“Yes, I think that this a
very effective way to
bring out this important
information. Students
often get confused
between conceptual
alternatives, alternative
computational tech-
niques and what is
actually done in the
corporate world. This is
the first time I have
seen a serious attempt to
distinguish among these
areas in a meaningful
way for the students.”
Herbert Hunt-

CSU Long Beach

“I think this is an
excellent idea. I am
positive it will achieve
what you want — a tie
between GAAP and
practice. The informa-
tion is explained very
clearly and the classifi-
cation of conceptual,
analytical, and real
world will be very help-
ful to the students.”
Mary Loyland-
University of

North Dakota

progression bolsters students” accounting savvy as they come to understand the logic and
the practice of accounting.

Conceptual

Supported by the FASB conceptual framework introduced in Chapter 2, we relate the dis-
cussion of specific topics to the objectives of financial reporting, qualitative characteristics
of accounting information, conceptual reporting guidelines, and to the concepts of liquid-
ity, financial flexibility, risk, operating capability, and return on investment. With the con-
ceptual discussions, students begin to understand the environment that gave rise to a
specific procedure. Once that logic is place, they can begin the practice of accounting with
a firm understanding of the environment in which they operate.

statements. Recall from Chapter 2 that recognition is the process of formally recording | .
and reporting an element in the financial statements. It includes depiction of an ele-
ment in both words and numbers, with the amount included in the totals. Generally, the
most useful (i.e., the best combination of relevance and reliability) information about
assets, liabilities, and equity should be recognized and reported in the main body of the
balance sheet. There are four basic recognition criteria. To be recognized, an item (and
information about it) must meet the definition of an element, and be measurable, rele-
vant, and reliable.” Thus, to meet the objectives of a company’s balance sheet—to provide

A

Analysis

To help bridge the gap between the conceptual and procedural, we indicate essential ana-
lytical coverage that illustrates the significance and application of certain key company
characteristics and related ratio calculations to financial analysis. This material illumi-
nates the critical thinking process, so that students can further understand how the logic
of the conceptual framework translates to everyday accounting procedure and business
practice. By effectively grounding this translation in specific business activities, this cover-
age further prepares students to intelligently apply this material on their own.

Offsetting Allowance for Doubtful Accounts against Accounts Receivable informs finan-
cial statement users of the net realizable value (the amount of cash expected to be col-
lected) of the company’s receivables.!?

It is possible to base the estimate of bad debt expense on historical relationships

AN
Reporting
In addition to a thorough understanding of business transactions and the environment
of financial analysis, students need to be aware of issues that arise during financial report-
ing. Using concrete examples, we describe how items are reported in financial statements,
which instills students with the knowledge and understanding they need to efficiently
and effectively report their findings according to GAAP. A key aspect of the report cover-
age are the Real Reports. The unique Real Report feature gives students the opportunity to
test their reporting mettle with real company data.

An audit report is not part of the financial statements because it is a report by the
independent auditor. Nonetheless, it is considered an important item of information
because external users place reliance on the report as to the fairness of the financial state-
ments. The “standard” form of an auditor’s report on comparative financial statements
(often referred to as an unqualified report) is shown in Exhibit 6-1.3 (The audit report of

Real Reports

When it's time to put it all together, this feature encourages students to test their under-
standing by providing excerpts from real company reports and challenging students to
answer several questions about the information they see. As part of the Reporting mate-
rial, students learn by doing, and stretch their understanding of each topic to its limit.



With the answers provided in the end of the chapter material, these self-contained fea-
tures provide students a chance to test themselves as they read.

Real Report 7-1 Cash and Cash Equivalents

EASTMAN KODAK COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (in part)

o

At December 31

(in millions, except share and per share data) 2004 2003
ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 59,085 $1,250

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1: Significant Accounting Policies (in part)

Cash Equivalents All highly liquid investments with a remaining maturity of three
months or less at date of purchase are considered to be cash equivalents.

Questions:
1.

Why does Eastman Kodak combine cash and cash equivalents into one amount

on the balance sheet?

Clarifying Computational Steps

Because complex computations can be hard for students to master, we reduce many com-
putational procedures to a series of steps outlined in list format. For instance, Example 9-13
includes a series of steps for dollar-value LIFO calculations. Similar lists of steps for the
gross profit inventory method, retail inventory method, and dollar-value LIFO retail
method appear in Chapter 9. We include other computational steps where appropriate
throughout the rest of the book.

Straightforward Design Distinguishes Important Material

Key terms, definitions, and official statements are in boldface.

Particularly important information is in italics.

All real companies are in boldface.

Exhibits of illustrations of journal entries, supporting schedules, and financial
statements clarify concepts or procedures.

All journal entries are now in blue.

Interest Expense 200

Discount on Notes Payable 200
Notes Payable 10,000

Cash 10,000

Excerpts from real financial statements have a special background:

ConAgra Foods

NOTE 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (in part):

Inventories  Grain, flour, and major feed ingredient inventories are hedged to the extent
practicable and are principally stated at market, including adjustment to market of open
contracts for purchases and sales.

NOTE 9: Senior Long-Term Debt, Subordinated Debt and Loan Agreements

Interest expense incurred to finance hedged inventories has been charged to cost of
goods sold.

-
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“I really like the design
of these and do think
they provide a valuable
piece of the chapter cov-
erage. Like I mentioned
earlier, a move from the
technical to the practi-
cal is very welcome and
needed in the inter-
mediate sequence.”
Alee Phillips-
University of Kansas

“Yes, I do like these
examples and questions
and particularly that
the answers are in the
end-of-chapter materi-
als. This is a feature I
would definitely like.”
Vern Richardson-
University of Arkansas

“I like these kind of
problems because they
use real-world compa-
nies and I strongly
believe students pay
more attention to exam-
ples dealing with the
IBMs of the world ver-
sus the hypothetical
ACME:s. Also, these
kind of problems make
the students critically
think through the
accounting and report-
ing issue as well as an
application of the issue.
They'll like the design
of these kind of prob-
lems, and I think they
are extremely valuable.”
Rick Turpin-University
of Tennesse-
Chattanooga

“I really do think that
these will be extremely
helpful. The torn edge
style of the box gives a
real world feel to the
information. I do like
the examples that are
used, the text is fine.”
Rizvana Zameeruddin-
University of
Wisconsin-Parkside
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“This is good, especially
now! I spend a lot of
time on the conceptual
framework. It is impos-
sible to memorize all
rules...Students need to
understand these three
things [Conceptual,
Analytical, Real World|
are different. Three
aspects, perspectives,
not hierarchy. This is

a plus.”

Jane Bozewicz -
Babson University

Enhanced Design for Examples

In Intermediate Accounting, examples are clearly identified for easy reference. For in-text
examples, the example text heading will be in red, and when the example ends, there will be
a red bullet. Major, numbered examples, will also be in red, but will be in a box. This useful
design ensures that students will know where they are in the material at all times.

EXAMPLE 7-3 Accounting for Short-Term Notes Receivable

Interest-Bearing Non-interest-Bearing
To record receipt Notes Receivable 5,000 Notes Receivable 5,100
of note on Sales 5,000 Interest Revenue 100
October 1, 2007 Sales 5,000
To record receipt Cash 5,100 Cash 5,100
of maturity value Notes Receivable 5,000 Notes Receivable 5,100
on December1, Interest Revenue* 100

2007

*$5,000 X 0.12 X 60/360

UNDERSTAND THE LOGIC AND THE PRACTICE

Like no other book on the market, Intermediate Accounting, 10e moves beyond teaching
just technical skills and makes even the most complex procedures accessible to students
through an understanding of the conceptual framework.

Introduction of the FASB Conceptual Framework

Students are introduced to the “conceptual framework” in Chapter 2. This discussion involves
an identification and explanation of the objectives of financial reporting (Exhibit 2-3) and the
qualitative characteristics of useful accounting information (Exhibit 2-5). The chapter also
includes an explanation of the interrelationship between financial reports, types of useful
information, and external decision making (Exhibit 2-4), as well as a framework of finan-
cial accounting theory and practice (Exhibit 2-6).

Integrated Conceptual Discussion

Supported by the FASB conceptual framework introduced in Chapter 2, we relate the discus-
sion of specific topics to the objectives of financial reporting, qualitative characteristics of
accounting information, and conceptual reporting guidelines, and to the concepts of liquidity,
financial flexibility, risk, operating capability, and return on investment. Where there are sig-
nificant conceptual issues concerning an accounting principle, there is an objective discussion
of the alternative views. Note that this coverage is indicated through the design.

Conceptual Information on cash management is important in financial accounting because one
objective of financial reporting is to communicate how well the managers of a company have

/ \ fulfilled their stewardship responsibility to stockholders for the use of the company assets. In
@‘_’ this regard, cash management includes planning and control aspects. Cash planning systems

This integrated discussion of accounting theory is not at the expense of sound, pro-
cedural pedagogy, and we emphasize a balanced presentation of concepts and practice.
For each topic, students will find a clear and concise discussion of the related generally
accepted accounting principles. We enhance the discussion with a thorough explanation
and illustration of the corresponding practices and procedures.



IASB Conceptual Framework

Because of the continuing globalization of companies, we briefly discuss the International
Accounting Standards Board’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements. This Framework provides the conceptual underpinning for the inter-
national accounting standards that we discuss in later chapters.

Conceptual Reference Guide

This guide provides a quick review of the concepts underlying financial accounting and is
located inside the front and back covers of the book.

REINFORCE THE LOGIC AND THE PRACTICE

New and improved summary features help students identify key concepts and link them
to a more complete understanding of the accounting process.

NEW! Secure Your Knowledge Summary

With all of the material presented to a student in an Intermediate Accounting text, these
bulleted summaries help students identify key points, which helps them test their knowl-
edge and review for tests.

@ SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 5-2

® |ncome from continuing operations is a summary of the revenues, expenses (e.g., cost
of goods sold, operating expenses, income tax expense), and other items that are
expected to continue into the future.

® |ncome from continuing operations may be reported in a single-step format that
classifies all items into either revenues or expenses, or it may be reported in a more
useful multi-step format that contains additional classifications of the income state-
ment elements.

® Discontinued operations (a component of a company’s operations that has been, or
will be, eliminated from ongoing operations) are reported net-of-tax directly after
income from continuing operations.

® Extraordinary items, material gains or losses that are unusual in nature and infrequent
in occurrence, are reported net-of-tax below the results of discontinued operations.

® Companies are required to report earnings per share amounts relating to income from
continuing operations and net income on their income statements.

® Thedisclosure of additional information in the footnotes to the financial statements or
in supplemental schedules is encouraged to overcome limitations of the income
statement and provide external users with information useful for evaluating company
performance.

Comprehensive Chapter Summaries

Each chapter ends with a summary of the key points for each major topic. Tied directly to
the Objectives from the beginning of the chapter, these summaries provide students with
a quick review of the important topical issues.

Preface ix

“I feel that this feature
is extremely helpful and
that students will use it
to their advantage
when reading the text
the first time and then
when reviewing for
exams. What's nice
about them is they are
strategically located so
students can test their
knowledge before going
on to the next topic,
thus allowing them to
take relatively small
“bites” of knowledge as
they progress through
the chapter.”

Herbert Hunt-

CSU Long Beach

“I think that the
“Secure Your
Knowledge” is excel-
lent. They provide a
valuable learning tool
and should be used by
just about all students.”
Mary Loyland-
University of North
Dakota
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“I really like the way
questions are embedded
in the vignettes. This
will help drive the stu-
dent’s discussion.”
Abdul Qastin-
Lakeland College

Helpful Summary Exhibits

Summary exhibits throughout the text help students pull together and understand what
they have learned so far. For instance, Exhibit 5-3 summarizes corporate earnings and
cash flow topics, Exhibit 21-2 summarizes the criteria and classifications for leases, and
Exhibit 23-1 summarizes the impacts on financial statements of the methods used for
accounting changes and errors.

EXHIBIT9-2 Summary of Inventory Issues

Inventory Systems
+ Perpetual
+ Periodic

* Applied using

Inventory Costing Methods

+ Specific Identification

+ FIFO

» Average Cost

+ LIFO (or Dollar Value LIFO)

-

Retail Company
Retail Inventory Method Using

+ FIFO
» Average
+ LIFO (or Dollar Value LIFO Retail)

Y  Adjusted by

Lower of Cost or Market (LCM)
+ Individual Items

+ Categories

+ Total

Are used to report

Cost of Beginning
Inventory

+ >
Cost of Purchases
(or Production)

Cost of Goods
Available for Sale

—> Cost of Goods Sold

—> Inventory (Balance Sheet)

(Income Statement)

APPLY THE LOGIC AND THE PRACTICE

Intermediate Accounting is the meeting point of many aspects of the discipline. Most

notably, it is the link between Financial
Principles and the professional world, but
also, it links out to the other areas of the field
such as ethical and global issues.

NEW! Chapter Openers

These entertaining and informative vignettes
briefly introduce concepts in the upcoming
chapter through real aspects of the profes-
sional, accounting world. In addition, these
openers include references to industry
journals and newspapers for further reading.
All of these sources are included in the
Business and Company Resource Center
(BCRC), which is automatically included
with the new text.

NEW! Link to Ethical Dilemmas

The ethical link between accounting practices and applications in the business world
grows in importance daily. To help students develop their ethical compass, this feature

FOR FURTHER
INVESTIGATION

For a discussion of ARC or Check 21,
consult the Business & Company
Resource Center (BCRC):

o Tear Out a Check, Then Watch
it Vanish. Jeffrey Selingo,

The New York Times, 0362-4331,
October 9,2003, pG6 col. 04.

e Why Check 21 Could Erase ARC's
Gains. Will Wade, American Banker,
0002-7561, November 5,2003,
v168,i213,p1.



puts the student in the role of the decision maker faced with an ethical dilemma. In
addition, we provide a complete section on this topic in Chapter 1, as well as end-of-
chapter cases sprinkled throughout the text.

LINK TO ETHICAL DILEMMA

As the controller for a struggling manufacturing company, you are in the process
of closing the books for the year and notice that the company is going to be in
technical violation of its debt covenants. Such a violation could result in bank-
ruptcy, which would result in the loss of hundreds of jobs, including your own.
You quickly analyze the financial statements and realize that by changing a few
estimates involving accounts receivable, warranties, and pensions, the company
will be able to avoid a violation of its debt covenants. While you don't believe
the revised estimates would best represent the economic reality of your com-
pany’s financial position, you also don't believe the estimates are unreasonably
aggressive. Do you revise the estimates?

Improved! Link to International Differences

Though Intermediate Accounting tackles the sizable topic of domestic GAAP, this feature
enlightens students about the link between the FASB and International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), and encourages them to be mindful of possible global differences.

For the previous edition, we modified the discussion of international accounting
standards in many chapters to expand the discussion and bring it up to date, and we con-
tinue that project in this edition.

LINK TO INTERNATIONAL DIFFERENCES

International accounting standards allow a company to record some internally generated intangi-
bles as assets. Specifically, the company must classify activities leading to the generation of an intan-
gible asset into a research and a development phase. Research costs are expensed but development
costs may be capitalized if the company can demonstrate that the asset will generate probable
future economic benefits. Also, the costs of items that are acquired for a particular research project
and have no alternative future uses are expensed as the items are used in the project. In contrast,
such costs are expensed when incurred under U.S. GAAP. Finally, international accounting standards
allow intangibles to be revalued upwards. For example, in the United Kingdom, brand names such as
Schweppes are accounted for in this manner.

Preface Xi

“The design is great! It
definitely effectively
separates the content
and importantly draws
attention to the issues.
My feeling is that this
is a good thing to do
rather than simply
burying the discussion
points in the para-
graphs with everything
else. This is especially
important in this course
because there is so
much material and it's
often difficult for the
students to think of
every angle/
consideration that
might be important.”
Herbert Hunt-

CSU Long Beach

NEW! Link to Ratio Analysis

After introducing ratios in an appendix to Chapter 6, this feature continues that discussion
and introduces students to calculations accountants, investors, and creditors perform to
link the numbers to specific types of real world analysis. Considering the usefulness of
ratios as a tool for analyzing the health of a business, this feature should prove interesting
and useful to students, while honing their critical thinking skills.

“I like the graphics and
colors. This will allow
instructors and students
to identify and empha-
size desired elements.
It is a good way to
include these challeng-
ing topics.”

Mark Comstock-
Misouri Southern
State University
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“Yes, I think that it
brings the attention to
the reader effectively -
actually like the way it
is done as it is placed
right into the section
where the concept is
discussed and
where/when the student
is ready to consider it.”
Vern Richardson-
University of Arkansas

The material is effec-
tive, and the quality
and the quantity are
good.

Mark Comstock-
Missouri Southern
State University

“I really like the way
this text was written.
Move over Kieso!”
Rizvana
Zameeruddin-
University of
Wisconsin-Parkside

LINK TO RATIO ANALYSIS

T

While most U.S.companies use straight-line depreciation, they use varying estimates of service lives
and residual values, which makes intercompany comparisons much more difficult. However, the
required disclosures can be used by analysts to gain insights into a company’s property, plant,and
equipment. A useful measure that can be computed is the average age of a company’s fixed assets.
Consider the following data from Intel’s 2004 annual report.

(in millions) 2004 2003
Accumulated Depreciation $24,065 $22,031
Depreciation Expense 4,590 4,651
Depreciation Method Straight-line

Based on this information, the average age of Intel’s property, plant, and equipment can be computed
as follows:

Average Age _ Accumulated Depreciation _ $24,065 — 5.0 years
9€ A9€2004 Depreciation Expense $4,590 4
_ Accumulated Depreciation _ $22,031 _
Average Age oo Depreciation Expense $4,651 4.7 years

—

End of Chapter

Extensive end-of-chapter materials allow students to test their understanding, and apply
concepts to a variety of questions and problems.

Questions primarily address key concepts and terms in the chapter. These questions
allow students to solidify their understanding of the basics before moving on to specific
applications.

Multiple-Choice Items provide students with a variety of brief qualitative and quanti-
tative tests of their knowledge. Starting with Chapter 2, each chapter contains ten multiple-
choice activities based on past Uniform CPA Examination questions, providing sound
preparation for the professional world.

Exercises reinforce a chapter topic and provide students an opportunity to explore
their answers more thoroughly.

Problems consolidate a number of chapter topics or focus on a comprehensive analysis
of a single topic. These multi-step items allow students to delve even further into the com-
plex practice of accounting. Each problem is introduced by a subject reference in bold.

Cases focus on the various conceptual and reporting issues within the chapter. In
accordance with the Accounting Education Change Commission recommendations
about improving certain skills of students, we present cases at the end of each chapter in
three sections. Each case is introduced by a subject reference in bold.

Communication cases are designed to help students improve their written communi-
cation skills. These cases prepare students for the future, when they will need to explain
their findings to managers and other decision makers.

Creative and Critical Thinking cases are designed to help students improve their think-
ing skills. Due to the increased emphasis on enhancing students’ abilities to think cre-
atively and critically in the accounting environment, we include a section on these
topics in Chapter 1.

Ethics cases deal with ethical and financial reporting issues in each chapter. Students
should develop solutions from financial reporting and ethical perspectives, building
on what they've learned through reading the discussion of ethical models in Chapter 1
and the Link to Ethical Dilemmas. Coverage of ethics is always denoted with this icon.



Research Simulations are found in most chapters, and simulate real scenarios in
which research would be needed in the professional world. We designed these cases to be
used with the FARS electronic database, pronouncements on the FASB web site, the FASB
Current Text, or the FASB Original Pronouncements, which helps students develop the
research skills needed as an accounting professional.

Other Features

Analysis of Coca-Cola’s Financial Statements To give students insight into real-
world financial reporting, several cases require students to review selected portions of
The Coca-Cola Company’s annual report (in Appendix A). These cases enhance critical-
thinking skills as they require students to answer user-oriented and financial reporting
questions related to the chapter topics.

In addition to being the only Intermediate Accounting textbook
with AICPA adapted, multiple-choice questions, each chapter after Chapter 1 contains
a variety of exercises, problems, and cases based on past Uniform CPA Examination
questions.

User-Oriented Homework Selected exercises and problems require students to
develop answers from a user-oriented perspective. These involve the computation of
ratios as well as intracompany and intercompany analysis.

CONTENT CHANGES

We have included detailed coverage of the latest FASB statements as well as many other
enhancements to the book’s content. As new statements are issued, we will provide
timely updates at our web site, http://nikolai.swlearning.com. A list of chapter key changes
from the ninth to tenth editions follows:

Part 1 Financial Reporting: Concepts, Financial Statements, and Related Disclosures

Chapter 1

e Added FASB Staff Positions to GAAP
e Added discussion of objectives-oriented standard setting
e Added discussion of PCAOB

Chapter 2
e Modified Exhibit “Financial Reporting Environment” to add PCAOB
Chapter 3 (formerly Appendix C)

e Changed the entire example from a periodic to a perpetual inventory system

e Added a diagram to show information flow from source documents through to financial
statements

e Added diagrams to show effect of each type of adjusting entry

e Added summary exhibit of adjusting entry framework

e Since switched to basic perpetual example, added a short section on periodic inventory, as
well as returns, allowances, and discounts

e Moved worksheet ahead of reversing entries so it is in more proximity to the related finan-
cial statements

e Reduced the coverage of special journals to a basic discussion

e Moved cash-basis accounting to a chapter appendix

Chapter 4 (formerly Chapter 3)
e Added discussion of “fair value” based on new FASB Statement.
Chapter 5 (formerly Chapter 4)

e Added new section on purposes of the income statement
e Added discussion of FASB project on “financial performance reporting by business enterprises”
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They provide many
choices with different
levels of difficulty.
Creative and Critical
Thinking Cases provide
an opportunity to
enhance writing and
communication skills.
The Research
Simulation will enforce
the need to use the
technology and articu-
late findings to the
stakeholders.

Abdul Qastin-
Lakeland College
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Added discussion of FASB and IASB joint project on revenue recognition
Added margin notes to income statement to highlight different sections
Modified discussion to reflect perpetual inventory system for cost of goods sold
Deleted exhibit dealing with cost of goods sold for manufacturing company
Modified diagram of income from discontinued operations
Deleted discussion of reporting “cumulative effects” on income statement
Added discussion of reporting “change in accounting principle” in retained earnings statement
Modified diagram of cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities
Added margin notes to a statement of cash flows to highlight different sections
Chapter 6 (formerly Chapter 5)
e Added diagram showing how “efficient market” works
e Added discussion of new audit “opinions” required for internal control and replaced old
audit opinion with new audit opinions
Added exhibit to illustrate segment reporting
Added new brief section on XBRL supplemental information for SEC reporting
In chapter Appendix, added new diagram for computing days in operating cycle from ratios
Deleted redundant discussion of Management'’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) because it
is covered in Chapter 4

Time Value of Money Module

e Created from Appendix D: Compound Interest and moved up for convenient, optional
coverage

Part 2 Financial Reporting: Asset Measurement and Income Determination

Chapter 7 (formerly Chapter 6)

e Moved sections on Petty Cash and Bank Reconciliation to chapter appendix

e Added diagram showing pledging, assignment, and factoring conditions when financing
with accounts receivable

e C(larified discounting notes receivable with recourse and without recourse
Deleted appendix on four-column bank reconciliation
Added an explanation of the effects of various accounts receivable and notes receivable
transactions on the statement of cash flows

Chapter 8 (formerly Chapter 7)
e Updated for provisions of FASB Statement No. 151
e Deleted discussion of standard costs and variable costing
e Updated for provisions of FASB Statement No. 154
e Added an explanation of the effects of inventory transactions on the statement of cash flows

Chapter 9 (formerly Chapter 8)

e C(larified the discussion of the steps used for the gross profit method and retail inventory
method of estimating inventory.

Chapter 10 (formerly Chapter 9)

e Added example of donation by nongovernmental entity

e Updated discussion of exchanges for FASB Statement No. 153, which eliminated similar asset
exchanges. All nonmonetary asset exchanges are now recorded in the same way and all gains
and losses are recognized in full

e Added an explanation of the effects of property, plant, and equipment transactions on the
statement of cash flows

Chapter 11 (formerly Chapter 10)

e Moved discussion of activity-based depreciation methods

e Deleted discussion of retirement and replacement methods

e Updated discussion of Changes and Corrections of Depreciation for FASB Statement No.
154. A change in a depreciation method is now accounted for prospectively (instead of by a
cumulative effect adjustment)

Chapter 12 (formerly Chapter 11)
e Deleted Appendix on Estimating the Value of Goodwill, but added a short discussion.



Part 3 Financial Reporting: Valuation of Liabilities and Investments

Chapter 13 (formerly Chapter 12)

e Shortened liquidity discussion

e Added a journal entry example for dividends

e Added a diagram to explain the differences in accounting for vacation time and sick pay
e C(larified the accounting for an unconditional purchase obligation

Chapter 14 (formerly Chapter 13)

e Added a diagram for the computation of the bond discount or premium amortization

e Added a diagram explaining the book value and market value methods for the conversion
of bonds

e Added a diagram showing the payments for an impaired loan

e Added a discussion of accounting for guarantees under FASB Interpretation No. 45

e Added an explanation of the effects of long-term liability transactions on the statement of
cash flows

Chapter 15 (formerly Chapter 14)

e Expanded the discussion of “other than temporary” losses
e Added an explanation of the effects of investment transactions on operating cash flows

Part 4 Financial Reporting: Stockholders’ Equity

Chapter 16 (formerly Chapter 15)

e Adjusted discussion of stock subscriptions
e Added some discussion of political controversy about compensatory share (stock)
option plans
e Revised discussion of compensatory share option plans
e Replaced discussion of intrinsic method for stock appreciation rights with discussion of
newly required fair value method
e Eliminated discussion of intrinsic value method for compensatory share option plans
e Updated discussion of redeemable preferred stock for new GAAP
e Shortened discussion of par value method for treasury stock, eliminated numerical example,
and moved to end of section.
e Added a section that explains the effects of capital stock transactions on the statement of
cash flows
Chapter 17 (formerly Chapter 16)
e Added numerical example of computing simple basic earnings per share
Clarified the discussion of effect of stock dividends and splits on EPS
Shortened and clarified conceptual and procedural discussion of stock dividends
Shortened discussion of restrictions of retained earnings
Omitted chapter appendix on quasi-reorganizations because of their rarity

Part 5 Financial Reporting: Special Topics

Chapter 18 (formerly Chapter 17)
e Moved the discussion of Additional Revenue Recognition Issues to an Appendix
Chapter 19 (formerly Chapter 18)

e Changed “deductible temporary difference” to “future deductible amount” and changed “tax-
able temporary difference” to “future taxable amount”

e Shortened conceptual discussion of deferred assets, deferred liabilities, and measurement of
deferred items and valuation allowance

e For each primary example, substituted series of steps explaining measuring and recording
deferred taxes, instead of discussing in paragraph format

e Shortened conceptual discussion of operating carrybacks and forwards

e Adjusted intraperiod income tax allocation discussion for elimination of cumulative effect
changes

e Eliminated discussion of investment tax credit

e Eliminated chapter appendix on additional conceptual issues regarding interperiod tax
allocation

e Added a section that explains the effects of income tax transactions on the operating activi-
ties section of the statement of cash flows
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Chapter 20 (formerly Chapter 19)
e Updated the discussion of disclosures for FASB Statement No. 132R
e Deleted the discussion of the transition requirements of FASB Statement No. 87 and No. 106
e Added a section that explains the effects of pension transactions on the statement of cash flows

Chapter 21 (formerly Chapter 20)
e Increased clarity of account titles (e.g., Leased Equipment under Capital Lease is now Leased

Equipment, and Obligation Under Capital Lease is now Capital Lease Obligation)

e Added a section that explains the effects of lease transactions on the statement of cash flows

Chapter 22 (formerly Chapter 21)

e Changed cash “inflows” to “receipts” and “outflows” to “payments” in many places to simplify

e Deleted Exhibit “Differences Between Revenues, Expenses, and Cash Flows from Operating
Activities”

e Moved Exhibit “Calculation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities” and related revised
discussion to chapter appendix because it relates more to direct method

e Added headings to discussion of worksheet method (indirect method) to make it easier for
students to follow steps for completion

e Added “increase” or “decrease” to “Schedule to Compute Operating Cash Flows” to clarify
changes in selected balance sheet accounts

e Added headings to discussion of worksheet method (direct method) in chapter appendix to
make it easier for students to follow steps for completion

Chapter 23 (formerly Chapter 22)

e Completely revised the Chapter for FASB Statement No. 154. All changes in accounting prin-
ciple are now accounted for by a retrospective application of the new accounting principle
on the retained earnings statement instead of a cumulative effect adjustment on the income
statement
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success into the professional world by providing
students with a Personalized Learning Path:

Organized by topic, each student is
directed to complete a diagnostic pre-
assessment.

The results of this pre-assessment gener-
ate an Individualized Learning Path that
contains links to cases where students
practice research, communication, tabu-
lation, analysis and reporting.

A post-assessment is also available, so
that students can gauge their progress
and comprehension of the concepts and
skills necessary to successfully perform as
an Accounting Professional.
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e Students can download many of the available supplements and see additional
resources including,

Student PowerPoint® Presentation ~ Appendix: Accounting for Changes in Price

Enhanced Excel® Templates Present Value Table
Links to accounting-related Sample chapter for the Problem Solving
resources Strategy Guide
Any FASB Updates
Check Figures
For INSTRUCTORS, this web site contains password protected downloads of the

Solutions Manual Enhanced Excel® template solutions
Instructor’s Manual Links to accounting-related resources
Instructor’s PowerPoint® Presentation Any FASB Updates and related solutions
Test Bank files in Word Appendix: Accounting for Changes in Price
Test Bank files in Examview Present Value Tables
Check Figures

There is a “Communicate with the Authors” link for sending e-mail. As mentioned, the
authors will post updates to this site to keep adopters informed of the latest FASB
pronouncements.

Joinln on Turning Point is interactive PowerPoint®, simply the best classroom
response system available today! JoinIn allows lectures to be transformed into powerful,
two-way experiences. This lecture tool makes full use of the Instructor’s PowerPoint® pres-
entation, but moves it to the next level with interactive questions that provide immediate
feedback on the students’ understanding of the topic at hand. Visit http://turningpoint.
thomsonlearningconnections.com/index.html to find out more!

ISBN: 0324378238

WebTutor® Toolbox on WebCT® or Blackboard® Available on both platforms, this
rich course management product is a specially designed extension of the classroom expe-
rience that enlivens the course by leveraging the power of the Internet with comprehen-
sive educational content. Instructors or students can use these resources along with those
on the Product Web Site to supplement the classroom experience. Use this effective
resource as an integrated solution for your distance learning or web-enhanced course!
Contact your local sales representative for details! http://webtutor.swlearning.com

SUPPLEMENTS

Intermediate Accounting’s supplement package is comprised of a comprehensive set of
teaching and learning tools that are as carefully developed as the book itself. From print-
based supplements to electronic study aids, you're sure to find top-quality support in this
thoroughly reviewed and verified set of supplements.

Instructors Resources

Solutions Manual This two-volume manual includes: a suggested solution for each
question, multiple-choice item, exercise, problem, case, and research simulation; all sup-
porting calculations; and helpful notes to the instructor concerning any difficult areas
within each problem. It also includes content and difficulty analysis of the exercises and
problems in each chapter, as well as a sample syllabus and a list of assignments appropri-
ate for group activities. This manual is personally prepared and verified by Loren Nikolai,
John Bazley, and Jeff Jones.

Volume 1, Chapters 1-12 & Time Value of Money Module ISBN: 0324400594

Volume 2, Chapters 13-23 ISBN: 0324400640
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Solution Transparencies This two-volume set of acetates (set in large, bold type) for
all problems and exercises adds an important visualization element to classroom presen-
tations and discussions.
Volume 1, Chapters 1-12 & Time Value of Money Module ISBN: 0324400586
Volume 2, Chapters 13-23 ISBN: 0324400578

Instructor’s Manual For each chapter, this manual provides a list of objectives, synop-
sis, lecture outline, instructional notes, and content analysis of exercises and problems by
topic. Illustrative teaching transparency masters consisting of selected exhibits from the
text can be easily made into overheads for use in lecture presentations. Check figures of
key answers to all text exercises and problems are also provided. Finally, there are sug-
gested solutions for the Link to Ethics feature. Included with the Instructor’s Manual files
are the compound interest tables from the Time Value of Money Module. Prepared by
Loren Nikolai, John Bazley, and Jeff Jones.
Only available electronically on the IRCD and Companion web site

Test Bank With examination materials covering each chapter, this updated two-volume
bank includes approximately 2,100 multiple-choice, essay, and short-answer problems
and solutions. In addition, it provides a grid that correlates each question to the individ-
ual chapter’s objectives, as well as a ranking of difficulty based on a clearly described cat-
egorization. Through this helpful grid, making a test that is comprehensive and
well-balanced is a snap!

Volume 1, Chapters 1-12 & Time Value of Money Module ISBN: 0324406843

Volume 2, Chapters 13-23 ISBN: 0324406835

ExamView® This electronic testing software makes it easy to edit questions and
customize exams. Containing the same questions as the printed Test Bank, the questions
are correlated to the individual chapter’s objectives and ranked by difficulty. This
correlation is reflected in the general information for the question, so it's easy to sort by
chapter objective or level of difficulty through ExamView®. This software requires PC
compatibility.

Only available electronically on the IRCD and Companion web site

Instructor’s PowerPoint® These colorful and detailed slides enhance lectures and class
discussion, and include key exhibits from the text. MS-Windows® is required. Note that a
separate outline version is available for students.

Only available electronically on the IRCD and Companion web site

Instructor Excel® Templates These templates provide the solutions for the problems
and exercises that have Enhanced Excel® templates for students. Through these files,
instructor’s can see the solutions in the same format as the students.

Only available electronically on the IRCD and Companion web site

Instructor’s Resource CD-ROM This CD-Rom contains electronic files for all the

resources an instructor needs to teach from this text. It includes the computerized test bank

in ExamView® format and the ExamView® testing software, as well as the Microsoft Word

files for the Instructor’s Manual, printed Test Bank, and Solutions Manual. Finally, this

handy reference contains the Instructor PowerPoint Presentations and Excel® Templates.
ISBN: 0324400527

Instructor’s Edition for Nikolai/Bazley/Jones’ Intermediate Accounting, 10th
This enhanced version of the core text comes equipped with a series of useful tabs
that guide instructor’s through the key features of the textbook and its accompanying
supplements.

ISBN: 0324375794

Thomson Custom Solutions This service develops personalized solutions to meet
your business education needs. Match your learning materials to your syllabus and create
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the perfect learning solution. Consider the following when looking at your customiza-
tion options for Nikolai/Bazley/Jones, Intermediate Accounting 10e:

e Remove chapters you do not cover or rearrange their order, creating a streamlined
and efficient text

e Customize our split volumes to meet the unique needs of your students or to
match your two-semester sequence

e Add your own material to cover new topics or information, saving you time in
planning and providing students a fully integrated course resource

e Adopt a loose-leaf version of the text allowing students to integrate your handouts;
this money-saving option is also more portable than the full book

Students Resources

NEW! Problem Solving Strategy Guide Provides a variety of tutorial material to

facilitate thorough understanding of the key points from each chapter. In addition, this

guide provides a series of new exercises and problems, many of which are accompanied

by worked out solutions and study tips. More than just a study guide, the PSSG includes

detailed strategies for solving complex problems types similar to those from the textbook.
Volume 1, Chapters 1-12 & Time Value of Money Module ISBN: 0324406819
Volume 2, Chapters 13-23 ISBN: 0324374291

Student PowerPoint® These colorful and detailed slides provide an outline version of
the presentation instructor’s use in class lectures. Be prepared for each class meeting by
viewing this helpful outline beforehand. MS-Windows® is required.

Only available electronically on the IRCD and Companion web site

Enhanced Excel® Templates These templates are provided for selected long or com-
plicated end-of-chapter exercises and problems, and provide assistance to the student as
they set up and work the problem. Certain cells are coded to display a red asterisk when
an incorrect answer is enter, which helps students stay on track. Selected problems that
can be solved using these templates are designated by an icon.
These helpful templates appear on both the Companion web site
http://nikolai.swlearning.com and ThomsonNOW.

Intermediate Accounting Text, Volume 1, 10th This softbound volume of the core
text provides a lighter and lower cost alternative to purchasing the complete, hardbound
text. Perfect for students only taking one semester of Intermediate Accounting, Volume 1
contains material for Chapter 1-12 and the Time Value of Money Module.

ISBN: 0324374275

Intermediate Accounting Text, Volume 2, 10th This softbound volume of the core
text provides a lighter and lower cost alternative to purchasing the complete, hardbound
text. Perfect for students only taking one semester of Intermediate Accounting, Volume 2
contains material for Chapter 13-23 and the Time Value of Money Module.

ISBN: 0324374283

INTACCT: Internet Accounting Tutor Professors often find that the most basic rules
and information that students learned in the introductory accounting course have long
been forgotten when the students arrive in Intermediate Accounting. With the INTACCT
Financial Accounting Tutorial, students easily review the basic introductory accounting
concepts that they may have forgotten over the summer. It clearly explains the concept
and then uses problem demonstrations to illustrate the concept and its applications.

In addition to the Financial Tutorial, the INTACCT Intermediate Tutorial provides a
variety of materials to help reinforce concepts that students learn in class and supplement
the explanations given in the text. This Tutorial explains some of the difficult and basic
Intermediate accounting concepts and then uses problem demonstrations to illustrate
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those concepts and their application. Review questions and interactive quizzing is avail-
able through this tool and the Financial Accounting Tutorial.
Check out the Companion web site for a link to purchase this useful tool!
http://rama.swlearning.com

Practice Cases

e Sharkey Incorporated—This case study allows the students to assume the role of a
financial consultant for Sharkey, Inc. for a two-year term. The goal of the case study
is for the student to maximize both earnings per share and return on assets.

e Foxcor Manufacturing Company—This comprehensive practice case pulls together
the concepts learned in the first half of the intermediate accounting course. The
case also draws on theory and concepts learned in foundation accounting courses.
After completing this case, students will be able to read and interpret the financial
statements and understand how individual journal entries support a set of finan-
cial statements and related footnote disclosures.

Check out the Companion web site for a link to purchase these useful tools!

Accounting and Auditing Research Tools and Strategies, Sixth Edition This step-
by-step guide to professional research is integrated with ResearchLink, a new suite of
online research tools, tutorials, demos, research cases, and links to accounting and busi-
ness research sites and standard-setting organizations.

Completely revised and updated, the Sixth Edition now includes new guidance for
research stemming from the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, principles- and rules-based standard setting,
the PCAOB, the AICPA’s SAS 99 fraud auditing standards, and the AICPA’s anti-fraud program.

Written by Thomas R.Weirich, Central Michigan University; Thomas C. Pearson,
University of Hawaii; and Alan Reinstein, Wayne State University.

Check out the Companion web site for a link to purchase this useful tool!
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CHAPTER

OBJECTIVES

After reading this chapter,
you will be able to:

1

Understand capital
markets and decision
making.

Know what is included
in financial reporting.

Explain generally
accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) and
the sources of GAAP.

Identify the types of
pronouncements
issued by the FASB.

Understand how the
Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB)
operates.

Describe the relation-
ship between the
Securities and
Exchange Commission
(SEC) and the FASB.

Use ethical models for
decision making about
ethical dilemmas.

Understand creative
and critical thinking.

The Environment of Financial
Reporting

The Future Is Bright!

With the accounting difficulties at Enron, WorldCom,
HealthSouth, and others, the accounting profession has come
under intense scrutiny from regulatory agencies and has become
the subject of late-night talk show jokes. As a future accounting
professional, a natural question is what the future holds for you
upon graduation. Let’s take a look at some recent evidence that
may yield some answers.

As the regulatory environment has become more dynamic
over the last several years, companies are faced with an increasing
number of new accounting rules that pose a significant challenge
for financial reporting. All indications are that future years will
present even greater challenges. To deal with this changing envi-

ronment, more and more companies are turning to accountants

Estimated Percentage Increase in Future Hiring

Firms with

& Over 200 AICPA
Members

[ 50-200 AICPA
Members

2004 vs.
2003

2006 vs.
2003

0 10-49 AICPA
Members

2008 vs.
2003

O Fewer than 10 AICPA
Members

0 5 10 15 20 25

Source: Adapted from “The Supply of Accounting Graduates and the Demand for
Public Accounting Recruits - 2004.”




Y
B
=~
v}
]
8
17}
el
|51
&
O

for assistance. Many companies have increased the
importance of accounting skills in their executive train-
ing programs while other companies have emphasized
the certified public accountant (CPA) credential in their
executive searches. The trend toward increased hiring
of individuals possessing accounting skills is not con-
fined to industry. According to the 2004 American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) survey,
hiring of accounting graduates by public accounting
firms increased approximately 10% in 2003. Future
projections of hiring trends for accounting graduates
(shown in the figure) are indicative of continued
positive growth.

Finally,in a recent survey conducted by the
National Association of Colleges and Employers,
accounting was listed as the number one major on col-
lege campuses. By all indications, accounting skills
appear in high demand, and your future professional

career in accounting appears bright!

FOR FURTHER
INVESTIGATION

For a discussion of the demand for

accounting, consult the Business &

Company Resource Center (BCRC) or

the Internet for:

® (CPA Ascendant. Kate O'Sullivan,
CFO, The Magazine for Senior
Financial Executives, 8756-7113,
June 2004, v20, p102(2).

® American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.”The Supply of
Accounting Graduates and the
Demand for Public Accounting
Recruits — 2004,” http://www.
aicpa.org/members/div/career/
edu/sagdpar.htm.


http://www.aicpa.org/members/div/career/edu/sagdpar.htm
http://www.aicpa.org/members/div/career/edu/sagdpar.htm
http://www.aicpa.org/members/div/career/edu/sagdpar.htm
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Chapter 1 - The Environment of Financial Reporting

Accounting is the process of identifying, measuring, recording, and communicating eco-
nomic information to enable users to make informed judgments and decisions. It is also
called the “language of business.” In the U.S. economy, most published accounting infor-
mation is about different types of companies (primarily corporations). Companies
engage in many transactions and generate large amounts of data. Since people can absorb
only limited amounts of information, accounting systems are designed to report infor-
mation in a concise, understandable format. In this sense, accounting is the link between
a company’s economic activities and decision makers.

In this chapter we review the uses of accounting information and who uses it, the
development of principles for accumulating and communicating accounting informa-
tion, and the ethical framework within which these accounting principles are applied.

AccouNTING INFORMATION: USERS , Uses, AND GAAP

The U.S. economy is a free-market economy. In this type of economy, the decisions of
many buyers and sellers influence the demand for and supply of products and services
offered by companies. Individuals acting in this economy have limited resources to con-
sume or to invest. But typically companies need large amounts of capital for their opera-
tions. Companies may obtain this capital from the issuance of capital stock (equity) and
bonds (debt), from other borrowings, or from resources generated by their operations. The
exchange of capital by investors for the stocks and bonds of companies occurs in capital
markets, as we show in Exhibit 1-1. There are organized capital markets, such as the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE), the American Stock Exchange (AMEX), and the Nasdaq
Stock Market, Inc. (NASDAQ). In these markets the capital stock and bonds of many cor-
porations are purchased and sold daily. These corporations are called publicly-held (or
publicly-traded) companies. These markets sometimes are referred to as secondary markets
because the sales and purchases are among the investors themselves. That is, the corpora-
tion that initially issued the capital stock or bonds is not involved in the exchange.

There also are more loosely organized capital markets in which fewer exchanges
occur. For instance, corporations may borrow from lending institutions or may issue new

EXHIBIT 1-1  Capital Markets

Corporations

Sell stocks and bonds Borrow money
Primary Markets l l
(e.g.,individuals, banks) Investors Financial Institutions
Buy and sell Buy and sell
stocks and bonds stocks and bonds
Secondary Markets l Buy and sell l
(e.g.,New York Stock Exchange) Investors [*| oiocksand €| Investors

bonds
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capital stock or bonds, either through “public offerings” or through “private placements.”
Public offerings involve the sale to many investors (i.e., the general public). Private place-
ments involve the sale to a few private institutions such as insurance companies and pen-
sion funds, or to employees. These markets sometimes are called primary markets because
the exchange is directly between a corporation and the investors. Whether investors or
lending institutions are involved in primary or secondary markets, they are interested in
earning dividends and interest, and in a safe return of their resources. Investors in pub-
licly traded securities participate in the increase (or decrease) in the market price of the
capital stock and bonds. These investors are concerned with the efficient allocation of
their scarce resources to achieve these objectives. Accounting information is useful in
making decisions for this allocation process within these capital markets. It is also useful
for other purposes.

External and Internal Users

Users of accounting information can be divided into two major categories, external users
and internal users, as we show in Exhibit 1-2. These two user groups do not have the same
information needs because of their different relationships to the company providing the
economic information. External users are actual or potential investors (stockholders
and bondholders) and creditors (such as suppliers and lending institutions). There
are also other external users, such as employees, financial analysts, advisers, brokers,
underwriters, stock exchanges, taxing and regulatory authorities, labor unions, and the
general public. (Note that bondholders are “creditors” by contract and legal definition,
but are considered “investors” as this term is commonly used.) Investors have a direct

relationship with the company. Their capital market information needs revolve around |

three basic decisions:

1. Buy. A potential investor decides to purchase a particular security (e.g., a stock or
bond) based on communicated accounting information.

2. Hold. An actual investor decides to retain a particular security based on communi-
cated accounting information.

3. Sell. An actual investor decides to sell a particular security based on communicated
accounting information.

EXHIBIT 1-2  Accounting Information: Economic Activities and Decision Making

Impact
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Creditors, such as suppliers and lending institutions, also have a direct relationship with
companies. Although creditors do not purchase securities, they make similar decisions
that require accounting information. The decisions in this case are to extend credit, to
maintain the credit relationship, or not to extend credit. Other users use accounting
information in their decision making. For instance, stock exchanges use accounting infor-
mation for listings, cancellations, and rule-making decisions. Labor unions use account-
ing information in negotiating wage agreements. Financial analysts use accounting
information for making investment and credit recommendations.

Investment and credit decisions should be continuously reevaluated. Timely com-
munication of information to external decision makers is very important. The publica-
tion of financial statements (e.g., in “hard copy” or on a company’s web site) is a primary
method by which relevant information is communicated. Studies have shown, however,
that decision makers also use other reporting sources to satisfy their information needs.!
We discuss this area of study, known as efficient capital markets research, in Chapter 6.

Internal users are the company managers who plan and control its operations on
a day-by-day and a long-term basis. Internal users may request any information that the
accounting system is capable of providing to help them make decisions on internal oper-
ations. For example, internal users may ask for information relating specifically to the
purchase of new equipment or the addition of a new product.

Financial and Managerial Accounting Information Systems

Two branches of accounting are used to meet the needs of external and internal users.
Financial accounting is the information accumulation, processing, and communication
system designed to provide investment and credit decision-making information for
external users. Financial accounting information is communicated (reported) through
published financial statements and must follow the pronouncements of several policy-
making groups. Managerial accounting is the information accumulation, processing,
and communication system designed to provide decision-making information for
internal users. Managerial accounting information is communicated via internal company
reports and is not subject to the policy standards for externally communicated information.
It is restricted by how useful the information is for a specific decision, and by the cost of
providing that information. Financial and managerial accounting thus have somewhat dif-
ferent objectives because they provide information for different decisions. Exhibit 1-3 sum-
marizes some of the more important differences.

The company’s accountants prepare both the financial accounting and the manage-
rial accounting reports, and the information comes from the same information system.
The differences lie in selecting and presenting the communicated information. This book
focuses on financial accounting and its usefulness in investors’, creditors’, and other
users’ decision making. We generally do not discuss managerial accounting information.
On the other hand, the rules of a game influence how the game is played. The manage-
ment of a company often is evaluated based on “performance criteria” (e.g., net income,
rate of return) that are based on the accounting measures used in financial accounting
reports. Thus, the financial accounting system may influence the managerial accounting
system, or vice versa.

1. In addition to the use of published financial statements, accounting information may be communicated
to external users by other methods, such as reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(discussed later in the chapter), news releases, and management forecasts. Evidence from capital markets
research studies tends to show that security prices fully reflect all publicly available information. For a more
detailed discussion, see T. R. Dyckman and D. Morse, Efficient Capital Markets and Accounting: A Critical
Analysis, 2nd ed. (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1986), R. L. Watts and J. R. Zimmerman, Positive
Accounting Theory (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall, 1986), W. H. Beaver, Financial Reporting: An
Accounting Revolution, 3rd ed. (Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Prentice Hall, 1998), or J. R. Macey, “Efficient
Capital Markets, Corporate Disclosure, and Enron,” Cornell Law Review (January 2004), p. 394-403.
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EXHIBIT 1-3  Comparison of Financial and Managerial Accounting

Financial Accounting Managerial Accounting

1. Source of authority Generally accepted Internal needs
accounting principles (GAAP)

2. Time frame of reported Primarily historical Primarily present
information and future
3. Scope Mainly total company Individual departments,
divisions, and total
company
4. Type of information Primarily quantitative Qualitative as well as

quantitative

5. Statement format Prescribed by GAAP; Determined by company;
oriented toward invest- focused on specific
ment and credit decisions decisions being made

6. Decision focus External Internal

In other words, the amounts reported or methods used for financial accounting may
influence management decisions. Or, the management of a company (perhaps in its own
self-interest) may use the managerial accounting system to influence financial reporting.
In this regard, the term agency theory describes the relationship between the manager (the
“agent”) and the stockholder (the “principal”). The theory suggests that agents do not
always act in the best interests of the principals. For example, managers might make a
decision that increases their compensation while reducing the wealth of the company
and its stockholders. Research suggests that an effective way to align the interests of the
agent and the principal is to base the manager’s compensation on the performance of the
company. Examples include the payment of bonuses that are a percentage of the com-
pany’s income, and the awarding of stock options. We discuss bonuses and stock options
in Chapters 13 and 16. In other chapters we discuss the effects on financial reporting
from actual or potential agency theory relationships.

Financial Reporting

Financial reporting is the process of communicating financial accounting information
about a company to external users. A company may reportt its financial accounting infor-
mation in several ways. One important way is through its annual report. The financial
reporting section of a company’s annual report includes the company’s financial
statements and the notes to the financial statements. Companies present at least three
major financial statements: (1) the balance sheet (or statement of financial position),
which shows a company’s financial position at a given date, (2) the income statement,
which shows the results of a company’s income-producing activities for a period of time,
and (3) the statement of cash flows, which shows a company’s cash inflows and cash out-
flows for a period of time. Many companies include the statement of changes in stockholders’
equity, which shows the changes in each item of stockholders’ equity for a period of time,
as a fourth major financial statement.?

2. Some companies include a statement of comprehensive income as another major financial statement. We
discuss this statement in Chapter 5.

7
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2 Know what is
included in
financial
reporting.

3 Explain gener-
ally accepted
accounting
principles
(GAAP) and
the sources
of GAAP.

The notes to the financial statements include discussions that further explain items
shown in the financial statements. Many of these notes also include supporting schedules
of computations (some companies include the statement of changes in stockholders’
equity here). The information in the notes is essential to understanding a company’s
activities. Most financial statements and accompanying notes presented to external users
are audited by an independent certified public accountant (CPA). As we discuss in
Chapters 4 and 6, after completion of the audit, the CPA expresses an opinion as to the
fairness, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, of the financial state-
ments and accompanying notes. These financial statements and notes (and supporting

schedules) to the financial statements are the subject of this book.

% SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 1-1

e Accounting information aids in the efficient allocation of resources in capital markets.

e External users (investors, creditors, and others) use financial accounting information to
make investment and credit decisions.

e Internal users (company management) use managerial accounting information to
plan and control a company’s operations.

e Financial reporting is the process of communicating financial information about a
company to external users and includes the financial statements and the related notes
to the financial statements.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

The information communicated to external users in financial reporting is based on stan-
dards that establish generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Generally
accepted accounting principles are the guidelines, procedures, and practices that a
company is required to use in recording and reporting the accounting information in
its audited financial statements. GAAP define accepted accounting practices and provide
a standard by which to report financial results. They are like laws and are the rules that
must be followed in financial reporting.

The evolution of GAAP took place over many years. It involved several accounting
policy-making bodies, including the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB),
Accounting Principles Board (APB), American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA), and Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Unfortunately, there is no sin-
gle document that includes all the accounting standards. [There are electronic databases
such as the FASB Financial Accounting Research System (FARS) that include most account-
ing standards.| Nonetheless, an accountant must be able to determine the procedure for
recording a transaction that is acceptable under GAAP. Accountants, therefore, must
know the sources of generally accepted accounting principles. They must also know how
to find authoritative sources to aid in recording and reporting a particular transaction.
Throughout this book we discuss GAAP for various transactions, events, and circum-
stances. However, to aid in researching the sources of generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples, Exhibit 1-4 provides a “hierarchy” of four categories of GAAP and the authoritative
sources applicable to each category for companies.?

These categories are listed in descending order of importance, with Category A as the
most important. Companies must follow the GAAP established by the pronouncements

3. See “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles,” Proposed FASB Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (April 28, 2005). This document will move the GAAP hierarchy contained in AICPA
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69 into the FASB literature. The Proposed Statement is not controver-
sial, but the timing of its release is dependent on the issuance of similar documents by the PCAOB and
AICPA. Until its release, the hierarchy (which is essentially identical to that in the Proposed Statement)
listed in the AICPA Statement No. 69 applies.



The Establishment of Accounting Standards

EXHIBIT 1-4  Hierarchy of Sources of GAAP

Categories Authoritative Sources (Pronouncements)

A FASB Statements of Financial Accounting Standards and Interpretations, FASB
Staff Positions, FASB Statement 133 Implementation Issues, APB Opinions, and
CAP (AICPA) Accounting Research Bulletins (as well as SEC releases such as
Regulation S-X, Financial Reporting Releases, and Staff Accounting Bulletins for
companies that file with the SEC)

B FASB Technical Bulletins, and, if cleared* by the FASB, AICPA Industry Audit and
Accounting Guides, and AICPA Statements of Position

C FASB Emerging Issues Task Force Consensus Positions and, if cleared* by the FASB,
AICPA Practice Bulletins

D FASB Q’s and A’s (Implementation Guides), AICPA Accounting Interpretations, AICPA
Industry and Audit Guides, and AICPA Statements of Position not cleared by the FASB,
and practices that are widely recognized and prevalent either generally or in the
industry (e.g., AICPA Accounting Trends and Techniques)

*"Cleared” means that the FASB does not object to the pronouncement’s issuance.

in this category unless, in unusual circumstances, they result in misleading financial
statements. In situations where the accounting for a transaction or event is not specified
by a pronouncement in Category A, then pronouncements in Categories B through D
may be used in that order to identify GAAP. When none of the pronouncements in
Categories A through D apply, then the company may consider other accounting litera-
ture such as FASB Statements of Concepts, AICPA Issues Papers, IASB International Financial
Reporting Standards, AICPA Technical Practice Aids, and accounting textbooks, handbooks,
and articles for GAAP guidance.

The FASB is currently working on a project that modifies the hierarchy so that it con-
sists of only two levels—an “authoritative” level and a “nonauthoritative” level. The
authoritative literature will be referred to as the “Codification.” This Codification will be
a compilation of existing U.S. GAAP, organized according to accounting topics, regardless
of the authoritative pronouncement. This Codification project will be a multi-year effort.

THE ESTABLISHMENT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Accounting records dating back thousands of years have been discovered in various parts
of the world. However, there was little organized effort to develop accounting standards in
the United States prior to the 1930s. One of the most important initial attempts to develop
standards began shortly after the onset of the Great Depression in 1929. In the early 1930s
there were a series of meetings between representatives of the New York Stock Exchange
and the American Institute of Accountants (later to become the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants). The goal was to discuss accounting and reporting issues
involving the interests of investors, the New York Stock Exchange, and accountants.

The result of these meetings was a form of the auditor’s opinion similar to the one
used today. Specifically, the concepts of fairness and consistency in applying accounting
principles were introduced into the auditor’s opinion. Here, fairness means that the
accounting methods and procedures adopted by a company comply with traditional
practice and that they adequately portray the economic reality of the company. Since
these meetings, several groups have been responsible for setting generally accepted
accounting principles in the private sector of the United States. Exhibit 1-5 shows a “time-
line” of the establishment of GAAP (Category A of Exhibit 1-4) in the private sector.

9



10

Chapter 1 - The Environment of Financial Reporting

EXHIBIT 1-5 History of GAAP in the Private Sector

| | | al
| | | g
1938 1959 1973 Present
| | |
CAP APB FASB
formed CAP formed APB formed ~ FASB
issued 51 e lsssued 154
ARBs i tatements
OIS of Standards
as of 11/05

Committee on Accounting Procedure (CAP)

In 1938, the AICPA formed the Committee on Accounting Procedure (CAP). This group
issued pronouncements to narrow the differences in accounting procedures and practice.
Its conclusions were published as Accounting Research Bulletins (ARBs). However,
because at that time the AICPA did not have the authority to require compliance, the CAP
could not enforce its pronouncements and their application was optional. By 1953, the
CAP had issued 42 Accounting Research Bulletins. It then reviewed these pronouncements
and codified them into Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43. The CAP issued eight
more Accounting Research Bulletins, ending with No. 51 before it was replaced by the
Accounting Principles Board in 1959. All Accounting Research Bulletins are now sources of
generally accepted accounting principles unless specifically superseded or amended.

Accounting Principles Board (APB)

After World War 1I the process of setting accounting principles was increasingly criticized
and wider representation in rule making was sought. In 1959 the AICPA formed
the Accounting Principles Board (APB) as an attempt to (1) alleviate this criticism and
(2) create a policy-making body whose rules would be binding on companies rather than
optional. The APB had between 17 and 21 members, selected primarily from the account-
ing profession. Representatives from industry, the government, and academia also served
on the Board. The pronouncements of the APB were called Opinions of the Accounting
Principles Board, and 31 of these Opinions were issued. APB Opinions are sources of gen-
erally accepted accounting principles unless specifically amended or rescinded. Some of
these Opinions were based upon Accounting Research Studies. However, the conclusions in
these studies were the opinion of the individuals commissioned by the APB to write
them. In several cases the APB either did not act on the recommendations or came to dif-
ferent conclusions.

The members of the APB were volunteers whose employers allowed them time to
serve on the Board. But by the late 1960s, many people again criticized the development
of accounting principles. This criticism centered on three factors:

1. Independence. The members of the APB were part-time volunteers whose major
responsibilities were to the business, governmental, or academic organizations
employing them.

2. Representation. The public accounting firms and the AICPA were too closely associ-
ated with the development of accounting standards.

3. Response time. Emerging problems were not solved quickly enough by the part-time
members of the APB.

The AICPA reacted to those criticisms by appointing a committee to evaluate the method
of establishing accounting principles. This committee, called the Wheat Committee after
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its chairman Francis Wheat, recommended that the APB be abolished and that a new full-
time body be created with even wider representation.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)

The AICPA adopted the recommendations of the Wheat Committee. The APB was phased out
and replaced in 1973 by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). Exhibit 1-6
shows the current structure of the FASB.

EXHIBIT 1-6  Structure of FASB

Financial Accounting
Foundation
(16-member board of trustees)
Appoint and
oversee
A A
Financial Accounting Financial
i Task Forces of
Standards Advisory ) Accounting Appoint_
. Advise the Standards Board
Council »| Standards Board including E .
(approximately < Consult _|(including Emerging
33 members) (7 members) Issues Task Force)
A
Support
Administrative Research and
Staff Technical Staff Consult

Organization

The Financial Accounting Foundation is the parent organization of the FASB. It is gov-
erned by a 16-member Board of Trustees appointed from the memberships of eight
organizations interested in the establishment of accounting principles. These organiza-
tions are the AICPA, Financial Executives International, Institute of Management
Accountants, CFA Institute, American Accounting Association, Securities Industry
Association, Government Finance Officers Association, and National Association of State
Auditors (Comptrollers and Treasurers).* The primary responsibilities of the Financial
Accounting Foundation are to provide general oversight to its operations and to appoint
the members of the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council (FASAC) and the
FASB. The FASAC has about 33 influential members. It is responsible for advising
the FASB about major policy issues, the priority of topics, the selection of task forces, the
suitability of tentative decisions, and other matters.

There are seven members of the FASB. Appointees to the FASB are full-time, fully paid
members with no other organizational ties. They are selected to represent a wide cross-
section of interests. Each Board member is required to have a knowledge of accounting,
finance, and business; high intelligence, integrity, and discipline; and a concern for the

4.  The Financial Accounting Foundation also is the parent organization of the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB), which establishes accounting principles for state and local governmental entities.
We briefly discuss the GASB later in the chapter.

11
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4 |dentify the
types of pro-
nouncements
issued by
the FASB.

public interest regarding financial reporting. Currently, the FASB includes four members
who are CPAs and who have been in public practice and three members from other areas
related to accounting (e.g., academia and industry). The FASB is responsible for identify-
ing financial accounting issues, conducting research to address these issues, and resolving
them. The FASB is supported by a research and technical staff that researches issues, com-
municates with constituents, and drafts preliminary findings. The administrative staff
assists the FASB by handling library, publications, personnel, and other activities.’
The FASB issues several types of pronouncements:

1. Statements of Financial Accounting Standards. These pronouncements establish
generally accepted accounting principles. They indicate the methods and proce-
dures required on specific accounting issues and are included in Category A of
Exhibit 1-4.

2. Interpretations. These pronouncements provide clarification of conflicting or
unclear issues relating to previously issued FASB Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards, APB Opinions, or Accounting Research Bulletins. Interpretations also estab-
lish or clarify generally accepted accounting principles. They are included in
Category A of Exhibit 1-4.

3. Staff Positions. The staff of the FASB issues these pronouncements to provide more
timely and consistent application guidance in regard to FASB literature. In addi-
tion, at the direction of the FASB, the staff may issue Staff Positions to make narrow
and limited revisions of FASB Statements of Financial Accounting Standards or
Interpretations that previously would have been made through Technical Bulletins.
They are included in Category A of Exhibit 1-4.

4. Technical Bulletins. The staff of the FASB issues these pronouncements to provide
guidance on accounting and reporting problems related to Statements of Financial
Accounting Standards or Interpretations. The guidance may clarify, explain, or elabo-
rate upon an underlying standard. They are included in Category B of Exhibit 1-4.

5. Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts. These pronouncements establish a the-
oretical foundation on which to base financial accounting and reporting standards.
They are the output of the FASB's “Conceptual Framework” project (which we dis-
cuss in Chapter 2).° They are not included in Exhibit 1-4 but are considered “other
accounting literature” for GAAP guidance.

6. Other Pronouncements. On a major topic, the FASB staff also may issue a Guide for
Implementation, which is in the form of questions and answers (referred to as FASB
Q’s and A’s). These are included in Category D of Exhibit 1-4.

Many of these documents may be downloaded for free from the FASB web site (http://www.
fasb.org) or may be purchased individually from the FASB. As a service to its constituency,
the FASB also offers other publications. Two of these, published each year as part of the
FASB's Accounting Standards series, are useful references for accountants. One three-volume
set, titled Original Pronouncements, includes all of the first four types of pronouncements as of
its date of publication. Another two-volume set, titled Current Text (General Standards and
Industry Standards), is a topical integration of currently effective accounting and reporting stan-
dards as of its date of publication. These documents are also available on the FARS electronic
database.

5.  For a more detailed look at the FASB's operations, see P. B. Miller, R. J. Redding, and P. R. Bahnson, The
FASB: The People, the Process, and the Politics, 4th ed. (Boston: The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., 1998).

6.  The similarity in the titles Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts and Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards makes an abbreviated reference to each potentially ambiguous. To avoid confusion, throughout
this book a reference to FASB Statement No. __ in the body of the text will always refer to a statement of
standards, while a full reference will be presented for each statement of concepts.
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Operating Procedures

Before issuing a statement of concepts or standards, the FASB generally completes a multi-
stage process as outlined in Exhibit 1-7. Initially, a topic or project is identified and placed
on the FASB's agenda. This topic may be the result of suggestions from the FASAC, the
accounting profession, industry, or other interested parties. On major issues a Task Force
may be appointed to advise and consult with the FASB's Research and Technical Staff. This
may involve, for instance, the scope of the project and the nature and extent of additional
research. The Staff conducts any research specifically related to the project.

EXHIBIT 1-7  FASB Operating Procedures

Identify . K Issue Discussion
Ti ilc | » AppointTas Igonducrt] —|  Memorandum or
P FerEE esearc Invitation to Comment
Hold Public Deliberate on ) Issue Exposure
Hearings Findings Draft
Hold Public Modify Exposure Vote (simple- Issue
Hearings Draft majority) Statement

Then the FASB usually publishes a Discussion Memorandum or Invitation to
Comment (which outlines the research related to the issues) and sets a public comment
period. During this period, the FASB may hold public hearings similar to those con-
ducted by Congress. The intent is to receive information from and views of interested
individuals and organizations on the issues. Many parties submit written comments
(“position papers”) or make oral presentations. These parties include representatives of
CPA firms and interested corporations, security analysts, members of professional
accounting associations, and academics. After deliberating on the views expressed and
the information collected, the FASB issues an Exposure Draft of the proposed Statement.
Interested parties generally have 30 to 90 days to provide written comments of reaction.
On major issues, the FASB may hold more public hearings. Sometimes, the FASB con-
ducts “field tests” of the proposed standards with selected companies to evaluate imple-
mentation issues. A modified draft is prepared, if necessary, and brought to the FASB for
a final vote. After a simple-majority (i.e., 4 to 3) vote is attained, the Statement is issued.

The time involved to complete each of the steps varies depending on the complexity
of the topic. For some complex topics it takes several years; for other, less complex topics
only a few months are needed. For instance, the FASB deliberated on basic conceptual
and practical issues involving the statement of cash flows for more than 10 years. The
board issued a Discussion Memorandum in 1980, but then deferred consideration of
cash flows reporting until it dealt with related theoretical issues in its Conceptual
Framework project. In 1985 the FASB reactivated the topic. It held public hearings
and received more than 450 comment letters in response to its Exposure Draft. FASB
Statement No. 95, entitled “Statement of Cash Flows,” was issued in November 1987, as
shown in the following summary.

5 Understand
how the
Financial
Accounting
Standards
Board (FASB)
operates.
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Step in Procedures

FASB Statement No. 95

FASB Statement No. 145

Issue Discussion Memorandum Dec. 1980 None

Receive public comments May 1981 None

Appoint Task Force May 1985 None

Issue Exposure Draft July 1986 Nov. 2001

Receive public comments Through Mar. 1987 Through Jan. 14, 2002
Issue Statement Nov. 1987 April 2002

On the other hand, FASB Statement No. 145, which rescinded FASB Statement No. 4 in
regard to reporting gains and losses from the extinguishment of debt, was issued within
eight months after the related Exposure Draft was issued. In this case the FASB concluded
that it could reach an informed decision without a public hearing. During the
public comment period it did receive 30 comment letters, which were used in the delib-
eration process.

Sociopolitical Environment

As Exhibit 1-7 and the related discussion show, the operating procedures of the FASB are
designed so that accounting standards are developed in an efficient manner, with due
process, and in a public forum. The FASB is concerned that it considers all related
research on a particular topic, as well as the views of all interested parties, before coming
to a logical conclusion about the appropriate accounting standard for the topic. Its intent
is to develop accounting standards that provide users with thorough, neutral, and credi-
ble information to help allocate capital as efficiently as possible.”

An inexperienced viewer of the FASB operating procedures might think that account-
ing standards are always “ideal” because they are the result of “rational policy making,”
where there are clearly defined objectives, an integrated body of theory, and known con-
sequences of the actions. Yet this may not always be the case because accounting is part of
a broader social system. Often, objectives are not clear, research results are conflicting,

and only “best guesses” can be made of the future consequences of current standards.

Because the FASB has such a wide constituency and focuses on general purpose
financial reporting, it often must establish accounting standards that are the result of
compromise. To achieve “acceptable decisions” it is only natural for any affected parties to
attempt to influence the FASB's decisions. Since the FASB holds public hearings and open
meetings, it is relatively easy for various external user groups (e.g., investors and credi-
tors) and other interested groups (e.g., affected corporations and CPA firms) to try to
influence the FASB to develop new standards, continue existing standards, or change
existing standards in their own best interests. These groups often hold conflicting views.
For instance, in 1995 the FASB decided that a new accounting standard for “stock
options” was desirable, but it could not get enough support from external user groups.
Therefore, it issued a standard that allowed companies to use either the new standard or
the existing standard. In this case, compromise led to a lack of “comparability” across
companies as to the effect of stock option accounting on their financial statements. The
serious financial reporting failures (e.g., Enron) that occurred in the early 2000s led to a
review of this accounting. As a result, the FASB (despite opposition from some members
of Congress) issued a new standard requiring the use of one method to account for
stock options.

Compromise is inevitable as the FASB responds to the “globalization” of industry. In
this regard, the FASB has been working with the International Accounting Standards
Board (discussed later) and the accounting rule-making bodies of other countries to
“harmonize” accounting standards among different countries. As Dennis Beresford (for-
mer Chair of the FASB) states: “Different countries have different domestic concerns that

7. J. M. Foster, “The FASB and Capital Markets,” The FASB Report No. 245 (June 30, 2003). p. 3.
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are reflected in the way they think about financial reporting. None of the viewpoints are
more ‘right’" than one another, just different. Compromises are an inevitable part of

harmonization.”8

In regard to U.S. standards, for a given topic each FASB member will have certain
issues of high priority and others of lower priority. In the FASB's deliberation process each
Board member will attempt to persuade the other members to accept the important
issues and to drop the less important ones. This negotiation is necessary to reach a con-
sensus so that a majority vote may be attained on the topic.” Whenever a compromise is
reached, some in the FASB’s constituency may be unhappy because they perceive that the
new GAAP is somehow “unfair” to them. In such a situation, many in the constituency
have criticized the FASB for failing to listen to them, not considering the cost/benefit
issues, creating logically inconsistent rules, and establishing complex standards that are
too hard to implement. To help overcome these criticisms, the FASB now includes a dis-
cussion of its reasoning in each pronouncement it issues.

The Financial Accounting Foundation, in overseeing the FASB, has implemented pro-
cedures to overcome these criticisms. These procedures include use of an oversight com-
mittee to monitor the FASB’s standard-setting process, periodic Financial Accounting
Foundation and FASB discussions, stronger input by the FASAC on agenda determination
and task force use, and additional publication and field testing of preliminary views.
Furthermore, it is considering moving toward “objectives-oriented” rather than “rule-
based” accounting standards, which we will discuss in Chapter 2.

Accounting standards are not unchangeable. The FASB fulfills its responsibility by
(1) establishing standards that are the most acceptable, given the various affected con-
stituencies, and (2) continually monitoring the consequences of its actions so that revised
standards can be issued where appropriate. As Beresford points out, the FASB carries out its
public responsibility in an environment characterized by subtlety, complexity, and an
absence of clear-cut answers. The FASB works hard to develop accounting standards that can

8. D.R. Beresford, “Notes from the Chairman,” FASB Status Report No. 282 (November 18, 1996), p. 2.
9.  For additional discussion of the FASB's political process, see Miller, Redding, and Bahnson, op. cit., chap. 1.
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be defended in terms of facts and circumstances, logic, and the fairness of the process that
produces them. Reinforcing this fairness idea in testimony before Congress, Robert Herz
(Chair of the FASB) stated that neutrality is a fundamental element of the FASB’s standard-
setting process. The Board strongly opposes any legislation that would impair its independ-
ent, objective, and open standard-setting process. '

Objectives-Oriented Standard Setting

As we noted in the preceding section, many constituents have said that they are concerned
about the increasing level of detail (“rules-based” approach), lack of consistency, and com-
plexity in the standards set by the FASB. As a result, the Board has begun a process whereby
in the future, standards will be based on an internally consistent conceptual framework (we
discuss the current conceptual framework in Chapter 2). Each “objectives-oriented” stan-
dard would: (1) clearly state the accounting objective of the standard, (2) provide enough
(but not too much) detail so that the standard could be applied on a consistent basis, and
(3) minimize exceptions to the standard. The intent is to allow preparers and auditors to
exercise professional judgment in determining how to apply accounting standards to show
the economic substance of transactions and events. It is likely that this process will take sev-
eral years because, among other things, preparers and auditors have become less willing to
exercise professional judgments due to increasing litigation risks.!!

Other Organizations Currently Influencing Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles

Several other organizations have had an impact on the development of generally
accepted accounting principles during the past several decades.

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)

The SEC was created by Congress to administer the Securities Act of 1933 and the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Under these Acts, the SEC has the legal authority to
prescribe accounting principles and reporting practices for all corporations issuing
publicly traded securities. About 17,000 (less than 1%) of the 4.9 million corporations
in the United States are subject to the SEC’s authority. Although this percentage is small,
these corporations (e.g., Wal-Mart) are the major companies in our economy. While the
SEC has seldom used this authority, from time to time the SEC has exerted pressure on
the CAP, the APB, and the FASB. It has been especially interested in narrowing differences
in accounting practice and in increasing disclosures.

The 1933 Act requires each company offering securities for sale to the public in the
primary and secondary markets to file a registration statement. It also requires these
“publicly-held” companies to provide each investor with a proxy statement prior to each
stockholders’ meeting. The 1934 Act established extensive reporting requirements to aid
in full disclosure. Among the most commonly required reports are:

Form S-1. A registration statement.

Form 10-K. An annual report.

Form 10-Q. A quarterly report of operations.

Form 8-K. A report used to describe any significant events that may affect the
company.

Proxy Statement. A report used when management requests the right to vote
through proxies for shareholders at stockholders’ meetings.

10. R. H. Herz, “FASB Chairman Appears before Congress on Stock Option Accounting,” The FASB Report
No. 245 (June 30, 2003), p. 11.

11. For a more complete summary of the FASB's activities on objectives-oriented standards, see “On the Road
to an Objectives-Oriented Accounting System,” The FASB Report No. 259 (August 31, 2004), pp. 1-7.
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Companies are required to file these forms electronically with the SEC. These forms are
located in the SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval System (commonly
known as EDGAR) on the Internet (http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml).

The SEC establishes accounting principles with respect to the information contained
within the preceding reports. It issues reporting guidelines in its Regulation S-X, its Financial
Reporting Releases, and its Staff Accounting Bulletins for companies that file with the SEC. In
some instances the SEC has required the disclosure of information not typically found in
published financial reports. We discuss these disclosures further in Chapters 4 and 6.

The impact of the SEC generally has been through its informal approval of APB
Opinions and FASB Statements before their issuance. While the SEC has the authority to
decide what constitutes “generally accepted accounting principles,” in many cases it has
exercised this authority through persuasion rather than edict. The SEC has endorsed the
concept of “substantial authoritative support” by asserting that “principles, standards,
and practices promulgated by the FASB in its Statements and Interpretations will be consid-
ered by the Commission as having substantial authoritative support, and those contrary
to such FASB promulgations will be considered to have no such support.”!? The result of
this position has been to allow accounting principles to be formulated in the private sector
rather than by the government.

However, the SEC has been criticized for not exercising its responsibility, and there is
no assurance that this position will remain in effect. In fact, during 1978 the SEC refused
to support FASB Statement No. 19 requiring the use of the successful-efforts method in
the oil and gas industry, and the FASB reacted by suspending the effective date of this
release. Then, in the late 1980s the House Energy and Commerce Committee’s Oversight
and Investigations Subcommittee was critical of the SEC for its alleged failure to monitor
the detection of fraud and to establish an “early warning” system for identifying potential
business failures. Although these hearings did not result in changes involving the estab-
lishment of generally accepted accounting principles, they did have an impact on auditing
standards. Furthermore, the SEC pressured the FASB to adopt a standard requiring the use
of market values by companies for reporting certain types of investments, and the Board
issued FASB Statement No. 115 in response to this pressure.

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)

The AICPA dates back to 1887 and is the professional organization for all certified public
accountants in the United States. To be a member of the AICPA, an individual must have
passed the Uniform CPA Examination, hold a CPA certificate, agree to abide by its bylaws
and Code of Professional Ethics, and have 150 hours of higher education. The primary
purpose of the AICPA is to provide the necessary technical support to assure that CPAs
serve the public interest in performing quality professional services.

To fulfill this purpose, the AICPA publishes numerous documents that, in certain cir-
cumstances, may be considered as sources of generally accepted accounting principles, as
listed in Exhibit 1-4. Industry Audit Guides and Industry Accounting Guides (Category B of
Exhibit 1-4) are publications designed to assist independent auditors in examining and
reporting on financial statements of various types of entities in specialized industries
(e.g., banking). Statements of Position (Category B of Exhibit 1-4) are publications
intended to influence the development of financial accounting principles that best serve
the public interest. Practice Bulletins (Category C of Exhibit 1-4) are publications that pro-
vide guidance on specific technical issues.

During the tenure of the Accounting Principles Board, the AICPA issued numerous
AICPA Accounting Interpretations to provide timely guidance on accounting issues without

12. “Codification of Financial Reporting Policies,” SEC Accounting Rules (Chicago: Commerce Clearing House,
2005), sec. 101. This Codification contains the accounting principles and reporting guidelines issued prior
to 1982 in the SEC's Accounting Series Releases. In 1982, the name was changed to Financial Reporting
Releases to better reflect the nature of the documents.

6 Describe the
relationship
between the
SEC and
the FASB.
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the formal procedures needed for an APB Opinion. These Interpretations (Category D of
Exhibit 1-4) are still sources of generally accepted accounting principles unless specifi-
cally rescinded or amended. The AICPA also annually publishes Accounting Trends and
Techniques (Category D of Exhibit 1-4), which provides a study of the latest accounting
practices and trends identified from a survey of 600 published annual reports. This
publication may be used to identify a consensus about generally accepted accounting
principles for a particular issue or methods of disclosure. In this book we often cite
disclosure information from Accounting Trends and Techniques that applies to a specific
accounting practice. Finally, the AICPA develops Issue Papers to help the FASB identify
accounting areas that need to be addressed and clarified.

FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)

The EITF was established in 1984 as a response by the FASB to criticisms that the Board
did not always provide timely guidance on new accounting issues. Members of the EITF
meet every six weeks; they include technical experts from all the major CPA firms and
representatives from smaller CPA firms and from industry. These individuals are knowl-
edgeable in accounting and financial reporting and are in positions to be aware of emerg-
ing problems. The Chief Accountant of the SEC also participates in EITF meetings. The
primary objectives of the EITF are (1) to identify significant emerging accounting issues
(i-e., unique transactions and accounting problems) that it feels the FASB should address
and (2) to develop consensus positions on the implementation issues involving the
application of standards. As shown in Category C of Exhibit 1-4, in some cases these
consensus positions may be viewed as the “best available guidance” on generally
accepted accounting principles, particularly as they relate to new accounting issues. The
FASB publishes a summary of the proceedings of the EITF in a loose-leaf service and in an
annual bound version titled EITF Abstracts. The summary is also available electronically
on the FASB web site and the FARS database.

Cost Accounting Standards Board (CASB)

The CASB was established in 1970 as an agency of the U.S. Congress. In 1980, Congress did
not vote funds for its continuance, but it was reinstated in 1988. The CASB is responsible only
for negotiated federal contracts and subcontracts exceeding $500,000 and has issued several
related Cost Accounting Standards. Since internal cost accounting procedures often affect exter-
nally reported financial information, these cost accounting standards occasionally influence
external reporting. In the past, Congress considered replacing the FASB with a governmental
board like the CASB. Although this change has not been made, the possibility of additional
governmental involvement in setting accounting principles should not be discounted.

Internal Revenue Service (IRS)

The IRS administers the Internal Revenue Code enacted by Congress. Federal income tax
laws have had a significant impact on financial reporting practices since they were first
enacted in 1913. Although the Internal Revenue Code generally does not affect financial
accounting practice directly, managers often prefer to lessen its impact on the accounting
systems within their companies. The result in many cases has been that they have used
accounting methods and procedures that result in the lowest taxable income, without
considering the proper financial accounting theory and practice.

You should understand that accounting for income tax purposes and accounting for
financial reporting purposes are and should be different. The goal of financial accounting
is to provide information to financial statement users so that they may make decisions.
The goal of income tax accounting is to legally minimize or postpone the payment of
income taxes. Frequently, the goals of financial reporting and income tax reporting con-
flict. For this reason, in this book we are concerned with determining the proper financial
accounting recording and reporting procedures. What is, or should be, proper under the
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Internal Revenue Code is an entirely different question, which we only discuss when it
has an impact on financial accounting and reporting. We discuss the impact of the
Internal Revenue Code on financial accounting for income taxes in Chapter 19.

American Accounting Association (AAA)

The AAA is an organization primarily of academics and practicing accountants. The mis-
sion of the AAA is to foster worldwide excellence in the creation, dissemination, and
application of accounting knowledge and skills. Its goals are to encourage excellence in
accounting research and accounting instruction, and to contribute to excellence in
accounting practice. These goals are primarily implemented through various meetings;
the AAA’s journals—The Accounting Review, Issues in Accounting Education, and Accounting
Horizons; and the work of various committees such as the AAA Financial Accounting
Standards Committee (FAS). The FAS responds to various documents of the FASB relating
to proposed statements of concepts and standards. The AAA has no official stature in the
development of financial accounting practice, so its impact is through education and per-
suasion. However, its members have served on the APB, FAE and the FASB, and have
appeared before the FASB in its hearings on particular issues.

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

Companies are becoming more international in their operations by producing, selling,
and buying products and services in other countries. This globalization of business
activity has led to increased information in a company’s financial statements about its
international operations. Investors and creditors in international markets, in turn, prefer
that the information they use for decisions be internationally comparable from company
to company across countries. The International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC)
foundation is the parent organization of the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). The objectives of the foundation are to: (1) develop high-quality, understandable,
and enforceable global accounting standards that lead to useful, comparable financial
reporting to help users in the world’s capital markets make informed economic decisions,
(2) promote the use and rigorous application of these standards, and (3) bring national
accounting standards into agreement with international accounting standards.

The operating structure of the IASC Foundation consists of (1) a group of Trustees that
is responsible for fund-raising, appointing IASB members, and overseeing the effective-
ness of the IASB, (2) the IASB, which issues International Financial Reporting Standards and
includes 12 full-time members (and 2 part-time members) from various countries, (3) an
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee to interpret the application of
the Standards, and (4) a Standards Advisory Council to give advice to the IASB on priorities
and views of organizations on major standard setting projects. The operating procedure
of the IASB is somewhat similar to that of the FASB and includes study of the topic,
issuance of an Exposure Draft, evaluation of comments, and consideration of a revised
draft. If approved by at least eight members of the IASB, the revised draft becomes an
International Financial Reporting Standard. To date, the IASB (and its predecessor, the
International Accounting Standards Committee) have issued 48 Standards.

There are, however, important differences between the environments in which the FASB
and the TASB operate. The FASB operates as a private standard-setting organization, and
focuses on setting accounting standards in the United States to improve the usefulness of
accounting information to investors and creditors. On the other hand, in many other coun-
tries the emphasis in financial reporting is on meeting legal (e.g., tax) requirements, so that
standard setting has evolved as a governmental rather than a private function. A role of the
IASB, then, is to consolidate many countries’ accounting regulations into international stan-
dards. In this regard, in response to an appeal from the International Organization of
Securities Commissions, the IASB has developed a set of “core standards” of accounting prin-
ciples for the financial statements of companies making “crossborder” offerings of their secu-
rities. As a result, the European Commission requires that listed European companies must
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use international accounting standards. Although there are areas of difference, financial state-
ments prepared according to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles usually will com-
ply with international accounting standards. Furthermore, as we noted earlier, the FASB and
IASB are working together to harmonize accounting standards. However, financial state-
ments prepared according to international accounting standards may not comply with U.S.
GAAP. In later chapters, where U.S. accounting principles differ from international princi-
ples, we will discuss those differences briefly as they relate to the topics being covered.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)

The GASB was established in 1984 and operates under the auspices of the Financial
Accounting Foundation. The GASB operates in a manner similar to the FASB. It consists
of a full-time chair and six other members, plus a supporting staff. The GASB’s responsi-
bility is to establish financial accounting standards for certain state and local governmen-
tal entities. Its impact on accounting principles for the private sector is minimal.

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB)

The PCAOB is a non-profit corporation that was created by Congress in the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002. This was in response to fraudulent or misleading accounting practices by com-
panies such as Enron and WorldCom. The PCAOB does not set generally accepted account-
ing principles. However, it indirectly influences public financial statements issued using
GAAP. Its purpose is to protect the interests of investors by overseeing auditors of public
companies in the preparation of informative, accurate, and independent audit reports for
companies that sell securities to the public. The Board'’s responsibilities include registering
public auditing firms; establishing auditing, quality control, and ethics standards; promot-
ing high professional standards and improving the quality of audit services; and enforcing
compliance with the securities laws as they relate to the preparation and issuance of audit
reports. Any standards that the PCAOB proposes must be approved by the SEC.

Professional Associations

There are also several professional organizations that play an important role in the
accounting standard-setting process. The Financial Executives International (FEI) con-
sists primarily of high-level financial executives (such as financial vice presidents, treasur-
ers, and controllers) of major corporations. The FEI publishes a monthly journal called
the Financial Executive and has sponsored research projects dealing with financial report-
ing issues. Membership in the Institute of Management Accountants (IMA) is open to
anyone, although its primary focus is on management accounting and financial manage-
ment issues. The IMA publishes a monthly journal called Strategic Finance, which
includes articles involving strategies in accounting, finance, and information manage-
ment. Members of the CFA Institute (CFAI) are financial analysts who use accounting
information in various investment management and security analysis decisions. The CFAI
publishes the Financial Analysts Journal, and its members participate in FASB research
studies that deal with the impact of proposed accounting standards on users of financial
accounting information. As we noted earlier, each of these organizations is also a mem-
ber of the Financial Accounting Foundation. They provide input to the FASB through
position papers and oral presentations in the public hearings process.

Relationship of Organizations in Current Standard-Setting Environment

As we discussed earlier, accounting standards are set in a sociopolitical environment.
Currently there are three major organizations in the private and public sector that
develop GAAP for companies: the FASB, the AICPA, and the SEC. To a lesser extent, the
other organizations we discussed in this section also are influential in the standard-
setting process. We illustrate the relationship of the various participants in this process in
Exhibit 1-8.
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EXHIBIT 1-8  Participants in the Development of GAAP

EITF
FEI CASB
IMA GASB
AICPA
PCAOB
CFAI AAA
IASB IRS

% SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 1-2

e The guidelines, procedures, and practices that a company is required to use in record-
ing and reporting accounting information in its financial statements (GAAP) have
evolved over many years and were set by several policy-making bodies.

e The major standard-setting bodies responsible for the establishment of GAAP include
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB).

e Before issuing a final standard, a proposed topic undergoes an extensive due process
procedure that includes considerable research, numerous public hearings, and fre-
quent deliberations.

e While final standards are intended to provide users with relevant and reliable informa-
tion for their decision-making needs, social and political differences in FASB's
constituency often result in final standards that are a result of compromise.

e Numerous other bodies (shown in Exhibit 1-8) have also impacted the development
of GAAP.

ETHICS IN THE ACCOUNTING ENVIRONMENT

In recent years there have been an increasing number of news reports about unethical )
behavior on the part of companies or individuals acting in their own self-interest without 7 Use ethical

regard to the impact on society. These unethical actions include, for instance, polluting models f‘?r deci-
lakes and streams, illegal shipments of weapons to foreign countries, savings and loan sion making
scandals, selling products that are hazardous to users’ health, overcharging on govern- al_)out ethical
ment contracts, securities fraud, accounting fraud, false advertising, and “insider trading” dilemmas.

activities. All of these unethical behaviors have a common theme: increased profits at the
expense of some aspect of society. While these unethical actions often are sensational and
capture the national headlines, there are also many situations of a smaller scale in which
accountants face ethical dilemmas.
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Earlier we mentioned that accountants who record and report financial information
must follow generally accepted accounting principles, and that auditors must express an
opinion as to the fairness (in accordance with GAAP) of the financial statements. Among
other things, the financial statements of a company communicate how well the employ-
ees of the company at the department, division, and corporate levels have performed in
operating the company. The results reported in the audited financial statements are likely
to have an effect on the company’s ability to sell stock or borrow money, as well as on
employees’ compensation and promotion opportunities. Consequently, these employees
have a vested interest in showing their performances in the best light and may pressure
accountants to do so. For instance, executives at Enron and WorldCom were successful at
defrauding the public.

We also mentioned that in the FASB’s public hearings and open meetings various
parties attempt to influence the Board in their own self-interest. These are just a few
examples of situations in which accountants may be faced with ethical dilemmas (ethical
conflicts), situations in which an accountant must make a decision about what is the
“right” (ethical) action to take in a given set of circumstances. Because accounting is a
service activity that plays an important role in society, professional accounting organiza-
tions have established “codes of ethics” for their members. One of these applies to mem-
bers of the AICPA.!3

Members of the AICPA recognize that they have an obligation of self-discipline above
and beyond the requirements of laws and regulations. To help guide members in public
practice, industry, government, and education in performing their responsibilities, the
AICPA adopted the Code of Professional Conduct (CPC). The CPC includes six Principles
that express the basic tenets of ethical and professional conduct and call for an unswerving
commitment to honorable behavior, even at the sacrifice of personal advantage. Exhibit 1-9
summarizes these Principles.'*

EXHIBIT 1-9  Principles of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

. Responsibilities: In carrying out their responsibilities as professionals, members should exercise
sensitive professional and moral judgments in all their activities.

II. The Public Interest: Members should act in a way that will serve the public interest, honor the
public trust, and demonstrate commitment to professionalism.

Il Integrity: To maintain and broaden public confidence, members should perform all professional
responsibilities with the highest sense of integrity.

IV. Objectivity and Independence: A member should be objective and free from conflicts of inter-
est in discharging professional responsibilities. A member in public practice should be independent
in fact and appearance when providing auditing and other attestation services.

V. Due Care: A member should observe the profession’s technical and ethical standards, strive con-
tinually to improve competence and the quality of services, and discharge professional responsibil-
ity to the best of the member’s ability.

VI. Scope and Nature of Services: A member in public practice should observe the Principles of
the CPC in determining the scope and nature of services to be provided.

While this code of ethics establishes guidelines for accountants in performing their
responsibilities, it does not provide a structured approach for “moral reasoning” in ethi-
cal dilemmas. Ethical behavior may be different from legally acceptable behavior. What is

13. For the code of ethics of the IMA, another professional accounting organization, see Ethics Center, IMA:
www.imanet.org.
14. AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, AICPA: www.aicpa.org.
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legal may still be unethical in certain circumstances. Ethicists have developed alternative
“models” to help individuals make sound moral judgments and guide their behavior
when faced with ethical dilemmas involving various stakeholders. In the business envi-
ronment of a company, the stakeholders may include past, current, and potential investors;
creditors; employees; suppliers; competing companies; local, state, and federal govern-
ments; and citizens in the local, regional, national, and even international communities.
According to Manuel Velasquez, a noted ethicist, there are three basic approaches to

moral reasoning. Each of these approaches uses a different set of moral standards in dis-
tinguishing between right and wrong. These approaches include (1) the utilitarian model, / \
which evaluates actions based on the extent to which they result in the “greatest good for ' ®

the greatest number,” (2) the rights model, which embraces actions that protect individ-
ual moral rights, and (3) the justice model, which emphasizes a fair distribution of bene-
fits and burdens. In determining if an action is ethical or which of several alternative
behaviors is the most ethical, Velasquez says that no single set of moral standards is suffi-
cient. Instead, he recommends a several-step process that combines all three types of
moral standards. This process includes

1. gathering the facts (e.g., Who are the “stakeholders?” What are my responsibilities?);
asking whether the action is acceptable according to three ethical criteria:
a. utility: Does the action optimize the satisfactions of all stakeholders?
b. rights: Does the action respect the rights of all individuals? and
c. justice: Is the action fair and just?;
3. considering whether there are any “overwhelming factors,” such as conflicts
between criteria that may justify disregarding one or more of the ethical criteria; and
4. deciding whether the action is ethical (or what ethical action to take) based on an
evaluation of the applicable ethical criteria.!®

Accountants are noted to have high ethical standards.'® Acting ethically is not always
easy; sometimes it is very difficult. However, because of the important role of accounting
in society, every accountant must have high moral standards and strive to behave at the
highest ethical level. Throughout this book, you will be exposed to ethical dilemmas that
we urge you to consider using the framework we just discussed.

CREATIVE AND CRITICAL THINKING IN THE ACCOUNTING
ENVIRONMENT

The business environment in which accountants work is constantly changing and becom-
ing more complex. New products and services are continually introduced, and existing
products are modified. Production techniques are changing, as are the channels of distri-
bution and the approaches to promoting these products. There is an explosion of infor-
mation technology as computers are networked, satellites allow global audiovisual
communication, fax machines, the Internet, and e-mail enable nearly instantaneous
information transmittal, and cell phones link customers and suppliers. More and more
companies are becoming international in their operating activities by buying, producing,
and selling products in foreign countries. Government regulations are increasing, as more
concern is given to such issues as worker safety and environmental impacts.

In response to these changes, companies are becoming more innovative in the ways
they manage their businesses, how they finance their activities, what they invest in to
expand their operating capabilities, and what approaches they use in their credit and
collection processes. They are restructuring their organizations and operations to increase

8 Understand
creative and
critical thinking.

15. M. Velasquez, Business Ethics: Concepts and Cases, 4th ed. (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall, 1998), ch. 2.
16. “The CPA Span of Influence Study,” Research Study for AICPA by Peter W. Hart Research Associates
(March 16, 2000).
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efficiency, and are more sensitive to changing technology and product obsolescence. They
are more creative in the ways they structure their executive and employee compensation
packages. Accounting systems that are designed to accumulate, process, and communicate
information for decision making in this changing environment must change to satisfy the
needs of users. Accounting principles must evolve to reflect this changing environment.
Accountants responsible for operating these systems, as well as for establishing and apply-
ing accounting principles, must be both creative thinkers and critical thinkers.

Research in psychology has found that each side of the brain deals with a different
type of thinking. The right side focuses on creative thinking, involving visualizing and
developing ideas. The left side focuses on critical thinking, involving analyzing and eval-
uating ideas. All individuals think creatively and critically, but they differ regarding the
degree to which they use each side of the brain. However, through practice, it is possible
for individuals to increase their ability to think creatively and critically.

Different aspects of creative thinking and critical thinking have been studied and dis-
cussed for many years and in numerous areas. Here, we discuss briefly what role these
concepts play in financial accounting. There are many ways creative thinking and critical
thinking are defined, in part because they are not mutually exclusive and the differences
between the two types of thinking are not clear-cut. For our purposes, creative thinking
is the process of finding new relationships (ideas) among items of information that
potentially can be used to solve a problem. Creative thinking involves using imagina-
tion and insight to see issues in a different light. Terms that are used to describe a creative
thinker include insightful, intuitive, imaginative, sensitive, flexible, original, adaptable,
and tolerant of ambiguity.!” In contrast, critical thinking is the process of testing these
new relationships (ideas) to determine how well they will work. Critical thinking
involves using inductive or deductive reasoning to analyze an issue logically. Terms that
are used to describe a critical thinker include objective, independent, analytical, logical,
rational, able to synthesize, consistent, and organized.'8

In financial accounting, accountants tend to be “problem solvers.” When an account-
ing issue or problem arises, the accountant is responsible for its resolution. Several steps
have been identified in the problem-solving process, as we show in Exhibit 1-10. These
steps include

1. recognizing a problem,

identifying alternative solutions,

evaluating the alternatives,

selecting a solution from among the alternatives, and
implementing the solution.

Vi WS

Creative thinking and critical thinking both play a role in each step of the problem-
solving process. However, creative thinking is probably most critical in the identification
of alternative solutions, while critical thinking is most critical in the evaluation of the
alternative solutions.

The degree of complexity may differ from one problem to another. Problems can
range from structured problems to unstructured problems. For structured problems, virtu-
ally complete information is known about the alternatives (in fact, there may be only one
alternative) so that identifying, evaluating, selecting, and implementing an alternative is
straightforward. At the other extreme are unstructured problems where even the basic issue
may not be readily apparent, the alternative solutions are unclear once the problem is

17. For a more extensive discussion of creative thinking, see S. F. Isaksen, K. Dorval, and D. Treffinger, Creative
Approaches to Problem Solving, 2nd ed. (Williamsville, NY: Creative Problem Solving Group-Buffalo, 2000).

18. For a more extensive discussion of critical thinking, see J. Chaffee, Thinking Critically, 6th ed. (New York:
Houghton Mifflin Company, 2000).
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EXHIBIT 1-10 Creative and Critical Thinking: Impact on Problem Solving

Creative Thinking

y v Y y y

Recognize Identify Evaluate Select Implement

Problem Alternatives Alternatives Solution Solution

T T t T i

Critical Thinking

identified, and there is a lack of information about the alternatives. Here the identifica-
tion, evaluation, selection, and implementation process is much more complex. Between
these extremes is the partially structured problem, where either the alternative solutions
are unclear or there is a lack of information about the alternative solutions.

At the policy-making level, the FASB deals with complex unstructured problems. The
Board members engage in higher-order creative thinking and critical thinking in their
problem-solving processes involving the establishment of generally accepted accounting
principles. In this book we discuss the major issues faced by the FASB in setting standards.
However, our primary focus is on the application of generally accepted accounting princi-
ples in the recording and reporting of various topics. These topics may be general
(e.g., income measurement) or specific (e.g., inventory). For each topic, we identify GAADP,
discuss the related conceptual issues, and explain the recording and reporting procedures.

In the exercises and problems at the end of each chapter, we focus primarily on assign-
ments intended to help you reinforce your understanding of the topical material. We do so
by requiring you to prepare solutions to issues related to the chapter topics. These assign-
ments generally involve structured problems for which there are only one or two correct
solutions. Here the steps of identification, evaluation, and selection of alternatives in the
problem-solving process are reduced or omitted. This approach does not mean that your
creative thinking and critical thinking processes are not at work, however. In solving these
assignments, you are practicing both creative and critical thinking, but at a lower level. It is
important to master the understanding of basic recording and reporting issues in financial
accounting. Then you can move on to more complex accounting issues that involve less
structured problems and entail higher-level creative and critical thinking.

As a step in helping you develop your higher-level creative and critical thinking skills,
there are also cases at the end of each chapter. These cases may require you to explain
your understanding of interrelated concepts and practices. They may also require you to
determine solutions to issues for which specific generally accepted accounting principles
do not apply directly. These cases may deal with accounting issues that are emerging
because of changes in the business environment we discussed earlier. They may focus on
topics that are too “industry specific” to be included in the chapter material. In these lat-
ter situations, the cases (“research simulations”) will require you to “research GAAP” in
documents such as the FASB’s Current Text or Original Pronouncements (or FARS) and, in so
doing, stimulate your higher-level creative and critical thinking as you complete the prob-
lem-solving process. If your instructor does not assign these cases, you may still want to
analyze them as a way of practicing creative and critical thinking. Your ability to think cre-
atively and critically will be very important in your future accounting and business (as
well as personal) activities.
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SUMMARY

At the beginning of the chapter, we identified several objectives you would accomplish after reading the chapter. The objec-
tives are listed below, each followed by a brief summary of the key points in the chapter discussion.

1. Understand capital markets and decision making. Capital markets are organized exchanges such as the NYSE, AMEX,
and NASDAQ, where the capital stock and bonds of publicly held corporations are purchased and sold. Investors make
buy-hold-sell decisions in regard to securities traded on these capital markets based on accounting information.

2. Know what is included in financial reporting. Financial reporting involves communicating financial accounting infor-
mation about a company to external users. An important way to do so is in a company’s annual report. In its annual
report, a company includes at least three financial statements—a balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash
flows—and may include a statement of changes in stockholders’ equity. It also includes notes to the financial statements.

3. Explain GAAP and its sources. GAAP are the guidelines, procedures, and practices that a company is required to use in
recording and reporting the accounting information in its audited financial statements. The sources of GAAP included
pronouncements by the FASB, APB, CAP, and SEC in four categories of descending order of importance.

4. Identify the types of pronouncements issued by the FASB. The FASB issues several types of pronouncements including
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards, Interpretations, Staff Positions, Technical Bulletins, Statements of Financial
Accounting Concepts, and other pronouncements, such as Guides for Implementation and FASB Qs and A’s.

5. Understand how the FASB operates. The FASB is a seven-member board. Before issuing a statement of concepts or stan-
dards, the FASB goes through several steps which include conducting research and issuing a Discussion Memorandum or
Invitation to Comment, holding public hearing and deliberating on findings before issuing an Exposure Draft, holding
more public hearings, modifying its tentative conclusions, voting (simple-majority), and issuing the Statement.

6. Describe the relationship between the SEC and the FASB. The SEC has the legal authority to prescribe accounting prin-
ciples and practices for all publicly traded companies. It, however, endorsed the workings of the FASB by stating that the
standards set by the FASB will be considered by the SEC to have substantial authoritative support.

7. Use ethical models for decision making about ethical dilemmas. Models for ethical decision making include the
utilitarian model, the rights model, and the justice model. In using these models, one several-step approach includes
(1) gathering the facts; (2) asking whether the action is acceptable according to utility, rights, and justice ethical criteria;
(3) considering any “overwhelming factors”; and (4) deciding whether the action is ethical.

8. Understand creative and critical thinking. Creative thinking is the process of finding new relationships (ideas) among
items of information that potentially can be used to solve a problem. Critical thinking is the process of testing these new
relationships (ideas) to determine how well they will work. In problem solving, creative thinking is most important in the
identification of alternative solutions, while critical thinking is most important in the evaluation of the alternative solutions.

QUESTIONS

Q1-1  Distinguish between primary markets and second- Q1-6  What are generally accepted accounting principles?

ary markets. List the four accounting bodies that have established gener-
11 i inciples.

Q1-2  Distinguish between the categories of users of ally accepted accounting principles

Q1-7 How many “categories” are in the hierarchy of gen-
erally accepted accounting principles? List the pronounce-
ments that are included in Category A.

financial statements. Why might their decision-making
needs be different?

Q1-3  Compare and contrast financial and managerial

accounting. Q1-8 What are (were) the CAP, APB, and FASB? What
h i 11 i

Q1-4  What is financial reporting and what is an impor- documents that constitute generally accepted accounting

, . I principles have been issued by each of these organizations?
tant way a company’s financial information is reported?

Q1-5 What are the three major financial statements of a
company and what do they show? What is the fourth major

Q1-9  Briefly discuss the procedures followed by the FASB
for issuing a statement of concepts or standards.

financial statement that many companies present, and what
does it show?

Q1-10 List and briefly discuss the types of pronounce-
ments issued by the FASB.



Q1-11 List several organizations other than the FASB that
have had an impact on the development of generally
accepted accounting principles.

Q1-12 What is the IASB and how does it operate?

Q1-13 List several professional organizations that play an
important role in the accounting standard-setting process.

Q1-14 What is the Code of Professional Conduct and what
are the six areas covered in the Principles of this code?
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Q1-15 List the steps a person should follow to determine
whether an action is ethical.

Q1-16 What is creative thinking? How would you describe
a creative thinker?

Q1-17 What is critical thinking? How would you describe
a critical thinker?

COMMUNICATION

C1-1  Pronouncements
Several accounting groups have issued various pronounce-
ments establishing or relating to generally accepted accounting
principles. The following is a list of six pronouncements, as
well as a list of statements describing each pronouncement.
. Statements of Financial Accounting Standards
. Opinions
. Technical Bulletins
. Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts
. Interpretations
Staff Positions
. Accounting Research Bulletins

OHEOOR >

1. Pronouncements that provide clarification of
conflicting or unclear issues relating to previ-
ously issued FASB Statements of Standards, APB
Opinions, or Accounting Research Bulletins.

2. Issued by the FASB to provide guidance on
accounting and reporting problems related to
Statements of Standards or Interpretations.

3. Pronouncements of the APB that constitute gen-
erally accepted accounting principles unless
specifically amended or rescinded, many of
which were based on Accounting Research Studies.

4. TIssued by the FASB as a series establishing a the-
oretical foundation upon which to base finan-
cial accounting and reporting standards.

5. Pronouncements of the Committee on
Accounting Procedure (CAP) that constitute gener-
ally accepted accounting principles unless super-
seded or amended by other authoritative bodies.

6. Pronouncements issued by the FASB that estab-
lish generally accepted accounting principles and
indicate the methods and procedures required on
specific accounting issues.

7. Pronouncements issued to provide more timely
and consistent application guidance in regard to
FASB literature.

Required

Place the appropriate letter (A-G) identifying each pro-
nouncement on the line in front of the statement describing
the pronouncement.

C1-2 Organizations

Certain organizations have been influential in the establish-
ment of accounting principles. The following is a list of
abbreviations for several of these organizations, as well as a
list of statements describing the organizations.

A. IRS G. CASB
B. APB H. FASB
C. CAP I. PCAOB
D. IASB J. GASB
E. SEC K. AICPA
E FASAC L. EITF

1. First organization in United States to be given
authority to issue pronouncements on account-
ing procedures and practice. Issued Accounting
Research Bulletins.

2. Establishes cost accounting standards for U.S.
government contracts.

3. Administers the provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code.

4. Helps establish internationally comparable
accounting principles.

5. Establishes accounting standards for state and
local governmental entities.

6. Establishes generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples in the private sector of the United States.

7. Created by Congress in response to fraudulent
accounting practices.

8. Responsible for advising the FASB about techni-
cal areas, task forces, and other matters.

9. Established 31 Opinions, many of which still
constitute  generally accepted accounting
principles.
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10. Has legal authority to prescribe accounting prin-
ciples and reporting practices for all corpora-
tions issuing publicly traded securities.

11. Professional organization for all CPAs in the
United States.

12. Develops consensus positions on the imple-
mentation issues involving the application of
standards.

Required

Place the appropriate letter (A-L) for each organization in
front of the statement describing the organization. In addi-
tion, write out the full name of the organization.

C1-3 Establishment of GAAP

Since the late 1930s, three organizations have been primarily
responsible for the establishment of generally accepted
accounting principles in the private sector of the United States.

Required

Write a brief report that identifies the three organizations
and provides a brief chronological history of each, including
the pronouncements issued that still constitute generally
accepted accounting principles.

C1-4 Accounting Principles

At the completion of the Darby
Department Store audit, the president asks about the mean-
ing of the phrase “in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles” that appears in your audit report on
the management'’s financial statements. He observes that the
meaning of the phrase must include more than what he
thinks of as “principles.”

Required

1. Explain the meaning of the term “accounting principles”
as used in the audit report. (Do not discuss in this part
the significance of “generally accepted.”)

2. The president wants to know how you determine whether
or not an accounting principle is generally accepted.
Discuss the sources of evidence for determining whether
an accounting principle has substantial authoritative sup-
port. Do not merely list the titles of publications.

C1-5 Standard Setting
When the Accounting Principles

Board was founded in 1959, it planned to establish financial

accounting standards using empirical research and logical rea-
soning only; the role of political action was little recognized at
that time. Today, there is wide acceptance of the view that polit-
ical action is as much an ingredient of the standard-setting
process as is research evidence. Considerable political and
social influence is wielded by user groups—those parties who
are most interested in or affected by accounting standards.
Two basic premises of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) are (1) that it should be responsive to the needs
and viewpoints of the entire economic community, and (2) that
it should operate in full view of the public, affording interested
parties ample opportunity to make their views known. The
extensive procedural steps employed by the FASB in the
standard-setting process support these premises.

Required

Write a brief report that describes why financial accounting
standards inspire or encourage political action and social
involvement during the standard-setting process.

C1-6 Organization of the FASB

The FASB is organized to establish generally accepted account-
ing principles. It is assisted by various groups and operates
under a set of procedures.

Required
Prepare a short written report that summarizes the structure,
types of pronouncements, and operating procedures of
the FASB.

C1-7 GAAP and the AICPA

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA) has been in existence for many years to help CPAs
provide high-quality professional services. Among other activi-
ties, in certain circumstances the AICPA establishes or provides
guidance on generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Required
Summarize the GAAP-related documents that the AICPA
publishes.

C1-8 Code of Professional Conduct
In a few years, you may become a member of the AICPA and
be subject to its Code of Professional Conduct (CPC).

Required
Identify and briefly discuss the first five principles of the
CPC. Provide examples that illustrate each principle.

CREATIVE AND CRITICAL THINKING

C1-9 GAAP Hierarchy

A friend of yours says, “l understand there are ‘rules’ for
financial reporting. But what are these rules, where can a
person find them, and which ones are more important?”

Required
Prepare an answer for your friend.

C1-10 Lobbying the FASB

One of your friends remarks, “I understand that before vot-
ing on a Statement of Standards the FASB allows written
comments and oral presentations in which interested par-
ties can lobby for a particular ruling. Do you think this is a
good idea?”



Required

Prepare a written response that discusses the advantages and
disadvantages of the FASB's allowing interested parties to
provide input to its deliberative process.

C1-11 Ethical Responsibilities

Each person in one of your accounting classes
is required to write a report on an accounting
topic. Included in the report must be a discus-
sion from a specific library book. When you go to the library,
you find that the only copy of the book is missing. While sit-
ting at a study desk, you overhear one of your classmates say
that he has “misfiled” the book in the library so he can use it
again later without having to wait for other students to finish
using it.

Required
Discuss the steps you would take to address this ethical
dilemma. It is not necessary to state what ethical action you
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would take, but be prepared to discuss your reasoning for
each step.

C1-12 Ethical Responsibilities

You and a friend are in the same accounting
class. During the first test, you observe that your
friend cheated by copying one of her answers
from another student (who was unaware of the copying).
When the exams are returned, your grade is a B, while your
friend’s grade is an A.

Required
Discuss the steps you would take to address this ethical
dilemma. It is not necessary to state what ethical action you
would take, but be prepared to discuss your reasoning for
each step.




CHAPTER

(o)

BJECTIVES

After reading this chapter,
you will be able to:

1

Explain the FASB con-
ceptual framework.

Understand the rela-
tionship among the
objectives of financial
reporting.

Identify the general
objective of financial
reporting.

Describe the three spe-
cific objectives of finan-
cial reporting.

Discuss the types of
useful information for
investment and credit
decision making.

Explain the qualities of
useful accounting
information.

Understand the

accounting assump-
tions and principles
that influence GAAP.

Define the elements of
financial statements.
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Financial Reporting:
lts Conceptual Framework

If It's Broken ... Fix It!

U.S.GAAP is widely considered the most complete and well-
developed set of accounting standards in the world. However,
because of the recent accounting scandals, U.S.accounting stan-
dards have come under increasing criticism as being too rules-
based. Some have also questioned the role of accounting
standards in facilitating these financial reporting failures. The crit-
icisms of U.S.accounting standards are that they had become too
long and complex, contained too many percentage tests (bright
lines), and allowed numerous exceptions to the principles under-
lying the standards. Together, the rules-based nature of the stan-
dard is seen to have fostered a“check-the-box mentality” that
allowed financial “engineers” to comply with the letter of the stan-
dard while not always showing the underlying reality of the trans-
action. In its review of U.S.accounting standards, the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) noted that the lease account-
ing rules are made up of approximately 16 FASB Statements and
Interpretations, 9 Technical Bulletins,and more than 30 EITF
Abstracts. Also, there are more than 800 pages of accounting
guidance relating to derivatives. One prominent controller
described recently issued accounting guidance as a mistake that
was so complicated that organizations are uncertain if they can
even follow the rules. What is the solution?

The SEC has recommended that future accounting standards

should not follow a rules-based, nor principles-only approach, but



Credit: Image Source

should be “objectives-

oriented.” This principles-
based standard setting
approach should be built on
an improved and consistently
applied conceptual frame-
work. This framework should
clearly state the accounting
objective of the standard,
provide sufficient detail and
structure so that the standard
can be applied consistently,
minimize exceptions to the
standard, and avoid the use of

bright-line tests. The devel-

| FOR FURTHER INVESTIGATION

For a discussion of principles-
based accounting standards
and the implications for
accounting standard setting,
consult the Business &
Company Resource Center
(BCRC) and the Internet:

e Defining Principles-Based
Accounting Standards.
Rebecca Toppe Shortridge,
Mark Myring, The CPA
Journal,0732-8435, August
2004,v74i8 p34(4).

e Study Pursuant to Section
108(d) of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 on the
Adoption by the United
States Financial Reporting
System of a Principles-
Based Accounting System,
Securities and Exchange
Commission, http://www.
sec.gov/news/studies/
principlesbasedstand.htm.

opment of objectives-oriented standards should improve the relevance, reliability, and

comparability of financial information resulting in more meaningful and informative

financial statements.
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1 Explain the
FASB concep-
tual framework.

As we saw in Chapter 1, accounting standards were developed in the United States by the
Committee on Accounting Procedure (CAP) and the Accounting Principles Board (APB)
before the inception of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The CAP and
the APB were not able to develop a broad, normative conceptual framework of account-
ing theory. The APB did issue APB Statement No. 4, “Basic Concepts and Accounting
Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises.” However, this docu-
ment described current practice instead of what should be appropriate accounting.
Although the CAP and APB considered some accounting concepts in setting of account-
ing standards, generally this was limited to the concepts related to the particular account-
ing issue at hand. This led, at times, to accounting principles that were inconsistently
applied from one issue to another. These inconsistencies led to political pressure on the
FASB to develop a general set of concepts and principles to guide its standard setting. In
this chapter we discuss the FASB’s conceptual framework of accounting theory. This
framework includes:

the objectives of financial reporting

the types of useful accounting information

the qualitative characteristics of accounting information
accounting assumptions and principles

We also include a brief review of generally accepted accounting principles and financial
statements.

FASB CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

The FASB has been given two charges. First, it is to develop a conceptual framework of
accounting theory. Second, it is to establish standards (generally accepted accounting

" principles) for financial accounting practice. The intent is to develop a theoretical
foundation of interrelated objectives and concepts that leads to the establishment of
consistent financial accounting standards. In other words, the conceptual framework
should provide a logical structure and direction to financial accounting and reporting.
This conceptual framework is expected to:

1. guide the FASB in establishing accounting standards
provide a frame of reference for resolving accounting questions in situations where
a standard does not exist

3. determine the bounds for judgment in the preparation of financial statements

4. increase users’ understanding of and confidence in financial reporting

5. enhance comparability

The FASB expects that the conceptual framework will encourage companies to provide
financial (and related) information that is useful in efficiently allocating scarce economic
resources in capital and other markets.!

Exhibit 2-1 shows the relationship among the objectives, concepts, and standards,
their purposes, and the documents issued by the FASB. The outputs of the conceptual
framework are Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts; to date, seven have been issued.
The outputs of the standard-setting process are Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards: to date 154 have been issued. The many “statements of standards” are required
to identify the preferable accounting practice from the various alternatives that arise in
response to the changing, dynamic business environment. As much as possible, the FASB
considers its conceptual framework in establishing these standards.

1. This discussion is based on a background paper, “The Conceptual Framework Project,” Financial
Accounting Standards Board (Stamford, Conn., 1980).
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EXHIBIT 2-1 Relationship of FASB Conceptual Framework and Standard-Setting Process

Conceptual Framework Standard Setting

Terms Objectives and Concepts ———————————— > Standards

AN |

Guide the selection of .
Establish methods and
events to be accounted rocedures for
for, the measurement of P . .
p Identify goals and these events,and the (R
Sl purpose of accounting means of summarizing | ST )
N financial accounting
and communicating information to
the information to
external users external users
\ / "
D Statements of Financial > Statements of Financial
EIWITE Accounting Concepts Accounting Standards

Because of the large task, the FASB divided its conceptual framework activities into
several projects. Exhibit 2-2 shows these projects. The first project dealt with identifying
the objectives of financial reporting. This project resulted in FASB Statement of Financial
Accounting Concepts No. 1, “Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises.”
This document established the focus of the remaining projects, which are divided into
two groups (accounting and reporting). The Qualitative Characteristics Project linked
together the accounting and reporting projects, as illustrated by the dashed lines in
Exhibit 2-2. It also resulted in FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2,
“Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information.”

The accounting projects define the accounting elements (e.g., assets, liabilities, rev-
enues, expenses) and identify which elements should be reported, when they should be
reported (recognized), and how they should be measured.? The reporting projects deal
with how the elements of financial reports are “displayed.” Important issues include gen-
eral questions such as what information should be provided, who should be required to
provide the information, and where the information should be presented. Also included
are more specific questions about income and its components, as well as cash flow and
its components.

The FASB has issued several Statements of Concepts that deal with one or more of these
accounting and reporting projects. FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 3
was issued in 1980. However, this Statement of Concepts was replaced in 1986 by FASB
Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, “Elements of Financial Statements.”
FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, “Recognition and Measurement in
Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” was issued in 1984.3 FASB Statement of
Financial Accounting Concepts No. 7, “Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in
Accounting Measurements,” was issued in 2000. An Exposure Draft, FASB Proposed Statement

2. For a discussion of these and other issues, see L. T. Johnson and R. K. Storey, “Recognition in Financial
Statements: Underlying Concepts and Practical Conventions,” Research Report (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1982).

3.  FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 4, titled “Objectives of Financial Reporting by
Nonbusiness Organizations,” has also been issued but is not discussed in this book.
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2 Understand the
relationship
among the
objectives of
financial
reporting.

EXHIBIT 2-2  Conceptual Framework Projects for Financial Accounting and Reporting

Objectives
l Project l
Accounting Reporting
Projects Projects
Qualitative

Characteristics Project

Financial Statements
and Financial Reporting

Elements < >

Recognition < > Income
— - Cash Flow
Measurement < > .
and Liquidity

Adapted from Figure 1in “The Conceptual Framework Project,” Financial Accounting Standards Board (Stamford,
Conn., 1980).

of Financial Accounting Concepts, “Reporting Income, Cash Flows, and Financial Position of
Business Enterprises,” was issued regarding the reporting projects. In addition, several working
documents dealing with both accounting and reporting issues were published that may even-
tually lead to the issuance of other statements of financial accounting concepts. We discuss the
Statements of Concepts dealing with the elements, recognition and measurement, and report-
ing of income and cash flows in Chapters 4 and 5.

In this chapter we discuss the first two Statements of Concepts dealing with the objec-
tives of financial reporting and the qualitative characteristics of accounting information.
We also discuss parts of the Exposure Draft dealing with types of useful information.

_ OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING

In its first concepts statement, the FASB stated that the objectives of financial reporting
are those of general-purpose external reporting by companies. That is, the objectives relate
to a variety of external users as opposed to specific internal users, such as management.
These external users do not have the authority to prescribe the financial information they
desire from a particular company. Therefore, they must use the information that the man-
agement of the company communicates to them.*

The FASB identified several objectives of financial reporting. These objectives proceed
from the more general to the more specific. We show these objectives in Exhibit 2-3 and
discuss them in the following sections.”

4. "Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting
Concepts No. 1 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1978), par. 28.

5. The discussion in this section primarily is a summary of that presented by the FASB in its “Objectives of
Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises.”



EXHIBIT 2-3  Objectives of Financial Reporting

General
Objective

Derived External
User
Objective

Derived Company

Provide information that is useful to
present and potential investors,
creditors, and other users in making
rational investment, credit, and
similar decisions

Provide information that is useful to
present and potential investors,
creditors, and other users in assessing
the amounts, timing, and uncertainty
of prospective cash receipts from
dividends and interest, and the
proceeds from the sale, redemption,
or maturity of securities or loans

Provide information to help investors,

Objectives of Financial Reporting

Objective creditors, and others in assessing
the amounts, timing, and
uncertainty of prospective net cash
inflows to the related company
\
Specific S . N .
s Provide information Provide information .
Objectives g ; Provide
about a company’s about a company’s . .
. . information
economic resources, comprehensive ,
L . about a company’s
obligations, and income
S . cash flows
owners'equity and its components

Information Useful in Decision Making

The top of Exhibit 2-3 shows the most general objective. This objective states that
financial reporting should provide useful information for present and potential
investors, creditors, and other external users in making their investment, credit, and
similar decisions. Investors include both equity security holders (stockholders) and debt
security holders (bondholders). Creditors include suppliers, customers and employees
with claims, individual lenders, and lending institutions. Other external users include
brokers, lawyers, security analysts, and regulatory agencies. These external users are
expected to have a reasonable understanding of business and economic activities. They
are also expected to be willing to study carefully the information to comprehend it.

Information Useful to External Users in Assessing Future Cash Receipts

The second objective shown in Exhibit 2-3 relates to external users’ needs. It states that
financial reporting should provide information that is useful to external users in
assessing the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of prospective cash receipts. This
objective is important because individuals and institutions make cash outflows for
investing and lending activities primarily to increase their cash inflows. Whether or not

35

3 Identify the
general objec-
tive of financial
reporting.
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4 Describe the
three specific
objectives of
financial
reporting.

they are successful depends on the extent to which they receive a return of cash, goods, or
services greater than their investment or loan. That is, they must receive not only a return
of investment, but also a return on investment relative to the risk involved. Investment
and credit decisions involve choices between present and prospective future cash flows.
External users need financial information to help set expectations about the timing and
amount of prospective cash receipts (e.g., dividends, interest, proceeds from resale, or
repayment) and assess the risk involved.

Information Useful in Assessing Company Cash Flows

Since investors invest in and creditors lend to a particular company, their current and
prospective cash receipts are affected by the cash flows of the company. Thus, a third
objective shown in Exhibit 2-3 is that financial reporting should provide information
to help external users in assessing the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of the
prospective net cash inflows to the related company. This objective logically flows from
the second objective, because a company also invests cash in noncash resources to earn
more cash and receive a return on its investment in addition to a return of its investment.

A company’s investment activities are more complex, however, than those of external
users. The company completes an “operating cycle” or cycles during which it acquires
goods or services, increases their value, sells the goods or services, and collects the selling
price. Within this operating cycle numerous cash receipts and payments are collected and
paid, in no precise order. The company’s ability to generate net cash inflows
(i-e., cash inflows greater than cash outflows) affects both its ability to pay dividends and
interest and the market prices of its securities. These, in turn, affect investors’ and credi-
tors’ cash flows.

Information About Economic Resources and Claims to These Resources

The most specific objectives in Exhibit 2-3 are those in the bottom tier, which indicate the
types of information that a company should provide in its financial reports. A specific
objective of financial reporting is to provide information about a company’s economic
resources, obligations, and owners’ equity. This information is useful to external users
for four reasons:

e to identify the company’s financial strengths and weaknesses and to assess its
liquidity

e to provide a basis for evaluating information about the company’s performance
during a given period

e to provide direct indications of the cash flow potentials of some resources and the
cash needed to satisfy obligations

¢ to indicate the potential cash flows that are the joint result of combining various
resources in the company’s operations

Information About Comprehensive Income and Its Components

Another specific objective of financial reporting is to provide information about a
company’s financial performance during a specified period to help external users form
expectations about its future performance. The primary focus of financial reporting about a
company’s performance is information concerning the company’s comprehensive income
and its components. Information about comprehensive income is useful to external users in:

evaluating management’s performance

estimating the company’s “earning power,” or other amounts that are representa-
tive of long-term income-producing ability

predicting future income

assessing the risk of investing in or lending to the company
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We discuss comprehensive income in Chapter 5.

The measurement of comprehensive income should relate (i.e., match) the costs
(sacrifices) of a company’s operations to the benefits from its operations. The measure-
ment should also include the benefits and costs of other nonoperating transactions,
events, and circumstances. This is accomplished by using accrual accounting. Under
accrual accounting the financial effects of a company’s transactions, events, and circum-
stances having cash consequences are related to the period in which they occur instead of
to when the cash receipt or cash payment takes place.®

Information About Cash Flows

Although information about comprehensive income is important to external users,
another specific objective of financial reporting is to provide information about a
company'’s cash flows. Cash flow information shows how a company obtains and
spends cash for its operations, investments, borrowings, and capital transactions, includ-
ing cash dividends and other distributions of company resources to owners. External
users use cash (or cash and cash equivalents) flow information about a company to:

e help understand its operations

e evaluate its financing and investing activities

e assess its liquidity

e interpret the comprehensive income information provided
Other Issues

The FASB raised two other important issues in FASB Statement of Concepts No. 1. First,
financial reporting should provide information about how the management of a
company has discharged its stewardship responsibility to owners (stockholders) for
using the company resources. The management is responsible to the owners for the custody
and safekeeping of the resources, their efficient and profitable use, and their protection
against unfavorable economic impacts, technological developments, and social changes.
Second, a company’s financial statements and other means of financial reporting
should include explanations and interpretations by its management to help external
users understand the financial information provided. This is known as full disclosure. / \
Since a company’s management knows more about the company's activities than QH
“outsiders,” the usefulness of financial information can be enhanced by, for instance:

explanations of certain transactions, events, and circumstances
interpretations of the effects on the financial results of dividing continuous opera-
tions into accounting periods

e explanations of underlying assumptions or methods used and any related
significant uncertainties

The FASB established the qualitative characteristics (e.g., relevance, reliability) that
accounting information should possess to be included in financial reports in FASB
Statement of Concepts No. 2. We include them in the next section of this chapter. The FASB
includes definitions of the elements (e.g., assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses) of
financial statements in FASB Statement of Concepts No. 6. We include them later in this
chapter. We discuss financial statement elements in Chapters 4 and 5.

The FASB's first step in developing its conceptual framework was to establish the
objectives of financial reporting. The FASB intends that these objectives will be guidelines

6.  FASB Statement of Concepts No. 1 originally used the term “earnings” instead of “comprehensive income.”
This latter term was substituted in FASB Statement of Concepts No. 5 because comprehensive income
includes more components. We discuss this issue more fully in Chapter 4.
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5 Discuss the
types of useful
information for
investment and
credit decision
making.

A

for providing financial information for investment and credit decisions. Thus, these
guidelines will help in the efficient operation of the capital markets and in promoting the
efficient allocation of scarce resources.

TyPES OF USEFUL INFORMATION

The general objective of financial reporting is to provide information that is useful in
investment and credit decision making. On a more specific level, a company’s financial
reports should provide information to help external users assess the amounts, timing, and
uncertainty about its future net cash inflows. The FASB has identified five types of infor-
mation as being useful in meeting this specific objective. Exhibit 2-4 shows the interrela-
tionship of this useful information with financial reports and external decision making.

_Retu rn on Investment

Return on investment provides a measure of overall company performance. Shareholders
(stockholders) invest capital for a share of the equity (stockholders’ equity) of a company.
These investors are concerned with a return on capital. Before a company can provide a return
on capital, its capital must be maintained or recovered (i.e., first there must be a return of
capital to the company). Once a company’s capital is maintained, the return on capital (i.e.,
comprehensive income) may be distributed to investors or may be retained by the company
for reinvestment.

Risk

Risk is the uncertainty or unpredictability of the future results of a company. The
greater the range within which a company’s future results are likely to fall, the greater the
risk of an investment in or extension of credit to the company. Risk is caused by numer-
ous factors including, for example, high rates of technological change, uncertainty about
demand, exposure to the effects of price changes, and political changes in the United
States and other countries. In general, the greater the risk of an investment in a particular
company, the higher the rate of return expected by investors (or the higher the rate of
interest charged by creditors).

Interrelationship of Financial Reports, Useful Information, and

EXHIBIT2-4 o cision Making
Communication Types of Useful External
Documents Information Decision Making

—> Return on Investment ——

—> Risk — Buy
Hold
Sell
Financial Reports > Financial Flexibility >
Extend Credit
Continue Credit
—> Liquidity Deny Credit

> Operating Capability ——




Types of Useful Information

Financial Flexibility

Financial flexibility is the ability of a company to use its financial resources to adapt to
change. Financial flexibility is important because it enables a company to respond to unex-
pected needs and opportunities. Financial flexibility comes from a company’s ability to:

adapt operations to increase net operating cash inflows
raise new capital through, for instance, the sale of debt or stock securities at
short notice

e obtain cash by selling assets without disrupting ongoing operations

Financial flexibility affects risk as well as cash flows. It reduces the risk of failure in the
event of a shortage in net cash flows from operations.

Liquidity

Liquidity refers to how quickly a company can convert its assets into cash to pay its
bills. Liquidity reflects an asset’s “nearness to cash.” For operating assets, liquidity relates
to the timing of cash flows in the normal course of business. For nonoperating assets,
liquidity refers to marketability. The liquidity of a company is an indication of its ability
to meet its obligations when they come due. Liquidity is positively related to financial
flexibility but negatively related to both risk and return on investment. A more liquid
company is likely to have a superior ability to adapt to unexpected needs and opportuni-
ties, as well as a lower risk of failure. On the other hand, liquid assets often offer lower
rates of return than nonliquid assets.

Operating Capability

Operating capability refers to the ability of a company to maintain a given physical
level of operations. This level of operations may be indicated by (1) the quantity of
goods or services (e.g., inventory) of a specified quality produced in a given period or
(2) the physical capacity of the fixed assets (e.g., property, plant, and equipment).
Information about operating capability is helpful in understanding a company’s past per-
formance and in predicting future changes in its volume of activities. Operating capabil-
ity may be affected by changes in methods of operations, changes in product lines, and

the timing of the replacement of the service potential used up in operations.”

@ SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 2-1

® The conceptual framework consists of a coherent system of interrelated objectives and
concepts that prescribes the nature, function, and limitations of financial reporting.

® The conceptual framework serves as a conceptual underpinning that provides a uni-
fied and consistent structure and direction to financial accounting and reporting that
allows the FASB to effectively fulfill its mission.

® The objective of financial reporting is to provide information that is useful for external
users in making investment, credit, and similar decisions. More specifically, financial
reporting should provide information about a company’s:
= economic resources, obligations, and owners’ equity;
= financial performance during a specified period of time; and
= cash flows.

(continued)

7.  "Reporting Income, Cash Flows, and Financial Position of Business Enterprises,” FASB Proposed Statement
of Financial Accounting Concepts (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1981), par. 7-33.
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6 Explain the
qualities of use-
ful accounting
information.

® Financial reporting should provide information about how the management of a
company has discharged its stewardship responsibility and include explanations and
interpretations that help external users understand the financial information provided
(full disclosure).

® Information relating to return on investment, risk, financial flexibility, liquidity and
operating capability is considered to be useful in assessing the amounts, timing, and
uncertainty of a company’s future net cash flows.

QUALITATIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF USEFUL ACCOUNTING
INFORMATION

In the previous sections we discussed the types of information that are helpful in invest-
ment and credit decision making. But what are the characteristics of useful information?
The purpose of FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2 is to specify the qual-
itative characteristics or “ingredients” that accounting information should have to be most
useful.® These characteristics should be considered when choosing among accounting
alternatives, because these qualities distinguish more useful from less useful information.

Each accounting alternative, however, may possess more of one quality and less of
another. Although there is much agreement about the qualitative characteristics that
“good” accounting information should possess, no “equation” can determine which
information has the “best” combination of qualitative characteristics for decision-making
purposes. Furthermore, the FASB strives to meet the needs of all users through general-
purpose financial statements. However, the qualitative characteristics are still important
for establishing common accounting standards. The qualitative criteria are helpful to the
FASB in setting “minimum” and “maximum” limits of useful accounting information so

that it can develop logical accounting standards consistent with these “limits.”

Hierarchy of Qualitative Characteristics

Exhibit 2-5 shows a hierarchy of the qualitative characteristics of accounting information.
This section presents an overview of the hierarchy, after which we define and discuss the
components in detail. The hierarchy is bounded by two constraints: (1) the benefits must
be greater than the costs (to justify providing the accounting information); and (2) the
dollar amount of the information must be material (i.e., large enough to make a differ-
ence in decision making). The hierarchy is not designed to assign priorities among the
qualitative characteristics in all situations. To be useful, accounting information must
have each of the qualitative characteristics to a minimum degree. However, different
situations may require tradeoffs, where the level of one quality is sacrificed for an
increase in that of another quality.

Understandability

Accounting information should be understandable to users who have a reasonable
knowledge of business and economic activities and who are willing to study the
information carefully. Understandability serves as a “link” between the decision makers
and the accounting information. Since the FASB establishes standards for general-
purpose financial statements, it is concerned that broad classes of decision makers are able
to understand the accounting information.

8.  The discussion in this section primarily is a summary of that presented in “Qualitative Characteristics
of Accounting Information,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2 (Stamford, Conn.:
FASB, 1980).
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EXHIBIT 2-5 Hierarchy of Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information

Accounting
Information

Pervasi\{e Benefits > Costs
Constraint |
User-'Specific | Understandability |
Quality |

Overall Quality | Decision Usefulness |

Primary —L—
Decision-Specific Relevance |« >| Reliability

Qualities

Ingredients of Predictive Feedback . - Representational .
Primary Qualities Value Value Timeliness Verifiability Faithfulness Neutrality
Secondary and Comparability

Interactive Quality (Including Consistency)

Threshold for Materiality

Recognition

Adapted from Figure 1 in “Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts
No. 2 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1980), p. 15.

Decision Usefulness

Decision usefulness is the overall qualitative characteristic to be used in judging the
quality of accounting information. Whether or not information is useful depends on
the decision to be made, the way in which it is made, the information already available,
and the decision maker’s ability to process the information. Since the FASB establishes
standards for broad classes of users, however, it must consider the quality of decision use-
fulness in a broad context. This overall quality can be separated into the primary qualities
of relevance and reliability.

Relevance

Accounting information is relevant if it can make a difference in a decision by helping
users predict the outcomes of past, present, and future events or confirm or correct
prior expectations. In this context, an “event” is a happening that is significant to a com-
pany (e.g., the purchase of a building). An “outcome” is the effect or result of an event or
series of events (e.g., cash flows generated by use of the building). To be relevant,
accounting information does not have to be expressed as a prediction. Information about
a company'’s current resources or obligations or about its past performance commonly is
used as a basis for expectations. To be relevant, accounting information should have
either predictive or feedback value, or both. In addition, it should be timely.



42

Chapter 2 - Financial Reporting: Its Conceptual Framework

Predictive Value and Feedback Value

Accounting information has predictive value when it helps decision makers forecast
more accurately the outcome of past or present events. Accounting information has
feedback value when it enables decision makers to confirm or correct prior expectations.
Often, information has both predictive value and feedback value. This is because knowl-
edge about a company’s previous actions (i.e., feedback) generally will improve a
decision maker’s ability to predict the results of similar future actions. An example is an
interim income statement, which provides feedback about a company’s income to date
and can be used to forecast its annual income.

Timeliness

Accounting information is timely when it is available to decision makers before it loses its
ability to influence decisions. Timeliness is an ingredient of relevance. If information is not
available when it is needed, it lacks relevance and is not useful. Timeliness alone cannot
make information relevant, but a lack of timeliness reduces its potential relevance. However,
a gain in relevance resulting from increased timeliness may involve a sacrifice of other desir-
able qualitative characteristics (e.g., reliability). The SEC has defined timeliness, requiring
that each company under its jurisdiction file a Form 10-K annual report within 60 days of its
fiscal year-end and a Form 10-Q quarterly report within 35 days of the end of each quarter.

Reliability

Accounting information is most useful when it is reliable as well as relevant. Reliable
information is reasonably free from error and bias, and faithfully represents what it is
intended to represent. That is, to be reliable, information must be verifiable, neutral, and
possess representational faithfulness. Reliability does not necessarily imply certainty or
precision. For instance, estimates may be reliable. Reliability has different degrees, and
what is an acceptable degree of reliability will depend on the circumstances.

Verifiability

Accounting information is verifiable (sometimes called objective) when measurers
(i.e., accountants) can agree that the selected method has been used without error or bias.
That is, the measurement results can be duplicated. Verification is useful in reducing
measurer bias, because by using the same method to repeat measurements, both uninten-
tional and intentional errors are reduced.

Verification is a primary concern of auditing. The Certified Public Accountant (CPA)
is an independent professional who reviews (audits) the published financial statements
of a company. The performance of this duty is termed the attest function. It involves a
review of a sample of a company’s transactions during a reporting period to provide
assurance that the recording and reporting of its financial information can be duplicated
substantially by an independent measurer. As a result of the review, the CPA issues an
auditor’s report. (We discuss audit reports in Chapters 4 and 6.) Verification does not,
however, ensure the appropriateness of the accounting methods used. That quality of
accounting information is representational faithfulness.

Representational Faithfulness

Accounting information has representational faithfulness when there is a relationship
between the reported accounting measurements or descriptions and the economic
resources, obligations, and transactions and events causing changes in these items. Social
scientists define this concept as “validity.” For instance, a company may record an item
leased on a long-term basis from another entity as an economic resource even though it
does not own the item. This recording increases the representational faithfulness of
the reported economic resources available to the company. Having a high degree of
representational faithfulness is useful in reducing measurement bias. Having representational
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faithfulness in one decision-making context, however, does not mean that accounting infor-
mation will be relevant for other decisions. For instance, the current value of an economic
resource that a company expects to replace in the near future would be useful information,
but it might not be useful if the company has no intention of replacing it.

Neutrality

Accounting information is neutral when it is not biased to attain a predetermined result or
to influence behavior in a particular direction. Neutrality does not mean that accounting
information has no purpose or does not influence human behavior. The purpose of pro-
viding accounting information is to serve different users with many interests. Furthermore,
accounting information is intended to be useful in decision making, thereby influencing
the decision makers’ behavior, but not in a predetermined direction. Neutrality also
implies completeness of information. An omission of information can lead to bias if it is
intended to induce or inhibit a particular behavior. Sometimes, in conjunction with neu-
trality, you will hear that accounting information needs to be transparent. Transparent
accounting information is clear and not distorted, which allows external users to clearly
see the information they need to make decisions.

Comparability and Consistency

A secondary qualitative characteristic of accounting information is comparability
(including consistency). Information about a company is more useful if it can be com-
pared with similar information from other companies (this is referred to as intercompany
comparison) or with similar information from past periods within the company
(intracompany comparison). Comparability is not a primary quality of useful informa-
tion, like relevance and reliability, because it must involve more than one item of infor-
mation. It is an interactive quality of the relationship between two or more items of
information. Comparability of accounting information enables users to identify and
explain similarities and differences between two or more sets of economic facts.

Closely linked to comparability is consistency. Consistency means conformity from
period to period, with accounting policies and procedures remaining unchanged.
Consistency, like comparability, is a quality of the relationship between numbers rather
than a quality of the numbers themselves. Consistency helps enhance comparability
across periods. Without consistency, it would be difficult for a user to determine whether
differences in results were caused by economic differences or simply by differences in
accounting methods. On the other hand, a change in accounting method is sometimes
desirable. Economic situations may change, or more preferable new accounting methods
may evolve. A company must make some sacrifice in consistency at certain times to
improve the usefulness of its accounting information.

Constraints to the Hierarchy

Two constraints to the hierarchy of qualitative characteristics help to identify further what
accounting information should be disclosed in financial reports. The first is a benefit/cost
constraint; the second is a threshold-for-recognition, or materiality, constraint.

Benefits Greater Than Costs

Accounting information is a commodity. Unless the benefits expected to be received from a
commodity exceed its costs, the commodity will not be sought after. The preparer (the com-
pany) initially incurs the costs of providing financial information and then passes the costs
on to consumers (external users). These costs include the cost of collecting, processing,
auditing, and communicating the information. The costs also include those associated with
losing a competitive advantage by disclosing the information. The benefits are enjoyed by a
diverse group of investors and creditors, by customers (because they are assured a steady
supply of goods and services), and by the preparer itself (for use in internal decision
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making). To be reported, accounting information not only must be relevant and reliable
but it also must satisfy the benefit/cost constraint. That is, the FASB must have reasonable
assurance that the costs of implementing a standard will not exceed the benefits.

Materiality
The second constraint, that of materiality, is really a quantitative “threshold” constraint
linked very closely to the qualitative characteristic of relevance. Materiality refers to the
magnitude of an omission or misstatement of accounting information that makes it
likely the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would have
been influenced by the omission or misstatement. Materiality and relevance are both
defined in terms of the influences that affect a decision maker, but there is a difference
between the two terms. A company may make a decision to disclose certain information
because users have a need for that information (it is relevant) and because the amount is
large enough to make a difference (it is material). Alternatively, a decision not to disclose
certain information may be made because the user has no need for the information (it is
not relevant) or because the amount is too small to make a difference (it is not material).
The FASB did not set overall quantitative guidelines for materiality in the Statements
of Concepts. 1t felt that materiality involves judgment, and that no general standards could
be set that took into account all the elements of sound human judgment. Materiality
judgments should be concerned with thresholds of recognition. Is an item large enough
to pass over the threshold that separates material from immaterial items? To answer that
question, the FASB suggested that a company give consideration to:

e the nature of the item (i.e., items considered too small to be significant when they
result from routine transactions might be material if they arose from abnormal
circumstances)

e the relative size rather than absolute size of an item (i.e., a $10,000 error in inven-
tory of a large company may be insignificant while a similar $10,000 error by a
small company may be material)

The FASB observed that quantitative guidelines have been and will continue to be set for
specific accounting issues where appropriate.

In regard to the relative size of a misstatement, some companies establish an initial
percentage threshold; for instance, 5% of net income for the income statement and 5% of
total assets for the balance sheet. Thus, if the misstatement of an amount is less than 5%
of net income it is not considered material for the income statement. External users feel
that some companies are using a percentage threshold as an “absolute” cutoff without
considering the qualitative factors of the information, such as the surrounding circum-
stances or the “total mix” of information. In response, several groups (the SEC, the
AICPA, and the Big Five Audit Materiality Task Force) have provided guidance in assess-
ing the materiality of a misstated item for a company. These include, for instance,
whether the misstatement:

has an effect on trends (particularly trends in profitability)
masks a change in earnings (and earnings per share)

e is currently immaterial but may have a material impact in future periods because of
a cumulative effect

e changes a loss into net income (or vice versa)

e misrepresents the company’s compliance with loan agreements

e relates to a segment of the company that is of particular importance to the
company’s long-run profitability

e has the effect of increasing management’s compensation.’

9.  For a more extensive discussion, see “Materiality,” SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 99 (Washington, D.C.:
Securities and Exchange Commission, August 12, 1999) and “Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an
Audit,” AICPA Professional Standards, Volume 1 (New York: AICPA, 2004), sec. 312.
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Thus, companies may use a quantitative threshold as an initial step in assessing materiality,
but need to consider qualitative factors in making the final judgment on the materiality of
an item.

@ SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 2-2

® For accounting information to be useful for decision making, it must be understandable
to users who possess a reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and
who are willing to study the information with reasonable diligence.
® The primary qualities that make accounting information useful for decision making
are relevance and reliability.
= Relevant information is available in a timely manner and assists users in predicting the
outcome of past, present, or future events or confirming prior expectations.
= Reliable information is reasonably free from error and bias, and faithfully represents
what it is intended to represent.
® External decision makers need accounting information that is comparable across dif-
ferent companies and consistent within a company over time.
® Two constraints on the qualitative characteristics of accounting information are:
= The costs of providing the information should not exceed the benefits received
from the using the information; and
= The information should be material (capable of influencing a decision).

ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS AND PRINCIPLES

Certain accounting assumptions and principles have had an important impact on the
development of GAAP. Exhibit 2-6 is useful in understanding the relationship among the
objectives, types of useful information, qualitative characteristics, accounting assump-
tions and principles, generally accepted accounting principles, financial reports, and ele-
ments of financial statements. We discuss the accounting assumptions and principles
listed in Exhibit 2-6 in this section. We will discuss others later in the book as they apply
to specific accounting standards.

Entity (Assumption)

Most of the economic activity in the United States can be directly or indirectly attributed
to business enterprises, termed economic entities. These entities vary in size from small,
one-owner companies such as hair salons or restaurants, to partnerships such as law or
accounting firms, and to large multinational corporations such as Wal-Mart. Financial
accounting is concerned with the economic activity of each of these entities, regardless of
its size, and involves recording and reporting its transactions and events. A transaction
involves the transfer of something of value between the entity and another party. In cer-
tain instances the financial records of related but separate legal entities may be consoli-
dated (combined) to report more realistically the resources, obligations, and operating
results of the overall economic entity.

Because the entity assumption distinguishes each organization from its owners, each
separate entity prepares its own financial records and reports. The personal transactions
of the owners are kept separate from those of the business enterprise. Throughout this
book we refer to a business enterprise as a company (and when the discussion applies to a
type of company, we use the specific type of entity, e.g., corporation).

®—0
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EXHIBIT 2-6  Framework of Financial Accounting Theory and Practice

Framework Content

1. Provide information useful to external users in assessing amounts, timing, and
uncertainty of a company’s cash flows.

. Provide information about a company’s economic resources, obligations, and
owners’ equity.

. Provide information about a company’s comprehensive income and its components.

. Provide information about a company’s cash flows.

. Provide information about the stewardship responsibility of a company’s management.

. Provide full disclosure to help external users understand the preceding information.

Objectives

N

oUW

. Return on investment.
Risk.

. Financial flexibility.

. Liquidity.

. Operating capability.

Types of
Useful Information

b wN =

. Decision usefulness.

. Relevance (predictive value, feedback value, timeliness).

. Reliability (verifiability, neutrality,and representational faithfulness).
. Comparability (including consistency).

. Benefits greater than costs, materiality.

Quialitative Characteristics
of Useful Accounting
Information

u b wN =

. Entity (assumption).

. Continuity (going concern) (assumption).
. Period of time (assumption).

. Monetary unit (assumption).

. Historical cost (principle).

. Recognition (principle).

. Matching and accrual (principles).

. Conservatism (prudence) (principle).

Accounting Assumptions
and Principles

oNOULTL A WN =

—

. Guidelines, procedures, and practices required by a company to record and report its
Generally Accepted accounting information in audited financial statements.

Accounting Principles . Sources of GAAP are financial accounting standards established in pronouncements of

FASB, APB, AICPA, and SEC, and in other accounting literature (see Exhibit 1-4).

N

. Balance sheet.

. Income statement.

. Statement of cash flows.

. Statement of changes in stockholders’ equity.
. Notes to financial statements.

. Supplementary and other information.

Financial Reports

oOounph wWN =

. Assets, liabilities, and equity.

. Revenues, expenses, gains, and losses.

. Operating, investing, and financing cash flows.
. Investments by and distributions to owners.

Elements of
Financial Statements

A WN =

Continuity (Assumption)

The continuity assumption is also known as the going-concern assumption. This assump-
tion is that the company will continue to operate in the near future, unless substantial evi-
dence to the contrary exists. Obviously, not all companies are successful, and failures do
occur. However, the continuity assumption is valid in most cases and is necessary for many
of the accounting procedures used. For example, if a company is not regarded as a going
concern, the company should not depreciate its fixed assets over their expected useful lives,
nor should the company record its inventory at its cost, because the receipt of future eco-
nomic benefits from these items is uncertain.

The continuity assumption does not imply permanence. It simply indicates that
the company will operate long enough to carry out its existing commitments. If a company

Copyright 2007 Thomson Learning, Inc. All Rights Reserved.
May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part.
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appears to be going bankrupt, it must discard the continuity assumption. The company
then reports its financial statements on a liquidation basis, with all assets and liabilities
valued at the amounts estimated to be collected or paid when they are sold or liquidated.

Period of Time (Assumption)

The profit or loss earned by a company cannot be determined accurately until it stops
operating. At that time the total lifetime profit or loss may be determined by comparing
the cash on hand after liquidating the business (plus any cash payments to the owners
during the period of operations) with the amount invested by the owners during the
company’s lifetime. Obviously, financial statement users need more current information
to evaluate a company’s profitability. Companies primarily use a year as the reporting
period. In accordance with the period-of-time assumption, a company prepares finan-
cial statements at the end of each year and includes them in its annual report.
Furthermore, the annual reporting period (called the accounting period or fiscal year) is
used for reports issued to government regulators such as the Internal Revenue Service
(IRS) and the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

The period-of-time assumption is the basis for the adjusting entry process in account-
ing. If companies did not prepare financial statements on a yearly (or shorter time) basis,
there would be no reason to determine the time frame affected by particular transactions.
Historically, most companies adopted the calendar year as the accounting period.
However, many companies now choose a fiscal year that more closely approximates their
annual business cycle. (The yearly period from lowest sales through highest sales and back
to lowest sales is known as a business cycle.) For example, consider Exhibit 2-7, which
shows the annual sales pattern for Company G. Notice that peak sales occur each year in
January, while the lowest sales volume occurs in June. A company that sells ski equip-
ment might have such a sales pattern. If Company G were to report on a calendar-year
basis, its financial reports would be prepared at about the time of peak yearly sales (i.e.,
the midpoint of the business cycle). Alternatively, a fiscal year that ended on June 30
would include a single complete annual business cycle. Many large retail chains have a
fiscal year-end that follows the peak Christmas selling season. For example, Wal-Mart's
year-end is January 31, which is after most of the returns and allowances related to those
sales have occurred. Fiscal-year reports that include an annual business cycle contain
information that is more easily comparable to past and future periods because annual
sales patterns are not broken by the reporting period.

EXHIBIT 2-7 Company G Annual Business Cycle
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In addition to annual reports, publicly traded companies issue financial statements
for interim (quarterly) periods. These interim periods are integral parts of the annual
period, and interim reports disclose summary information to provide investors with more
timely information.
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Monetary Unit (Assumption)

Since the time when gold and other precious metals were accepted in exchange for goods
and services, there has been a unit of exchange. This unit of exchange is different for
almost every nation. Accountants generally have adopted the national currency of the
reporting company as the unit of measure in preparing financial statements.

In using the dollar or any other currency as the unit of measure, accountants tradi-
tionally have assumed that it is a stable measuring unit. Prior to the FASB, accounting
policy-making bodies had felt that fluctuations in the value of the dollar were not a seri-
ous enough problem to affect the comparability of accounting information. Therefore,
any adjustment in the monetary unit assumption was not needed.

In today’s world the assumption that the dollar or any other national currency is a
stable measure over time is not necessarily valid. Consider the building you are now in. If
you were to measure its width in feet and inches today, next year, and five years from now,
an accurate physical measurement would yield the same results each time. In contrast,
consider the monetary value of the same building. Real estate prices have changed
(increased or decreased) during the past several years and undoubtedly will continue to
vary, resulting in changing monetary measures of value even though the physical capacity
remains the same.

There are two primary reasons for changes in reported values over time:

1. The real value of the item in question may change in relation to the real value of all
other goods and services in the economy.
2. The purchasing power of the measuring unit (in this case the dollar) may change.

Currently the dollar is considered to be a stable monetary unit for preparing a company’s
financial statements. As we mentioned earlier, however, to enhance comparability the
FASB encourages companies to make supplemental disclosures relating to the impacts of
changing prices.

Historical Cost (Principle)

The economic activities and resources of a company initially are measured using the
exchange price at the time each transaction occurs. For many economic resources, usually
the company retains the exchange price (the historical cost) in its accounting records as
the value of the resource until the company consumes or sells it and removes it from the
records. That is, a company usually delays recording gains and losses resulting from value
changes of assets (or liabilities) until another exchange occurs. The reason for using his-
torical cost (as opposed to other valuation methods such as current market value or
appraisal value) is that it is reliable, and that source documents usually are available to
confirm the recorded amount. Also, historical cost provides evidence that an independ-
ent buyer and seller were in agreement on the value of an exchanged good or service at
the time of the transaction and thus has the qualities of representational faithfulness,
neutrality, and verifiability.

One of the most frequently heard criticisms of accounting comes from those who pre-
fer alternative valuation methods that they believe would report information more rele-
vant for user decisions. Accountants understand that historical cost information may not
always be completely relevant for all decisions, but it does have a significant degree of
reliability. In certain cases accounting standards require the use of valuation methods other
than historical cost to report the fair value of selected items in the financial statements.
These methods are required when they provide more relevant information and possess an
acceptable degree of reliability.!® However, it is often felt that the measurement problems

10. See, for instance, “Fair Value Measurements,” FASB Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, 2004).
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inherent in alternative valuation methods are greater than those of historical cost. That is,
reliability often takes precedence over relevance. The FASB, however, understands the
significance of this relevance/reliability tradeoff and encourages companies to disclose
supplemental current value information in their annual reports. Also, you should under-
stand that when a company changes the values of its assets and liabilities the company
must include these value changes in its comprehensive income for the period. We discuss
valuation methods in Chapter 4.

LINK TO ETHICAL DILEMMA

You have been hired as an accounting consultant to review the financial report-
ing policies of Parker Company as it enters merger negotiations with an inter-
ested buyer. Of particular interest is the way in which Parker Company accounts
for its property, plant,and equipment. As rumors of possible mergers began
several years ago, the company’s management periodically began using inde-
pendent valuation experts to determine fair market values for the company’s net
assets. As a result of these analyses, management was able to determine that its
long-term productive assets had book values that were significantly less than
their market values. Citing the increased reliability provided by the valuation
experts, management decided to write the company’s assets up to market value
to provide investors and creditors with the most relevant information possible
and to be consistent with the FASB’s increasing use of fair value measurements.
Do you agree with this decision?

Recognition (Principle)

Recognition means the process of formally recording and reporting an item in the finan-
cial statements of a company. A recognized item is shown in both words and numbers,
with the amount included in the financial statement totals. The FASB has identified four
fundamental recognition criteria. To be recognized, an item must:

meet the definition of an element
be measurable

be relevant

be reliable

In regard to revenues, two other factors provide guidance for revenue recognition.
Revenues should be recognized when (1) realization has taken place, and (2) they have
been earned. These factors provide acceptable assurance of the existence and amounts of
revenues.

A company usually recognizes revenue at the time of sale because this is when realiza-
tion occurs and its earning process is substantially complete. Realization means the process
of converting noncash resources and rights into cash or rights to cash; that is, when the
company receives cash or obtains a receivable. Actually, revenue is earned by a company
throughout the earning process as it adds economic utility to goods. This earning process
includes acquisition, production and/or distribution, sales, and the collection and payment
of cash. A company could recognize revenue at one or more points in this process. In this
regard, the FASB suggests that revenues are considered to be earned when a company has
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substantially completed what it must do to be entitled to the benefits (i.e., assets) generated
by the revenues. Usually, this is the point of sale.!!

Occasionally a company may advance (accrue) or delay (defer) the recognition of
revenue in the earning process to increase the relevance of its income statement. Thus, a
company may not recognize (record) revenue at the same time as realization. A company
might recognize revenue (1) during production, (2) at the end of production, or (3) after
the sale. In the case of certain long-term construction contracts extending over more than
one accounting period, a company usually recognizes revenue during production to bet-
ter depict economic reality by the use of the percentage-of-completion method.
Similarly, revenue usually is recognized for certain long-term service contracts by use of
the proportional performance method. These methods allocate the revenues of each
contract to each period, based on an estimate of the percentage completed during the
period. We discuss these revenue recognition methods in Chapters 5 and 8.

A company might recognize revenue at the completion of production if there is a fixed
selling price and there is no limit on the amount that it can sell. This situation might be
the case for certain valuable minerals or for farm products sold on the futures market.
Finally, revenue may be recognized after the sale if the ultimate collectibility of the revenue
is highly uncertain. This situation might arise, for instance, in the case of real estate land
sales where a very small down payment is required and the payment terms extend over
many years. In situations of high uncertainty about collections, a company uses either the
installment or the cost-recovery method to recognize revenue. Under the installment
method, a portion of each receipt is recognized as revenue. Under the cost-recovery
method, no revenue is recognized until the cost of the product has been recovered.

Matching and Accrual Accounting (Principles)

Earlier, accrual accounting was defined as the process of relating the financial effects of
transactions, events, and circumstances having cash consequences to the period in which
they occur instead of to when the cash receipt or payment occurs. The matching principle
is linked closely to accrual accounting and to revenue recognition. The matching princi-
ple states that to determine the income of a company for an accounting period, the com-
pany computes the total expenses involved in obtaining the revenues of the period and
relates these total expenses to (matches them against) the total revenues recorded in the
period. Thus, some expenses are advanced (accrued) or delayed (deferred) in a manner
similar to revenues. The intent is to match the sacrifices against the benefits (i.e., the
efforts against the accomplishments) in the appropriate accounting period.

A company recognizes and matches expenses against revenues on the basis of three
principles:

e association of cause and effect
e systematic and rational allocation
e immediate recognition

Expenses recorded as a result of associating cause and effect include sales commissions
and the product costs included in cost of goods sold. Expenses recorded on the basis of
systematic and rational allocation include depreciation of property and equipment and
amortization of intangibles. Immediate recognition is appropriate for period costs—
those expenses related to a period of time, such as administrative salaries.!?

Some smaller companies do not use accrual accounting and matching. Instead they
use cash basis accounting for simplicity. In cash basis accounting, a company computes

11. “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” FASB Statement of
Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1984), par. 63 and 83.

12. “Elements of Financial Statements,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6 (Stamford,
Conn.: FASB, 1985), par. 146-149.
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its income for an accounting period by subtracting the cash payments from the cash
receipts from operations. While this method may be convenient to use, it can lead to
incorrect evaluations of a company’s operating results. This may happen because the
receipt and payment of cash may occur much earlier or later than the sale of goods or the
providing of services to customers (benefits) and the related costs (sacrifices). Because
cash basis accounting does not attempt to match expenses against revenues, it is not a
generally accepted accounting principle.

Conservatism (Principle)

The principle of conservatism states that when alternative accounting valuations are
equally possible, the accountant should select the one that is least likely to overstate the
company’s assets and income in the current period. Over the years conservatism gained
prominence because of the optimism of management and the tendency, during the first
three decades of the twentieth century, to overstate assets and net income on financial
statements. Recently, conservatism has been criticized for being “anticonservative” in the
years following the conservative act. That is, a deliberate understatement of an asset with
a corresponding loss and understatement of income in one year will result in an over-
statement of income in a later year when the asset is sold because of the greater difference
between the selling price and lower recorded value of the asset. Furthermore, conser-
vatism can conflict with qualitative characteristics such as neutrality. For instance, conser-
vative financial statements may be unfair to present stockholders and biased in favor of
future stockholders because the net valuation of the company does not include some
future expectations. This factor may result in a relatively lower current market price of the
company’s common stock. These criticisms notwithstanding, conservatism has played an
important role in the establishment of certain generally accepted accounting principles.

The FASB has attempted to modify the principle of conservatism so that it is more
synonymous with prudence. That is, conservatism should be a prudent reaction to uncer-
tainty so as to ensure, to the extent possible, that the uncertainties and risks inherent in
business situations are adequately considered. These uncertainties and risks should be
reflected in accounting information to improve its predictive value and neutrality.
Prudent reporting based on a healthy skepticism promotes integrity and best serves the
various users of financial reports.!3

GAAP AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As we noted in Chapter 1, generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) are the guide-
lines, procedures, and practices that a company is required to use in recording and reporting
its accounting information in its audited financial statements. In its Conceptual Framework,
the FASB has identified various sources from which investors, creditors, and other users
might obtain information useful in decision making. Exhibit 2-8 shows this model of
financial reporting. We discuss components of this model in Chapters 4, 5, and 23.
Conceptually, the FASB identified the four specific financial statements listed in
Exhibit 2-8. In practice, companies prepare at least three major financial statements:
(1) the balance sheet (statement of financial position), (2) the income statement, and
(3) the statement of cash flows. Many companies also prepare a statement of changes in
equity as a major financial statement (or in a note to the financial statements).!* In this
section we discuss briefly these financial statements and the elements of the financial

13.  FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2, op. cit., par. 95-97.

14. FEach company also must report its comprehensive income and may choose to do so on its income state-
ment, a statement of comprehensive income, or on its statement of changes in stockholders” equity. We
will discuss these alternatives in Chapter 5.

Define the
elements of
financial
statements.
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EXHIBIT 2-8  Sources of Information Used in External Decision Making
<% All Information Useful for Investment, Credit,and Similar Decisions >
< Financial Reporting >
<— Area Directly Affected by Existing FASB Standards ————>
<«——Basic Financial Statements ———>
<& Specific Statements >
Notes to
Financial Financial Statements Supplementary Other Means of Other
Statements (and Parenthetical Information Financial Reporting Information
Disclosures)
» Statement of Examples: Examples: Examples: Examples:
Financial Position » Accounting Policies | »Changing Prices » Management » Analyst Reports
» Statements of Net » Contingencies Disclosures (FASB Dlscus§|on and » Economic Statistics
Income and Com- Statement No. 89) Analysis i
prehensive Income | » Inventory Methods » Oil and Gas Reserves | » Letters to » News Article About
»Statement of Cash | » Number of Shares of | Information (FASB Stockholders Company
Flows Stock Outstanding Statement No. 69)
» Statement of
Investments by and
Distributions to
Owners

Adapted from diagram in “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” FASB Statement of Financial
Accounting Concepts No. 5 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1985), p. 5.

statements. The elements of each financial statement are the broad classes of items
comprising it. In other words, they are the “building blocks” with which each financial
statement is prepared.'> We discuss the financial statements and their elements in more
depth in later chapters.

Balance Sheet

A balance sheet (or statement of financial position) is a financial statement that summa-
rizes the financial position of a company on a particular date (usually the end of the
accounting period). The financial position of a company includes its economic resources,
economic obligations, and equity, and their relationships to each other. There are three
elements of a balance sheet:

1. Assets: Assets are the probable future economic benefits obtained and
controlled by a company as a result of past transactions or events.
Liabilities are the probable future sacrifices of economic benefits aris-
ing from present obligations of a company to transfer assets or pro-
vide services in the future as a result of past transactions or events.
Equity is the owners’ residual interest in the assets of a company that

remains after deducting its liabilities.

2. Liabilities:

3. Equity:

15. The discussion in this section primarily is a summary of that presented in “Elements of Financial
Statements of Business Enterprises,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concept No. 6 (Stamford,
Conn.: FASB, 1985) and “Statement of Cash Flows,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 95 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1987).
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In other words, the assets of a company are its economic resources, and the liabilities are
its economic obligations. The equity of a corporation is referred to as stockholders’ equity
because the owners are the stockholders.

Income Statement

An income statement is a financial statement that summarizes the results of a company’s
operations (i.e., net income) for a period of time (generally a one-year or one-quarter
accounting period). A company’s operations (sometimes called the earning process)
include its purchasing, producing, selling, delivering, servicing, and administrating activ-
ities. There are four elements of an income statement:

1. Revenues: Revenues are inflows of assets of a company or settlement of its lia-
bilities (or a combination of both) during a period from delivering or
producing goods, rendering services, or other activities that are the
company’s ongoing major or central operations. Revenues increase
the equity of a company.

2. Expenses: Expenses are outflows of assets of a company or incurrences of liabil-
ities (or a combination of both) during a period from delivering or
producing goods, rendering services, or carrying out other activities
that are the company’s ongoing major or central operations.
Expenses decrease the equity of a company.

3. Gains: Gains are increases in the equity of a company from peripheral or inci-
dental transactions, and from all other events and circumstances during a
period, except those that result from revenues or investments by owners.

4. Losses: Losses are decreases in the equity of a company from peripheral or
incidental transactions, and from all other events and circumstances
during a period, except those that result from expenses or distribu-
tions to owners.

Revenues may be thought of as measures of the accomplishments of a company during
its accounting period, while expenses are measures of the efforts to achieve the revenues.
Gains are similar to revenues and losses are similar to expenses, except that revenues and
expenses relate to a company’s primary operations, while gains and losses relate to its sec-
ondary activities.

Statement of Cash Flows

A statement of cash flows is a financial statement that summarizes the cash inflows and
outflows of a company for a period of time (generally one year or one quarter). There are
three elements of a statement of cash flows:

1. Operating Cash Flows:  Operating cash flows are the inflows and outflows of
cash from acquiring, selling, and delivering goods for
sale, as well as providing services.

2. Investing Cash Flows: Investing cash flows are the inflows and outflows of
cash from acquiring and selling investments, property,
plant, and equipment, and intangibles, as well as from
lending money and collecting on loans.

3. Financing Cash Flows:  Financing cash flows are the inflows and outflows of
cash from obtaining resources from owners and paying
them dividends, as well as obtaining and repaying
resources from creditors on long-term credit.

In addition to these three elements, the statement of cash flows reconciles the amount of cash
a company reports on its balance sheets at the beginning and end of the accounting period.
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Statement of Changes in Equity

A statement of changes in equity summarizes the changes in a company’s equity for a
period of time (generally one year or one quarter). For a corporation, the statement is
called the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity. There are two elements in a state-
ment of changes in equity:

1. Investments by Owners:  Investments by owners are increases in the equity of a
company resulting from transfers of something valu-
able (usually cash) to the company in order to obtain
or increase ownership interests.

2. Distributions to Owners: Distributions to owners are decreases in the equity of
a company caused by transferring assets, rendering
services, or incurring liabilities.

In addition to these elements, the statement of changes in equity also reconciles the
amounts of the equity items a company reports on its beginning and ending balance
sheets for such items as net income and other comprehensive income.

Model of Business Reporting

The AICPA Special Committee on Financial Reporting issued a report that addressed con-
cerns about the relevance and usefulness of reporting by companies. In this report the
committee developed a comprehensive model of business reporting—the information that
a company provides to help users with capital allocation decisions about the company.
The model was designed to help focus attention on a broader, integrated range of infor-
mation than that addressed in the FASB’s conceptual framework. The goal was to provide
the foundation for future improvement in business reporting. The model includes 10
items within five categories of information. These categories are designed to fit the deci-
sion processes of users to make projections, value companies, or assess the likelihood of
loan repayments. The framework of the model is as follows:

1. Financial and nonfinancial data including (a) financial statements and related dis-
closures and (b) high-level operating data and performance measurements that a
company’s management uses to manage the business.

2. Management’s analysis of the financial and nonfinancial data, including (a) reasons for
changes in the financial, operating, and performance-related data and (b) the iden-
tity and past effect of key trends.

3. Forward-looking information, including (a) the assessment of opportunities and
risks, including those resulting from key trends, (b) management’s plans, including
critical success factors, and (c) a comparison of actual business performance to pre-
viously disclosed opportunities, risk, and management’s plans.

4. Information about management and shareholders, including (a) directors, manage-
ment, compensation, and major shareholders and (b) transactions and relation-
ships among related parties.

5. Background about the company, including (a) broad objectives and strategies,
(b) scope and description of the company’s business and properties, and (c) the
impact of industry structure on the company.

The model is responsive to users’ needs, but includes practical constraints to balance the
costs and benefits of reporting. Since the AICPA committee is not a standard-setting body,
the model is a recommendation to standard setters who have an interest in improving the
cost-effective quality of business reporting.'® We discuss components of this model in
Chapters 4, 5, and 6.

16. “Improving Business Reporting—A Customer Focus,” AICPA Special Committee on Financial Reporting
(New York: AICPA, 1994), pp. 2-9.
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@ SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 2-3

e Four basic assumptions underlie GAAP. These are:
= The entity assumption, which relates economic activities to a particular economic
entity;
= The continuity (going concern) assumption, which states that with no evidence
to the contrary,a company will continue to operate in the near future;
= The period of time assumption which allows the life of a company to be
divided into artificial time periods and serves as the basis for the adjusting entry
process; and
= The monetary unit assumption, which requires financial statement elements to be
expressed in terms of the dollar.
e Four broad principles have greatly influenced the development of GAAP. These are:
= The historical cost principle, which provides highly reliable, although not always the
most relevant, information by measuring economic activities at their historical
exchange price;
= The recognition principle, which determines when an item is to be reported in the
financial statements (revenue recognition usually occurs when revenue is realized
and the earnings process is complete);
= The matching principle, which applies accrual accounting by stating that expenses
should be recognized in the same period as the related revenues; and
= The conservatism principle, which states that when given alternative accounting
valuations, the accountant should select the one that is least likely to overstate cur-
rent period assets and income.
e The FASB identified four basic financial statements (the balance sheet, the income state-
ment, the statement of cash flows, and the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity)
as sources of useful information.

Credit: Michael Reynolds/EPA/Landov
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IASB FRAMEWORK

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has issued a Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements that is similar, in many respects,
to the FASB Conceptual Framework.

The IASB Framework states that the objective of financial statements is to provide infor-
mation about the financial position, performance, and changes in financial position of a
company that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions. The
Framework has two underlying assumptions; that a company is a going concern and uses
accrual accounting. It identifies four qualitative characteristics of financial statements—
understandability, relevance (including materiality), reliability (including faithful presenta-
tion, substance over form, neutrality, prudence, and completeness), and comparability.
Three constraints on relevant and reliable information are identified; they include timeli-
ness, balance between benefit and cost, and balance between the qualitative characteristics.
The Framework calls for financial statements that present a true and fair view of the com-
pany and a fair presentation of the company’s activities.

The TASB Framework identifies and defines the elements of a statement of financial
position (i.e., assets, liabilities, and equity) and a statement of performance (i.e., income
and expenses). It also discusses conceptual issues dealing with the recognition of the
elements of financial statements, measurement of the elements, and concepts of capital
and capital maintenance.

The IASB Framework is designed (1) to help the Board in developing future
International Accounting Standards and reviewing existing Standards and (2) to promote
the harmonization of regulations, accounting standards, and accounting procedures
regarding the preparation of financial statements.!”

In 2004, the FASB and the IASB added to their respective agendas a project to develop
a common conceptual framework that is based on, and builds on, their existing frame-
works. The Boards will focus on issues that are more likely to yield near term standard-
setting benefits and cut across several current standard-setting projects. Issues relating to
the definitions of assets and liabilities, historical cost versus fair value measurements, and
relevance versus reliability will all be key concerns as the conceptual framework project
progresses. In addition to promoting international harmonization of future accounting
standards, the end result of this project should provide a more consistent and unified set
of concepts that will result in accounting standards that are principles-based.

OVERVIEW

We discuss the financial statements and their elements, as they fit into the FASB’s model
of financial reporting and the AICPA’s model of business reporting in depth in the later
chapters of this book. In addition, we discuss supplementary schedules and notes to the
financial statements, along with various recognition and measurement issues. As you
read the discussions, it may be helpful for you to place them in the context of the FASB
Conceptual Framework as we summarized in Exhibit 2-6, as well as the financial reporting
environment as we summarize in Exhibit 2-9.

17. For further discussion, go to International Accounting Reporting Standards (London: IASCE, 2004 ).
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EXHIBIT 2-9  Financial Reporting Environment (Major Activities)

Sociopolitical | Accounting | Accounting % Cha?;éfg:;;?j;iﬁtﬁt':; ns
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At the beginning of the chapter, we identified several objectives you would accomplish after reading the chapter. The objec-
tives are listed below, each followed by a brief summary of the key points in the chapter discussion.

1.

Explain the FASB conceptual framework. The FASB conceptual framework is a theoretical foundation of interrelated
objectives and concepts that leads to the establishment of consistent financial accounting standards. It provides a logical
structure and direction to financial accounting and reporting.

Understand the relationship among the objectives of financial reporting. The FASB conceptual framework consists of
four levels of objectives that proceed from the more general to the more specific. The top level is the general objective of
financial reporting, the next level is the derived external user objective, the third level is the derived company objective,
and the final level includes the specific objectives.

Identify the general objective of financial reporting. The general objective states that financial reporting should provide
useful information for present and potential investors, creditors, and other external users in making their investment,
credit, and similar decisions.

Describe the three specific objectives of financial reporting. The three specific objectives are to provide information about
a company’s: (1) economic resources, obligations, and owners’ equity; (2) comprehensive income and its components; and
(3) cash flows.
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5. Discuss the types of useful information for investment and credit decision making. For investment and credit decision
making, a company’s financial reports should provide useful information about its return on investment, risk, financial flexi-
bility, liquidity, and operating capability.

6. Explain the qualities of useful accounting information. Accounting information should be understandable and have
decision usefulness. The two primary decision-specific qualities are relevance and reliability. To be relevant, accounting
information must have predictive value, feedback value, and timeliness. To be reliable, it must have verifiability, repre-
sentational faithfulness, and neutrality. In addition, accounting information should be comparable and consistent. Two
constraints in preparing and reporting accounting information are that the benefits must be greater than the costs of
preparing the information and that the information must be material.

7. Understand the accounting assumptions and principles that influence GAAP. Certain assumptions and principles play
an important role in the development of GAAP. These include the entity, continuity (going-concern), accounting period,
historical cost, monetary unit, recognition and realization, accrual accounting and matching, and conservatism (pru-
dence) assumptions and principles.

8. Define the elements of financial statements. The elements of each financial statement are the broad classes of items com-
prising it. For a balance sheet, the elements are assets, liabilities, and equity. For an income statement, they are revenues,
expenses, gains, and losses. For a statement of cash flows, they are operating, investing, and financing cash flows. For a state-
ment of changes in equity, they are investments by and distributions to owners.

QUESTIONS

Q2-1  What is the “conceptual framework” of the FASB?  Q2-12 What is the continuity assumption and why is it
What are the titles of the Statements of Concepts issued by important in financial accounting?

?
the FASB? 0Q2-13 What is the period-of-time assumption and why is

Q2-2 What is the most general objective of financial it important in financial accounting?

reporting? Who are investors and creditors? . . . -
P J Q2-14 Discuss the relationship between historical cost

0Q2-3  What is the “derived external user objective” and  and reliability.

why is it important? . .. . ..
Y P Q2-15 What is recognition? What is realization? What two

Q2-4  What is the “derived company objective” and what  factors provide guidance for revenue recognition? Why is
types of information about a company should be reported to  revenue usually recognized at the time of sale?

satisfy this objective? . . .
fy ) 02-16 What is accrual accounting and how does it relate

Q2-5  List the reasons why external users use information  to the matching principle?
about a company’s (a) economic resources and claims to
these resources, (b) comprehensive income and its compo-
nents, and (c) cash flows.

Q2-17 List the three principles for matching expenses
against revenues.

02-18 What is conservatism and how might it conflict

Q2-6  Define (a) return on investment, (b) risk, (c) finan- with neutrality?

cial flexibility, (d) liquidity, and (e) operating capability.

Q2-7  What is the overall qualitative characteristic of useful Q2-19  Define a balance sheet and list its three elements.

accounting information and what are its two primary qualities? Q2-20 Define an income statement and list its four

Q2-8 What is relevant accounting information? elements.

Identify and define the ingredients of relevant accounting Q2-21 Define a statement of cash flows and list its three
information. elements.

Q2-9  What is reliable accounting information? Identify Q2-22 Define a statement of changes in equity and list its
and define the ingredients of reliable accounting information.  two elements.

Q2-10 Identify the secondary quality of useful accounting  Q2-23 For the IASB Framework, list the objective of finan-
information. Why is this important and how does it relate to  cial statements and identify the underlying assumptions,
consistency? qualitative characteristics, and constraints.

Q2-11 What is materiality and how does it relate to
relevance?
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MuLTIPLE CHOICE (AICPA Adapted)

Select the best answer for each of the following.

M2-1  Accruing net losses on non-cancelable purchase
commitments for inventory is an example of the accounting
concept of

a. Conservatism
b. Realization

c. Consistency
d. Materiality

M2-2  The information provided by financial reporting

pertains to

a. Individual companies, rather than to industries or the econ-
omy as a whole or to members of society as consumers.

b. Individual companies and industries, rather than to the
economy as a whole or to members of society as
consumers.

¢. Individual companies and the economy as a whole, rather
than to industries or to members of society as consumers.

d. Individual companies, industries, and the economy as a
whole, rather than to members of society as consumers.

M2-3  According to Statement of Financial Accounting
Concepts No. 2, an interim earnings report is expected to
have which of the following?

Predictive Feedback
value value
a. No No
b. Yes Yes
C. Yes No
d. No Yes
M2-4 A patent, purchased in 2004 and being amortized

over a 10-year life, was determined to be worthless in 2007.
The write-off of the asset in 2007 is an example of which of
the following principles?
a. Associating cause

and effect
b. Immediate recognition

c. Systematic and
rational allocation
d. Objectivity

CASES

M2-5  An accrued expense is an expense

a. Incurred but not paid c. Paid but not incurred

b. Incurred and paid d. Not reasonably
estimable

M2-6  Which of the following accounting concepts states
that an accounting transaction should be supported by suffi-
cient evidence to allow two or more qualified individuals to
arrive at essentially similar measures and conclusions?

a. Matching c. Periodicity
b. Verifiability d. Stable monetary unit
M2-7  Which of the following is considered a pervasive con-

straint by Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2?
a. Benefits/costs c. Timeliness
b. Conservatism d. Verifiability

M2-8 The valuation of a promise to receive cash in the
future at present value on the financial statements of a com-
pany is valid because of the accounting concept of

a. Entity c. Going concern
b. Materiality d. Neutrality
M2-9 Under Statements of Financial Accounting

Concepts No. 2, which of the following relates to both rele-
vance and reliability?
a. Timeliness
b. Neutrality

c. Feedback value
d. Consistency

M2-10 Under Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts
No. 6, which of the following, in the most precise sense, means
the process of converting noncash resources and rights into
cash or claims to cash?
a. Allocation

b. Recordation

c. Recognition
d. Realization

COMMUNICATION

C2-1 Qualitative Characteristics

In FASB Statement of Concepts No. 2, several qualitative char-
acteristics of useful accounting information were identified.
The following is a list of these qualities as well as a list of
statements describing the qualities.

C. Relevance
D. Reliability

A. Comparability
B. Decision usefulness

E. Predictive value
F Feedback value
G. Timeliness

H. Verifiability

I. Neutrality

J. Representational
faithfulness

K. Consistency

L. Materiality
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1. Ability of measurers to form a consensus that the
selected accounting method has been used with-
out error or bias.

2. Making information available to decision makers

before it loses its capacity to influence decisions.

___ 3. Capacity to make a difference in a decision.
4. Overall qualitative characteristic.
_____ 5. Absence of bias intended to influence behavior
in a particular direction.
_____ 6. Reasonably free from error and bias.
____ 7. Helps decision makers forecast correctly.
__ 8. Validity.
___ 9. Interactive quality; helps explain similarities and

differences between two sets of facts.

10. Quantitative “threshold” constraint.

11. Conformity from period to period.

12. Helps decision makers confirm or correct prior
expectations.

Required
Place the appropriate letter identifying each quality on the
line in front of the statement describing the quality.

C2-2 Accounting Assumptions and Principles
Certain accounting assumptions and principles have had an
important impact on the development of generally accepted
accounting principles. The following is a list of these
assumptions and principles as well as a list of statements
describing certain accounting practices.

A. Entity

B. Continuity
C. Period of time
D. Historical cost

E. Monetary unit
F. Realization
G. Matching

H. Conservatism

1. The business, rather than its owners, is the
reporting unit.

2. Depreciation costs are expensed in the periods

of use rather than at the time the asset is

acquired.

Accounting measurements are reported in dollars.

The year is the normal reporting unit.

5. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, the
business will operate long enough to carry out
its existing commitments.

__ 6. Revenue is usually recognized at the time of sale.

__ 7. Exchange price is retained in the accounting

W

records.
8. An accounting alternative is selected that is least
likely to overstate assets and income.

Required

Select the accounting assumption or principle that justifies
each accounting practice and place the appropriate letter on
the line preceding the statement.

C2-3 Objectives of Financial Reporting

The FASB has identified several objectives of financial
reporting. These objectives proceed from the more general
to the more specific and are intended to act as guidelines for
providing accounting information in financial reports.

Required

Starting with the most general objective, prepare a written
report that identifies and briefly explains the objectives of
financial reporting.

C2-4 Qualities of Useful Accounting

Information

A friend of yours, who is not an accounting major, is con-
cerned about the “usefulness” of accounting information.
The friend states: “I have watched you prepare many finan-
cial statements in completing your homework assignments.
But how do you determine whether the information in these
financial statements is useful? What are the characteristics or
qualities of useful accounting information?”

Required

Prepare a written response for your friend that identifies and
explains the qualitative characteristics of useful accounting
information.

C2-5 Cost and Expense Recognition
AICPA An accountant must be familiar

with the concepts involved in determining earnings of a
company. The amount of earnings reported for a company is
dependent on the proper recognition, in general, of revenue
and expense for a given time period. In some situations costs
are recognized as expenses at the time of product sale; in
other situations guidelines have been developed for recog-
nizing costs as expenses or losses by other criteria.

Required

1. Explain the rationale for recognizing costs as expenses at
the time of product sale.

2. What is the rationale underlying the appropriateness of
treating costs as expenses of a period instead of assigning
the costs to an asset? Explain.

3. Some expenses are assigned to specific accounting peri-
ods on the basis of systematic and rational allocation of
asset cost. Explain the underlying rationale for recogniz-
ing expenses on this basis.

C2-6 Characteristics of Useful Information
CMA A Financial accounting and reporting

provide information that is used in decision making regarding
the allocation of resources. In Statement of Financial
Accounting Concepts No. 1, “Objectives of Financial Reporting
by Business Enterprises,” the FASB defined the following basic
objectives of financial reporting:

Financial reporting should provide understandable infor-

mation to present and potential users:

e That is useful in making rational decisions.

e That facilitates assessing the amounts, timing, and
uncertainty related to the company’s cash flows.

e About the company’s economic resources, its claims
to those resources, and the changes in its resources
and obligations occurring from earnings and other
operating activities.



The qualitative characteristics of useful accounting informa-
tion were identified in the FASB’s Statement of Financial
Accounting Concepts No. 2, “Qualitative Characteristics of
Accounting Information.” These characteristics distinguish
better information (more useful) from inferior information
(less useful).

Required
1. For the primary quality relevance,
a. define relevance
b. explain the meaning and importance of each of the
three ingredients of relevance
2. For the primary quality reliability,
a. define reliability
b. explain the meaning and importance of each of the
three ingredients of reliability
3. Explain the concepts of
a. comparability
b. consistency
c. materiality

C2-7 Objectives, Users, and Stewardship
CMA A The owners of CSC Inc., a privately

held company, are considering a public offering of the com-
pany’s common stock as a means of acquiring additional
funds. Prior to making a decision about a public offering, the
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owners had a lengthy conversation with John Duncan, CSC's
chief financial officer. Duncan informed the owners of the
reporting requirements of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, including the necessity for audited financial
statements. At the request of the owners, Duncan also dis-
cussed the objectives of financial reporting, the sophistication
of users of financial information, and the stewardship respon-
sibilities of management, all of which are addressed in
Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 1,
“Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises.”

Required

1. Discuss the primary objectives of financial reporting.

2. Describe the level of sophistication that can be expected
of the users of financial information.

3. Explain the stewardship responsibilities of management.

C2-8 Segment Reporting

The FASB requires that a company organized in different
“operating segments” disclose the revenues, profits, and
assets of each of its major operating segments.

Required

Prepare a short memo that briefly explains what types of use-
ful information for investment decision making is provided
by requiring these disclosures.

CREATIVE AND CRITICAL THINKING

C2-9 Relevance versus Reliability

You are listening to two accounting majors, both of whom
are seniors. They are debating the merits of having relevant
versus reliable accounting information for external decision
making. One student states: “In my decision making, if given
a choice between relevant and reliable accounting informa-
tion, I would prefer to have relevant information.” The other
student replies: “Nonsense! If you cannot rely on the infor-
mation, then of what use is it?”

Required

Based on your knowledge of the FASB's conceptual frame-
work, define the qualitative characteristics of relevance and
reliability. Include definitions of the ingredients of each.
Which do you think is more important?

C2-10 Inconsistent Statements on Accounting
Principles

The following two statements
have been taken directly or with some modification from the
accounting literature. Each of them is either taken out of
context, involves circular reasoning, and/or contains one or
more fallacies, half-truths, erroneous comments, conclu-
sions, or inconsistencies (internally or with generally
accepted principles or practices).

Statement 1 Accounting is a service activity. Its function is to
provide quantitative financial information that is intended

to be useful in making economic decisions about and for
economic entities. Thus the accounting function might be
viewed primarily as being a tool or device for providing
quantitative financial information to management to facili-
tate decision making.

Statement 2 Financial statements that were developed in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
which apply the conservatism convention, can be free from
bias (or can give a presentation that is fair with respect to
continuing and prospective stockholders as well as to retir-
ing stockholders).

Required

Evaluate each of the preceding numbered statements as follows:

1. List the fallacies, half-truths, circular reasoning, erro-
neous comments or conclusions, and/or inconsistencies.

2. Explain by what authority and/or on what basis each
item listed in (1) can be considered to be fallacious, cir-
cular, inconsistent, a half-truth, or an erroneous com-
ment or conclusion. If the statement or a portion of it is
merely out of context, indicate the context(s) in which
the statement would be correct.

C2-11 Accounting Entity
AICPA The concept of the accounting

entity often is considered to be the most fundamental of
accounting concepts, one that pervades all of accounting.
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Required

1. a. What is an accounting entity? Explain.

b. Explain why the accounting entity concept is so fun-
damental that it pervades all of accounting.

2. For each of the following indicate whether the account-
ing concept of entity is applicable; discuss and give
illustrations.

a. A unit created by or under law

b. The product-line operating segment of an enterprise

c. A combination of legal units and/or product-line oper-
ating segments

. All of the activities of an owner or a group of owners

An industry
f. The economy of the United States

n oo

C2-12 Timing of Revenue Recognition

Revenue usually is recognized at
the point of sale. Under special circumstances, however,
bases other than the point of sale are used for the timing of
revenue recognition.

Required

1. Why is the point of sale usually used as the basis for the
timing of revenue recognition?

2. Disregarding the special circumstances when bases other
than the point of sale are used, discuss the merits of each
of the following objections to the sales basis of revenue
recognition:

a. It is too conservative because revenue is earned
throughout the entire process of production.

b. It is not conservative enough because accounts receiv-
able do not represent disposable funds; sales returns
and allowances may be made; and collection and bad
debt expenses may be incurred in a later period.

3. Revenue may also be recognized (a) during production
and (b) when cash is received. For each of these two bases
of timing revenue recognition, give an example of the cir-
cumstances in which it is properly used and discuss the
accounting merits of its use in lieu of the sales basis.

C2-13 Accruals and Deferrals
AICPA Generally accepted accounting

principles require the use of accruals and deferrals in the
determination of income.

Required

1. How does accrual accounting affect the determination of
income? Include in your discussion what constitutes an
accrual and a deferral, and give appropriate examples
of each.

2. Contrast accrual accounting with cash accounting.

C2-14 Revenue Recognition

The following are brief descriptions of several companies in

different lines of business.

A. Company A is a construction company. It has recently
signed a contract to build a highway over a three-year
period. A down payment was collected; the remaining

collections will occur periodically over the construction
period based upon the degree of completion.

B. Company B is a retailer. It makes sales on a daily basis
for cash and on credit cards.

C. Company C is a health spa. It has recently signed con-
tracts with numerous individuals to use its facilities over
a two-year period. The contract price was collected in
advance.

D. Company D is a land development company. It has
recently begun developing a “retirement community” and
has sold lots to senior citizens. The sales contract requires
a small down payment and periodic payments until com-
pletion of the roads and a clubhouse, after which the
remainder of the purchase price is due. Prior to this point,
a purchaser may cancel the contract and receive a refund
of all payments.

Required

Describe when revenue should be recognized by each com-
pany. If revenue should not be recognized at the time of sale,
indicate what method should be used to recognize the rev-
enue. Justify your decision.

C2-15 Violations of Assumptions and

Principles

The following are accounting procedures and practices used

by several companies.

A. As soon as it purchases inventory, Sokolich Company
records the purchase price as cost of goods sold to sim-
plify its accounting procedures.

B. At the end of each year Sloan Company records and
reports its economic resources based on appraisal values.

C. Ebert Company prepares financial statements only every
two years to reduce its costs of preparing the statements.

D. Guthrie Company sells on credit and records revenue at
that time, even though it knows that collection is highly
uncertain and very significant efforts have to be made to
collect the accounts.

E. Because of inflation, Cross Company adjusts its financial
statements each year to show the current purchasing
power for all items.

E  David Thomas combines his personal transactions and
business transactions when he prepares his company’s
financial statements so that he can tell how well he is
doing on an “overall” basis.

G. At the end of each year Vann Company reports its eco-
nomic resources on a liquidation basis even though it is
likely to operate in the future.

Required

Identify what accounting assumption or principle each pro-
cedure or practice violates, and indicate what should be
done to rectify the violation.

C2-16 Conceptual Framework
CMA Ac The Financial Accounting Standards

Board has developed a conceptual framework for financial
accounting and reporting. The FASB has issued 7 Statements
of Financial Accounting Concepts. These statements set



forth objectives and fundamentals that will be the basis for
developing financial accounting and reporting standards.
The objectives identify the goals and purposes of financial
reporting. The fundamentals are the underlying concepts of
financial accounting concepts that guide the selection of
transactions, events, and circumstances to be accounted for;
their recognition and measurement; and the means of sum-
marizing and communicating them to interested parties.
The purpose of Statement of Financial Accounting
Concepts No. 2, “Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting
Information,” is to examine the characteristics that make
accounting information useful. The characteristics or quali-
ties of information discussed in Concepts No. 2 are the ingre-
dients that make information useful and are the qualities to
be sought when accounting choices are made.

Required

1. Identify and discuss the benefits which can be expected to
be derived from the FASB’s conceptual framework study.

2. What is the most important quality for accounting infor-
mation as identified in Statement of Financial
Accounting Concepts No. 2? Explain why it is the most
important.

3. Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2
describes a number of key characteristics or qualities for
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accounting information. Briefly discuss the importance
of understandability, relevance, and reliability for finan-
cial reporting purposes.

C2-17 Ethics and Income Reporting
You have been hired as an “accounting consult-
ant” by Watson Company to evaluate its finan-
cial reporting policies. Watson is a small
corporation with a few stockholders owning stock that is not
publicly traded. In a discussion with you, Chris Watson, the
company president, says “For the Watson Company’s annual
income statement, it is our policy to always record and
report revenues when we collect the cash and to record and
report expenses when we pay the cash. I like this approach
and I think our stockholders and creditors do too. This pol-
icy results in income that is reliable and conservative, which
is the way accounting should be. Besides, it is easy to keep
track of our income. All I need are the receipts and payments
recorded in the company’s checkbook.”

Required
From financial reporting and ethical perspectives, how
would you reply to Chris?
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After reading this chapter,
you will be able to:
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Understand the com-
ponents of an account-
ing system.

Know the major steps

in the accounting cycle.

Prepare journal entries
in the general journal.

Post to the general
ledger and prepare a
trial balance.

Prepare adjusting
entries.

Prepare financial
statements.

Prepare closing entries.

Complete a worksheet
(spreadsheet).

Prepare reversing
entries.

Use subsidiary ledgers.

Understand special
journals.

Convert cash-basis
financial statements to
accrual-basis
(Appendix).
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Review of a Company's
Accounting System

Houston, We Have a Problem!

Maintaining an accounting information system is essential to
ensuring that economic transactions and financial information
are properly entered into the accounting records and that finan-
cial reports are prepared in an accurate and timely fashion. The
consequences of a dysfunctional accounting system can lead to
widespread organizational problems. For example, at NASA,
problems with the implementation of an enterprise-wide
accounting system were blamed for more than $565 billion of
inadequately documented year-end adjustments. A 2003
Government Accounting Office (GAO) report indicated that the
existing accounting system impaired NASA's ability to collect,
maintain, and report the full costs of its projects and programs.
Further, the GAO noted that NASA’s accounting system could not
provide adequate cost data for planning purposes nor did it
enable effective monitoring of work performed. Instances such
as this illustrate the critical need of a well-functioning accounting
system as an ingredient to any successful business endeavor.

In addition to organizational problems caused by sloppy
bookkeeping, well-known cases such as Enron, WorldCom, and
HealthSouth have shown how inadequate controls over
accounting systems can result in massive financial frauds. To
address these concerns, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
requires management to take responsibility for establishing and

maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting



Credit: ©Getty Images/PhotoDisc

as well as providing an assessment of the effectiveness

of the internal controls. The existence of effective
internal controls over financial reporting, coupled with
independent verification of these controls, should
reduce the probability of accounting irregularities
occurring while improving transparency of the finan-
cial reporting process. A 2004 survey by Financial
Executives International (FEI) estimates that first-year
compliance costs with Section 404 will average

$4.6 million and 35,000 hours of internal manpower for
each of the largest U.S. companies. While the costs and
benefits of the internal control reporting responsibili-

ties are controversial, one goal of these new regula-

FOR FURTHER
INVESTIGATION

For a discussion of the effects of

Sarbanes-Oxley Act on the account-

ing profession, consult the Business &

Company Resource Center (BCRC):

® Revenge of the Bean Counters: No
longer frail in the face of fraud,
accounting firms are thriving on
new laws that give them real clout.
Daren Fonda, Time, 0040-781X,
March 29,2004,v163,i13, p38.

tions is to ensure that each company’s accounting system produces relevant and reliable

financial reports.
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1 Understand the
components of
an accounting
system.

A primary objective of financial reporting is to provide information that is useful to pres-
ent and potential investors, and to creditors and other users in making rational invest-
ment, credit, and similar decisions.! A company provides this information in its financial
statements and the accompanying notes. These statements are the result of the company’s
financial accounting process, which we discuss throughout this book. To understand
financial accounting, you need to be familiar with the accounting system that a company
uses to accumulate the information in its financial statements. This system is the topic of
this chapter.

THE ACCOUNTING SYSTEM

A major purpose of a company’s accounting system is to provide useful information to
both external users and to the company’s managers for making operating decisions.
Many transactions result in important financial and managerial accounting information.
An accounting system is the means by which a company records and stores the finan-
cial and managerial information from its transactions so that it can retrieve and
report the information in an accounting statement. All companies have accounting sys-
tems, ranging from the very simple, such as a checkbook, to the very complex, involving
the use of networked computers.

In this chapter we present the basics of a financial accounting system that a company
can use in either a manual or a computer accounting process. For convenience, our dis-
cussion is primarily in terms of a manual system. The components of an accounting sys-
tem include (1) the framework for operation of the system, (2) the input source
documents, (3) the records used to store accounting information, and (4) the output
reports. We discuss each of these components in later sections.

Accounting Equation

The steps in a company’s accounting system include:

¢ identifying the events occurring within its economic environment that are financial
transactions,

e gathering the documents related to these transactions,

e analyzing the documents to determine the relevant financial information to be
recorded,

e recording the financial information, and

e storing this information for future retrieval and use.

" A basic accounting model provides a framework for the accounting system and is the

basis for recording transactions. This model for a corporation, called the residual equity
theory model, is usually expressed in an equation as follows:

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity

where assets are the corporation’s economic resources, liabilities are its obligations owed
to creditors, and stockholders’ equity is the owners’ residual interest in its assets. This
equation must remain in balance at all times because each side presents a different “pic-
ture” of the same information. That is, the left side summarizes the corporation’s eco-
nomic resources while the right side summarizes the sources of (or claims to) the
economic resources. Other equations related to information wanted by external users
evolve from this basic equation. We show these interrelated equations in Exhibit 3-1.

1.  “Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting
Concepts No. 1 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1978), par. 34.
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EXHIBIT 3-1 Interrelated Accounting Equations

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity

Stockholders’ Equity = Contributed Capital + Retained Earnings

Retained Earnings = Beginning Retained Earnings + NetIncome - Dividends

NetIncome = Revenues - Expenses

Contributed capital includes the amounts of stockholder investments resulting from
the sale of shares of stock by the corporation, while retained earnings is the lifetime
amount of net income reinvested in the corporation and not distributed to stockholders.?
Dividends (which are not expenses) are the amounts distributed to stockholders as a
return on their investment. Revenues are charges to customers for goods or services pro-
vided and expenses are the costs incurred by the corporation to provide the goods or
services.3

Transactions, Events, and Supporting Documents

For financial accounting purposes, a change in a company’s economic resources (assets),
obligations (liabilities), or residual interest (stockholders’ equity) may be caused by a
transaction or an event. A transaction involves the transfer of something valuable
between the company and another party. An event is a “happening” that affects the com-
pany. The event may be internal, such as using equipment in operations, or external, such
as a decline in the value of an asset. The company records the transactions and events
affecting its economic resources and obligations in its accounting system. The company
uses business documents, or source documents, relating to these transactions and events
as initial information for the recording process. These documents (such as sales invoices,
checks, and freight bills) normally contain information about the monetary amount to
be recorded, the parties involved, the terms of the transactions, and other relevant infor-
mation. After the company records a transaction or event, it stores the supporting source
documents to verify its accounting records.

Accounts

Within the accounting system, a company uses accounts to store the recorded mone-
tary information from its transactions and events. It keeps a separate account for each
asset, liability, revenue, expense, and other stockholders’ equity item. Examples of these
accounts include Cash, Accounts Receivable (amounts due from customers), Buildings,
Accounts Payable (amounts owed to suppliers), Mortgage Payable, Sales Revenue, Cost of
Goods Sold, Salaries Expense, Capital Stock, Retained Earnings, and Dividends
Distributed. The company assigns each account a number in its chart of accounts, a
numbering system designed to organize its accounts efficiently and to minimize errors in
the recording process.

2. A company may also have accumulated other comprehensive income which we discuss in Chapters 4 and 5.

3. In this chapter, for simplicity, we include gains (those revenues from other than the sale of goods or serv-
ices) in revenues and we include losses (those costs incurred that provide no revenues) in expenses.
Throughout the book, we discuss and classify gains and losses separately from revenues and expenses.
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An account can be in several physical forms. It might be a location on a computer
disk or a standardized business form in a manual system. A single logical format is used
for all accounts. The format for the accounts in a manual system is called a T-account. Each
T-account has a left (or debit) and a right (or credit) side for storing monetary informa-
tion. Since each account accumulates information about both increases and decreases
resulting from various transactions or events, there is a “double-entry” rule for recording
these changes. In the double-entry system, for each transaction or event that a com-
pany records, the total dollar amount of the debits entered in all the related accounts
must be equal to the total dollar amount of the credits.

The framework of an accounting system includes the accounts in the basic account-
ing equation as well as the double-entry system. In an accounting system, all accounts on
the left side of the equation (assets) are increased by debits (entries on the left side of the
accounts) and decreased by credits, while accounts on the right side of the equation (lia-
bilities and stockholders’ equity) are increased by credits (entries on the right side of the
accounts) and decreased by debits. The left side of Exhibit 3-2 shows this relationship.

EXHIBIT 3-2 Accounting Equation and Double-Entry System

Permanent Accounts Temporary Accounts
[ ] [ 1
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Asset Accounts Liability Accounts Capital Stock Accounts Revenue Accounts
(debit) | (credit)  (debit) (credit) (debit) (credit) (debit) (credit)
Increase | Decrease Decrease | Increase Decrease | Increase Decrease| Increase
+ - - + - + - +
Retained Earnings Expense Accounts
(debit) (credit) (debit) (credit)
Decrease | Increase Increase Decrease
Dividend Accounts
(debit) (credit)
Increase Decrease
+ -

For example, suppose that stockholders invest $20,000 in a corporation by purchas-
ing 2,000 shares of its no-par stock at $10 per share. The corporation records this transac-
tion as a debit (increase) of $20,000 to an asset account, Cash, and as a $20,000 credit
(increase) to a contributed capital account in stockholders’ equity, Capital Stock. Note
that the accounting equation remains in balance (both sides increase by $20,000) and
that the total debits equal the total credits.

Assets =  Liabilities @+  Stockholders’ Equity
Cash Capital Stock
(debit) (credit)
+ +
20,000 20,000

Accounts are classified as permanent (or real) accounts and temporary (or nominal)
accounts. The permanent accounts are the asset, liability, and stockholders’ equity
accounts whose balances at the end of the accounting period are carried forward into the
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next accounting period. The accounts on the far right of Exhibit 3-2, namely the revenue,
expense, and dividend accounts, are temporary accounts. They are “temporarily” used to
determine the changes in retained earnings that occur during an accounting period, and
their account balances are not carried forward into the next period. Exhibit 3-2 also shows
the rules for recording transactions in temporary accounts. Because an increase in rev-
enues causes an increase in retained earnings, the rules for recording transactions in rev-
enue accounts are the same as those for retained earnings. However, because an increase
in temporary accounts such as expenses and dividends causes a decrease in retained earn-
ings, the rules for recording transactions in these accounts are the opposite of those for
retained earnings.* For instance, since the payment of dividends reduces retained earn-
ings, an increase in a Dividend account is recorded as a debit.

Sometimes a company will use a contra (or negative) account to show a reduction in
a related account. The rules for increasing or decreasing a contra account are also exactly
the opposite of those for the related account. A contra account may be related to a perma-
nent account or to a temporary account. For instance, a company uses an Accumulated
Depreciation account to accumulate the depreciation recorded for Buildings. We illus-
trate contra accounts in a later section.

The balance of an account on a particular date is the difference between the total
debits and credits recorded in that account. A company uses these balances in the
preparation of its financial statements.

Financial Statements

A company’s financial statements are summary reports from its accounting system. These
statements are based on the interrelated equations presented earlier. As we introduced in
Chapter 2, the major financial statements of a company include (1) the income state-
ment, (2) the balance sheet (alternatively called the statement of financial position), and
(3) the statement of cash flows.> A company prepares its financial statements at the end
of each fiscal year, called the accounting period. The set of financial statements and
accompanying supporting schedules and notes, along with other information distributed
to the various external users, is called the company’s annual report. A company often
prepares financial statements for a shorter time period, such as three months. These are
called interim (or quarterly) statements.

The income statement summarizes the results of a company’s income-producing

activities for the accounting period. In the income statement, the company’s net income
is determined by subtracting the total expenses from the total revenues. A supporting
schedule (statement) is usually prepared to tie the income statement to the balance sheet.
The statement of retained earnings summarizes the amount of a company’s net
income retained in the business. This procedure involves adding the net income for the
period to the balance in the retained earnings account at the beginning of the period, and
subtracting the dividends distributed to stockholders.

The balance sheet summarizes the amounts of a company’s assets, liabilities, and
stockholders’ equity at the end of the accounting period. The stockholders’ equity sec-
tion includes the ending retained earnings balance from the statement of retained earn-
ings. The balance sheet is so named because it is an expansion of the basic accounting
equation, which always remains in balance. Because of the “linkage” between the income
statement, statement of retained earnings, and balance sheet due to net income and
retained earnings, these financial statements are said to be articulated. We illustrate these
statements later in Examples 3-5, 3-6, and 3-7.

4.  Since gains are similar to revenues and losses are similar to expenses, the rules for increasing these accounts
are the same as those for revenues and expenses, respectively.

5. Some companies also have a fourth major financial statement for reporting their “comprehensive
income.” We discuss this topic in Chapters 4 and 5.

Reporting
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2 Know the
major steps in
the accounting
cycle.

The third major statement, the statement of cash flows, summarizes a company’s
cash receipts and cash payments during the accounting period. We do not show it here
but briefly discuss it in Chapter 4 and more fully in Chapter 22. The statement of cash
flows articulates with the balance sheet because it reconciles the beginning cash balance
with the ending cash balance. We also discuss other supporting schedules, such as the
schedule of changes in stockholders’ equity and the schedule of investing and financing
activities not involving cash receipts or cash payments, in Chapters 4 and 22.

@ SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 3-1

® The framework of the financial accounting system is based on an equality between the
corporation’s resources (assets) and the claims on those resources (liabilities and
stockholders’ equity).

® The inputs to this accounting system are source documents that contain information
about transactions (internal or external) that affect a corporation’s economic resources
or obligations.

® The monetary information from transactions is recorded and stored in accounts so
that each transaction has a dual effect on the accounting system (debits equal credits).

® The output of a financial accounting system is the financial statements: the income
statement, the statement of retained earnings, the balance sheet, and the statement of
cash flows.

THE ACCOUNTING CYCLE

A company completes a series of steps during each accounting period to record, store,
and report the accounting information contained in its transactions. These steps are
referred to as the accounting cycle. The major steps include:

Record the daily transactions in a journal

Post the journal entries to the accounts in the ledger

Prepare and post adjusting entries

Prepare the financial statements

Prepare and post closing entries for the revenue, expense, and dividend accounts

Vi W e

We explain each of the steps in the accounting cycle in the following sections. We explain
the steps in terms of a manual accounting system, but most companies use a computer
system based on accounting software. This software follows the same procedures as a
manual system. We briefly discuss this software at the end of the chapter.

Before we discuss these steps, on the top of the next page we show a diagram so you can
see how accounting information from one transaction “flows through” a company’s account-
ing system. For simplicity, the diagram assumes the company purchases inventory of $100 on
credit, but has not yet sold or paid for the inventory by the end of the accounting period. You
can see that the accounting cycle starts with the company recording the transaction based on
the information in a source document (in this case, an invoice). The information is then
stored in the company’s accounts until needed. Finally, the cycle ends with reporting the
information on one of the company’s financial statements (in this case, its balance sheet).

Recording in the General Journal (Step 1)

A company initially records its transactions (and events) in a journal. A company could
record all its transactions in a single journal, called the general journal. We use a general
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Transaction Record in Store in Reports in
Journal Accounts Financial Statements
Inventory Balance Sheet
Invoice Inventory 100 100l Current Assets
$100 ™ Accounts Payable 100 ] L » [nventory $100
Accounts Payable Current Liabilities
100 —— Accounts Payable $100

journal in this chapter. However, many companies have a number of different special
journals, each designed to record a particular type of transaction. We briefly discuss spe-
cial journals in a later section of this chapter.

The general journal consists of a date column, a column to list the accounts affected by
each transaction, a column to list the account numbers (to save space, we do not use
account numbers in the subsequent comprehensive illustration), a debit column, and a
credit column to list the amounts recorded as a debit or credit to each account. Just below
each journal entry is a written explanation of the transaction. The process of recording the
transaction in the journal is called journalizing. The resulting entry is referred to as a
journal entry. We show a general journal in Example 3-2 later in this chapter. o

There are a number of advantages to using a general journal. First, it helps prevent
errors. Because the accounts and debit and credit amounts for each transaction are ini-
tially recorded on a single journal page, rather than directly in the numerous accounts, it
is easier to verify the equality of the debits and credits. Second, all the transactional infor-
mation (including the explanation) is recorded in one place, thereby providing a com-
plete “picture” of the transaction. This is especially useful during the auditing process, or
if an error is discovered later in the accounting cycle, because the general journal can be
reviewed to determine the nature of the transaction. Finally, since the transactions are
recorded as they occur, the journal provides a chronological record of the company’s

financial transactions. _

To show the entire accounting cycle, we present a comprehensive example throughout
this section. Dapple Corporation incorporates on January 1, 2007 as a wholesaler. It pur-
chases one product from suppliers and resells this inventory to commercial customers. It
opens for business on April 1, 2007. The company uses a perpetual inventory system.
Under a perpetual inventory system, the inventory account is updated each time the com-
pany makes a purchase or sale. When the company purchases inventory, it records the
increase (debit) directly in its Inventory account. When it makes a sale, it makes two jour-
nal entries. The first entry records the sales revenue at the retail price. The second entry
records an increase (debit) in the Cost of Goods Sold account (a major expense) and a
decrease (credit) in the Inventory account for the cost of the inventory.® During 2007, the
company engages in several transactions. Example 3-1 lists these transactions and an
analysis of the accounts and amounts to be debited and credited. This analysis is based on
a review of the related source documents. Some of these transactions are partially con-
densed and overly simplified so that we may show a variety of transactions.

Based on the transactional analysis listed in Example 3-1, the company prepares the
general journal entries shown in Example 3-2. Traditionally, for each entry, the accounts
to be debited are listed first. The accounts to be credited are listed next and indented.
Finally, a brief explanation of the journal entry is made.

6. Some small companies use a periodic inventory system. We briefly discuss the periodic inventory system later
in this chapter. We also discuss both the perpetual and periodic inventory systems more fully in Chapter 8.

3 Prepare journal
entries in the
general journal.



72

Chapter 3 - Review of a Company’s Accounting System

EXAMPLE 3-1 2007 Transactions and Analyses (Dapple Corporation)
Date Transaction Analysis
01/01 Various stockholders invest in Dapple by purchas- Asset account Cash increased (debited) by $20,000;
ing 2,000 shares of no-par stock at $10 per share. stockholders’ equity account Capital Stock increased
(credited) by $20,000.
01/16  Dapple purchases 2 acres of land as a building site, Asset account Land increased (debited) by $3,000;
paying $1,500 an acre. asset account Cash decreased (credited) by $3,000.
03/30 A building is built and equipment purchased for Asset accounts Building and Equipment increased
$15,320 and $2,120, respectively. Dapple pays (debited) by $15,320 and $2,120, respectively;
$10,840 and signs a 12% note (interest and asset account Cash decreased (credited) by
principal to be paid after 2 years) for the $10,840; liability account Notes Payable increased
$6,600 balance. (credited) by $6,600.
03/30 Dapple purchases a 1-year comprehensive insurance Asset account Prepaid Insurance increased (debited)
policy for $360. by $360; asset account Cash decreased (credited) by $360.
03/31 Dapple purchases $7,300 of inventory on credit from Asset account Inventory increased (debited) by $7,300;
Bark Company. liability account Accounts Payable increased (credited) by
$7,300.
04/02 Dapple sells inventory at total cash selling price of Asset account Cash increased (debited) by $8,000;
$8,000. The cost of the inventory was $5,090. revenue account Sales Revenue increased (credited)
by $8,000. Expense account Cost of Goods Sold increased
(debited) by $5,090; Asset account Inventory decreased
(credited) by $5,090.
04/08 Dapple pays $7,300 to Bark for inventory purchase Liability account Accounts Payable decreased (debited)
on 03/31. by $7,300; asset account Cash decreased (credited) by $7,300.
07/15  Dapple makes $3,300 cash purchase of inventory. Asset account Inventory increased (debited) by $3,300;
asset account Cash decreased (credited) by $3,300.
09/01 Dapple sells one acre of land (original cost $1,500) Asset account Notes Receivable increased (debited)
for $1,320. It accepts a 6-month, 15% note from buyer. by $1,320; loss account Loss on Sale of Land increased
(debited) by $180; asset account Land decreased (credited)
by $1,500.
10/01 Dapple pays the first 6 months’ salaries (April Expense account Salaries Expense increased (debited) by
through September) totaling $1,800 to employees. $1,800; asset account Cash decreased (credited) by $1,800.
11/23 Dapple makes sales on credit of $5,000 to Frank Asset account Accounts Receivable increased (debited)
Company and $4,000 to Knox Company. The cost of by $9,000; revenue account Sales Revenue increased
the inventory was $5,400. (credited) by $9,000. Expense account Cost of Goods Sold
increased (debited) by $5,400; Asset account Inventory
decreased (credited) by $5,400.
12/01 Dapple rents part of its building to Fritz Company, Asset account Cash increased (debited) by $450; liability
receiving 3 months’rent in advance at $150 per month. account Unearned Rent increased (credited) by $450.
12/02  Dapple collects $2,000 of accounts receivable from Asset account Cash increased (debited) by $2,000;
Frank Company. asset account Accounts Receivable decreased
(credited) by $2,000.
12/27 Dapple purchases $1,900 of inventory on credit from Asset account Inventory increased (debited) by $1,900; liability
Ajax Company. account Accounts Payable increased (credited) by $1,900.
12/28 Dapple pays $428 of miscellaneous operating Expense account Other Expenses increased (debited) by
expenses. $428; asset account Cash decreased (credited) by $428.
12/29 Dapple distributes dividends of $500 ($0.25 per Dividends Distributed account increased (debited)

share for 2,000 shares) to stockholders.

by $500; asset account Cash decreased (credited) by $500.
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EXAMPLE 3-2  General Journal Entries (Dapple Corporation)

Date Account Titles and Explanations Debit Credit
2007
Jan.1 | Cash 20,000
Capital Stock 20,000
Issued 2,000 shares of no-par stock at $10 per share.
16 | Land 3,000
Cash 3,000
Purchased 2 acres of land at $1,500 per acre.
Mar.30 | Building 15,320
Equipment 2,120
Cash 10,840
Notes Payable 6,600

Purchased a building and equipment. The note bears annual
interest of 12% and the principal and interest are due
on March 30, 2009.

30 | Prepaid Insurance 360
Cash 360
Purchased a 1-year comprehensive insurance policy.

31 | Inventory 7,300
Accounts Payable 7,300
Purchased inventory for resale on credit from Bark Company.

Apr.2 | Cash 8,000
Sales Revenue 8,000
To record cash sales.

2 | Cost of Goods Sold 5,090

Inventory 5,090
To record cost of sales.

8 | Accounts Payable 7,300

Cash 7,300
Paid Bark Company for purchases made on credit on March 31.

July 15 | Inventory 3,300

Cash
Purchased inventory for resale. 3,300

Sept.1 | Notes Receivable 1,320
Loss 180
Land 1,500
Sold 1 acre of land at less than its cost, incurring a loss. Buyer
issued a note due in 6 months and bearing 15% annual interest.

Oct.1 | Salaries Expense 1,800
Cash 1,800
Paid 6 months’ of employees’ salaries.

Nov.23 | Accounts Receivable 9,000

Sales Revenue 9,000
Made sales on credit to the Frank Company ($5,000) and Knox
Company ($4,000).

23 | Cost of Goods Sold 5,400
Inventory 5,400
To record cost of sales.

(continued)

Posting to the Ledger (Step 2)

A general ledger is the entire group of accounts for a company. It might take several
forms, such as a storage location on a computer disk, or in the case of our manual system,
a loose-leaf binder with a page for each T-account. After a company journalizes its trans-
actions and events in a general journal, it updates each account in the general ledger. This
is done through the process of posting. Posting involves transferring the date and debit
and credit amounts from the journal entries in the general journal to the debit and credit

4 Post to the gen-
eral ledger and
prepare a trial
balance.



74 Chapter 3 - Review of a Company’s Accounting System

EXAMPLE 3-2 (Continued)

Date Account Titles and Explanations Debit Credit

Dec.1 | Cash 450
Unearned Rent 450

Received 3 months'rent in advance at $150 per month. Company owes

use of portion of building to FritzCompany for the 3-month period.

2 | Cash 2000
Accounts Receivable 2000
Frank Company paid a portion of its accounts receivable.

27 | Inventory 1,900
Accounts Payable 1,900
Purchased inventory on credit from Ajax Company.

28 | Other Expenses 428
Cash 428
Paid miscellaneous operating expenses.

29 | Dividends Distributed 500
Cash 500

Distributed dividends of $0.25 per share to stockholders.

sides of the accounts in the general ledger. Thus, after posting, the general ledger
accounts contain the same information as in the general journal, just in a different
format. Example 3-3 shows all the accounts in the general ledger of the Dapple
Corporation. To conserve space, these accounts include the postings not only for the jour-
nal entries shown in Example 3-2, but also for the adjusting entries (Adj is shown in the
account) and the closing entries (Cl) discussed later in Examples 3-4 and 3-9.7

Trial Balance

After a company prepares and posts its journal entries for the accounting period, it deter-
mines the balance in each account. Then a trial balance is often prepared. A trial balance
is a working paper that lists all the company’s general ledger accounts and their
account balances. These account balances are listed in either the debit or the credit col-
umn. The trial balance is used to verify that the total of the debit balances is equal to the
total of the credit balances. This working paper is not shown here but is included on the
worksheet in Example 3-10.

If a trial balance does not balance, there is an error. To find the error, add the debit
and credit columns of the trial balance again. If the column totals do not agree, check the
amounts in the debit and credit columns to be sure that a debit or credit account balance
was not mistakenly listed in the wrong column. If the error is still not found, compute the
difference in the column totals and divide by 9. When the difference is evenly divisible by
9, there is a good chance that a transposition or a slide has occurred. A transposition occurs

 when two digits in a number are mistakenly reversed. For instance, if the $1,500 Land
balance is listed as $5,100 on the trial balance in Example 3-10, the debit column would
total $49,550 instead of $45,950. The difference, $3,600, is evenly divisible by 9. A slide
occurs when the digits are listed in the correct order but are mistakenly moved one deci-
mal place to the left or right. For instance, in Example 3-10 if the $1,900 Accounts Payable
balance is listed as $190, the credit column would total $44,240 instead of $45,950. The
$1,710 difference is evenly divisible by 9.

7. A company may also use subsidiary ledgers, such as an accounts receivable subsidiary ledger and an
accounts payable subsidiary ledger. We discuss subsidiary ledgers later in this chapter.
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EXAMPLE 3-3 General Ledger (Dapple Corporation)

Cash
01/01 20,000 | 01/16 3,000
04/02 8,000 | 03/30 10,840
12/01 450 | 03/30 360
12/02 2,000 | 04/08 7,300
07/15 3,300
10/01 1,800
12/28 428
12/29 500
Balance 2,922
Accounts Receivable
11/23 9,000 | 12/02 2,000
Balance 7,000

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accumulated Depreciation: Building

Interest Revenue

[ 1231 Adj 170
Notes Receivable
09/01 1,320 |
Interest Receivable
1231 Adj 66 |
Inventory
03/31 7,300 | 04/02 5,090
07/15 3,300 | 11/23 5,400
12/27 1,900
Balance 2,010
Prepaid Insurance
03/30 360 | 12/31 Adj 270
Balance 90
Land
01/16 3,000 | 09/01 1,500
Balance 1,500
Building
03/30 15320 |

[ 12/31Adj 264 12/31C 66 | 12/31Adj 66
Equipment Rent Revenue
03/30 2,120 | 12/31 Cl 150 | 12/31 Adj 150
Accumulated Depreciation: Cost of Goods Sold
S 04/02 5,090 ‘ 12/31 Cl 10,490
[ 12/31Adj 120  10/23 5,400
Accounts Payable Salaries Expense
04/08 7,300 | 03/31 7300 740, 1,800 ‘ 12/31Cl 2,700
12/27 1900 15/31 Adj 900
Balance 1,900
Other Expenses
LB LD 12/28 428 | 1231C 428
[ 03/30 6,600
Loss on Sale of Land
Salayesinavabie 09/01 180 | 12/31Cl 180
| 12/31 Adj 900
Depreciation Expense: Building
iyt el 1231 Adj 264 | 12/31Cl 264
[ 12/31 Adj 594
Depreciation Expense: Equipment
S L Pyl 12/31Adj 120 ] 12/31C1 120
[ 12/31Adj 600
Bad Debts Expense
Unearned Rent 12/31Adj 170 [ 12/31C1 170
12/31 Adj 150 | 12/01 450 | .
Balance 300 nsurance expense
12/31Adj 270 | 12/31C 270
Capital Stock | £
| 01/01 20’000 : nterest Xpense
12/31 Adj 594 | 12/31Cl 59
Retained Earnings | Tax E
12/31C 500 | 1231l 1,400 Ad,"°°me alx x"e"szl
e S0 12/31Adj 600 | 12/31 600
Dividends Distributed 12/31 Cl :nsc;': SUT;;;:YG 17,216
12/29 500 | 12/31Cl 500 1231 ¢l 1400
Sales Revenue
12/31Cl 17,000 | 04/02 8,000
11/23 9,000

If a transposition or slide has occurred, the error may have occurred when the
account balances were transferred from the accounts to the trial balance or when the
account balances were computed initially. To find the error, first compare the account
balances listed on the trial balance with the account balances listed in the ledger. Then
recompute the ledger account balances, and if no error is found, double-check the post-
ings. Finally, review the journal entries for accuracy.

If the trial balance is in balance, it is likely that (1) equal debit entries and credit entries
were recorded for each transaction; (2) the debit and credit entries are posted to the
accounts; and (3) the account balances are correctly computed. The equality of the debit
and credit totals, however, does not necessarily mean that the information in the account-
ing system is error-free. A trial balance does not pick up several types of errors. First, an
entire transaction may not have been journalized. Second, an entire transaction may not
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5 Prepare adjust-
ing entries.

have been posted to the accounts. Third, equal debits and credits, but of the wrong amount,
may have been recorded for a transaction. Fourth, a transaction may have been journalized
to a wrong account. Finally, a journal entry may have been posted to the wrong account.

Preparation of Adjusting Entries (Step 3)

Most companies use generally accepted accounting principles which require the accrual
method of accounting. Under accrual accounting, a company records revenues in the account-
ing period in which they are earned and realized (or realizable). The company also records
(matches) expenses in the accounting period in which they are incurred, regardless of the
inflow or outflow of cash. In many instances, not all accounts are up to date at the end of the
accounting period. A company must adjust certain amounts so that all its revenues and
expenses are recorded and its balance sheet accounts have correct ending balances. Adjusting
entries are journal entries made at the end of the accounting period so that a company’s

financial statements include the correct amounts for the current period.

An adjusting entry ordinarily affects both a permanent (balance sheet) and a tempo-
rary (income statement) account. Adjusting entries may be classified into three cate-
gories. These categories and the types of balance sheet accounts involved in the adjusting
entries are:

1. Apportionment of prepaid and deferred items
a. Prepaid expenses
b. Deferred revenues
2. Recording of accrued items
a. Accrued expenses
b. Accrued revenues
3. Recording estimated items

Prepaid Expenses

A prepaid expense (sometimes called a prepaid asset) is a good or service purchased by a
company for its operations but not fully used up by the end of the accounting period.
When the company initially purchases the good or service, it records the cost as an asset
(prepaid expense). At the end of the accounting period, the company has used some of
these goods or services to generate revenues. The costs are systematically matched, as
expenses, against the current revenues, while the unused cost remains as an asset on the
balance sheet. Examples of prepaid expenses include prepaid rent, office supplies, and
prepaid insurance. Below we show the effect of a prepaid expense adjusting entry on a
company’s accounts. Then we explain Dapple Corporation’s related adjusting entry.

Effect on Decrease | Increase
Accounts: Asset Expense

In the Dapple Corporation example, it purchased a one-year comprehensive insur-
ance policy on March 30, 2007. It recorded an asset, Prepaid Insurance, for $360. At the
end of the year, nine months of insurance coverage has expired while three months of
coverage remains in force. The cost is apportioned as an expense on a straight-line basis
(an equal amount each month). Insurance Expense is increased (debited) by $270 ($30
per month for nine months) and Prepaid Insurance decreased (credited) by $270. The
result is a $270 increase in expenses and a $90 remaining balance in the asset Prepaid
Insurance. Example 3-4 shows this adjusting entry which is posted to the ledger accounts
shown in Example 3-3. Since the December 31 date of the adjusting entries is the same as
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EXAMPLE 3-4 Adjusting Entries for 2007 (Dapple Corporation)

Date Account Titles and Explanations Debit Credit
Adjusting Entries
Dec. 31 Insurance Expense 270
Prepaid Insurance 270
To record expiration of 9 months of insurance coverage purchased
on March 30.
31 | Unearned Rent 150
Rent Revenue 150

To record earning of 1 month of rent revenue from receipt collected in
advance on December 1.

31 | Salaries Expense 900
Salaries Payable 900
To record 3 months' salaries earned by employees but not yet paid.
31 Interest Expense 594
Interest Payable 594

To record interest accumulated on the note payable issued on
March 30 and due March 30, 2009.

31 | Interest Receivable 66

Interest Revenue 66
To record interest accumulated on the note receivable accepted on
September 1.

31 | Depreciation Expense: Building 264
Accumulated Depreciation: Building 264
To record 9 months’ depreciation on building acquired March 30.

31 | Depreciation Expense: Equipment 120
Accumulated Depreciation: Equipment 120
To record 9 months’ depreciation on equipment acquired March 30.

31 | Bad Debts Expense 170
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 170
To record estimated uncollectible accounts receivable.

31 | Income Tax Expense 600
Income Taxes Payable 600
To record income taxes for the period.

the December 31 date for the closing entries (which we discuss in Example 3-9), each
adjusting entry date is followed by the abbreviation Adj to clarify the postings.

Deferred Revenues

Deferred (or unearned) revenue is payment received by a company in advance for the
future sale of inventory or performance of services. Initially the company usually records
a liability because it has an obligation to provide the goods or services. When the com-
pany has provided the goods or services to the customer, it eliminates the liability and
records the revenue in an adjusting entry. Although the adjusting entry may be made at
the time the goods or services are provided, it may also be made at the end of the
accounting period. Below we show the effect of a deferred revenue adjusting entry on a
company’s accounts. Then we explain Dapple Corporation’s related adjusting entry.

77
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Effect on Decrease Increase
Accounts: Liability Revenue

\

On December 1, Dapple Corporation received $450 for three months’ rent in
advance. It recorded the receipt as a liability, Unearned Rent. On December 31 it must
make an adjusting entry because it has now earned one month of rent. The adjusting
entry is a debit (decrease) of $150 to Unearned Rent and a credit (increase) of $150 to
Rent Revenue. The result is a $150 increase in revenues and a $300 remaining balance in
the liability Unearned Rent. Example 3-4 shows this adjusting entry.

A company might initially record the entire prepayment of a cost as an expense (instead
of as an asset) or the entire receipt in advance as a revenue (instead of a liability). In this
case the company must still make adjusting entries at the end of the accounting period, but
they are different in form and amount. For example, Dapple Corporation could have
recorded the March 30 payment as a $360 debit to Insurance Expense (instead of Prepaid
Insurance) and it could have recorded the December 1 receipt of $450 as a credit to Rent
Revenue (instead of Unearned Rent). In this case the adjusting entry procedure is to calcu-
late the appropriate ending balances in the permanent accounts and adjust the accounts
accordingly. For instance, Prepaid Insurance should have an ending balance of $90. The
year-end adjusting entry must reduce the expense and increase the Prepaid Insurance account
by this amount. The adjusting entry is a debit (increase) to Prepaid Insurance for $90 and a
credit (decrease) to Insurance Expense for $90. Similarly, Unearned Rent should have an
ending balance of $300. The year-end adjusting entry must reduce the revenue and increase
the Unearned Rent account by this amount. The adjusting entry is a debit (decrease) to Rent
Revenue for $300 and a credit (increase) to Unearned Rent for $300. The results of these
adjusting entries are the same balances in the respective accounts as we show in the com-
prehensive illustration. Be careful to determine how advance payments and receipts were
initially recorded before determining the adjusting entry.

Accrued Expenses

An accrued expense is an expense that a company has incurred during the accounting
period but has neither paid nor recorded. To match expenses against revenues and to reflect
the proper liabilities at the end of the period, a company must make an adjusting entry for
each accrued expense. Below we show the effect of an accrued expense adjusting entry on a
company'’s accounts. Then we explain Dapple Corporation'’s related adjusting entries.

Effect on Increase Increase
Accounts: Liability Expense

\i

Dapple Corporation has three accrued expenses it has not yet recorded: employees’
salaries, interest, and income taxes.

Accrued Salaries For simplicity, assume the company pays employees’ salaries every six
months, making the last $1,800 payment on October 1. At the end of December; its employ-
ees have earned salaries for three months (October through December) although they have
not been paid. The adjusting entry is a debit (increase) to Salaries Expense for $900 and a
credit (increase) to Salaries Payable for $900. The result is a $900 increase in expenses and a
$900 ending balance in the liability, Salaries Payable. Example 3-4 shows this adjusting entry.

Accrued Interest On March 30, Dapple Corporation issued a $6,600, 12% note payable
due at the end of two years. Although it will not pay the principal and interest until 2009,
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nine months of interest expense has accumulated and is a liability at the end of 2007. The
interest is computed using the equation: Interest = Principal X Rate X Time, where time
is expressed as a fraction of a year. The adjusting entry involves a debit (increase) to
Interest Expense for $594 ($6,600 X 0.12 X 9/12) and a credit (increase) to Interest
Payable for $594, as we show in Example 3-4.

Accrued Income Taxes Corporations are subject to a federal (and often state) income tax.
Although a corporation may not pay its income taxes until the following period, they are
an expense and year-end obligation of the period in which the corporation earned the
income. The adjusting entry for income taxes is prepared after all the other adjusting
entries because the amount is computed by multiplying the income tax rate times the cur-
rent income before income taxes. Based on its current income before income taxes and on
the current tax rate,® Dapple Corporation calculates that its 2007 income taxes are $600,
with the entire amount payable in 2008. The adjusting entry is a debit (increase) to
Income Tax Expense for $600 and a credit (increase) to Income Taxes Payable for $600,
and is shown as the last item in Example 3-4.

Accrued Revenues An accrued revenue is a revenue that a company has earned during
the accounting period but has neither received nor recorded. The company must make an
adjusting entry to increase its assets and revenues at the end of the period. Below we show
the effect of an accrued revenue adjusting entry on a company’s accounts. Then we
explain Dapple Corporation’s related adjusting entry.

Effect on Increase _ | Increase
Accounts: Asset Revenue

On September 1, Dapple Corporation accepted a $1,320, 15% note as payment
when it sold an acre of land. Although it will not collect the note and interest until 2008,
the company has earned four months of interest in 2007. The company records the $66
of interest ($1,320 X 0.15 X 4/12) as a debit (increase) to Interest Receivable and a credit
(increase) to Interest Revenue. The result is a $66 increase in revenues and a $66 increase
in the asset Interest Receivable. Example 3-4 shows this adjusting entry.

8.  As we show in Example 3-6, the Dapple Corporation’s income before income taxes is $2,000. Multiplying
this amount by an assumed tax rate of 30% yields income taxes of $600.
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Estimated Items

Certain other adjusting entries are based on estimated amounts because they relate, at least
in part, to expected future events. Adjustments involving (1) the depreciation on assets such
as buildings and equipment, and (2) the uncollectibility of some accounts receivable are
both based upon estimates. Below we show the effect of an estimated item adjusting entry
on a company’s accounts. Then we explain Dapple Corporation’s related adjusting entries.

Effect on Decrease Increase
Accounts: Asset Expense

Depreciation Expense When a company acquires an asset such as a machine, sales fix-
ture, or building to use in its operations, the company records the cost as an economic
resource (asset). The company expects to use the asset for several periods after which it
will dispose of the asset at a value much less than its original cost. The difference between
the original cost and an estimate of this later value (alternatively called residual value, sal-
vage value, scrap value, or trade-in value) is the asset’s depreciable cost. This depreciable
cost is allocated as an expense to each accounting period in which the asset is used. This
cost allocation process is referred to as depreciation. One depreciation method is
straight-line depreciation, which allocates a proportionate amount as an expense to each
accounting period. Its computation is as follows:

Cost — Estimated Residual Value
Estimated Service Life

Annual Depreciation Expense =

The company records depreciation at the end of the accounting period in an adjusting entry.
The entry increases Depreciation Expense and decreases the remaining depreciable cost
of the asset. However, the company does not record this decrease directly in the asset account.
Instead it increases a contra (negative) asset account entitled Accumulated Depreciation. This
contra account is subtracted from the asset account on the company’s balance sheet. The
resulting balance is referred to as the book value (or carrying value) of the asset.

Dapple Corporation has two depreciable assets, the building and equipment acquired
on March 30, 2007. The company estimates that these assets will have lives of 35 years and
12 years, respectively. The company estimates that the residual value of the building will
be $3,000 and the residual value of the equipment will be $200 at the end of these lives.
Since it used the building and equipment for only nine months during 2007, the depreci-
ation expense is $264 {[($15,320 — $3,000) + 35] X 9/12} on the building and $120
{1($2,120 — $200) + 12] X 9/12} on the equipment. The adjusting entry for the building
is a debit (increase) to Depreciation Expense: Building for $264 and a credit (increase) to
the contra-asset Accumulated Depreciation: Building for $264. The adjusting entry for
the equipment is a debit to Depreciation Expense: Equipment for $120 and a credit to the
contra-asset Accumulated Depreciation: Equipment for $120. The result is an increase in
expenses and a decrease in the book value that the company reports on its balance sheet for
the building and the equipment. Example 3-4 shows these adjusting entries.

Bad Debt Expense Many companies make a large amount of their sales on credit.
Regardless of a company’s collection efforts, it is likely to have a certain amount of bad
debts—customer accounts that will not be collected. Although a company may not know
which specific customers will not pay their accounts until a later accounting period, it
must match bad debt expense against revenues in the period of the sale. Furthermore, the
company must reduce its assets so that at the end of the period its accounting records
show the amount of accounts receivable that it expects to collect. The adjusting entry to
record the increase in expenses and the decrease in assets requires an estimate of future
uncollectible accounts. However, since the company does not know in the period of sale
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which specific customers will default on their accounts, it does not directly reduce
Accounts Receivable. Instead it increases a contra-asset account, Allowance for Doubtful
Accounts. This account is deducted from Accounts Receivable on the company’s balance
sheet to report the estimated collectible amount.

For example, assume for simplicity that Dapple Corporation estimates its bad debts
to be 1% of total sales. Since the balance in the Sales Revenue account totals $17,000, the
adjusting entry is a debit (increase) to Bad Debts Expense for $170 and a credit (increase)
to the contra-asset Allowance for Doubtful Accounts for $170. The result is an increase in
expenses and a decrease in the collectible accounts receivable shown on the company’s
balance sheet. Example 3-4 shows this adjusting entry.

Summary We show the basic framework for adjusting entries in Exhibit 3-3. This frame- |
work will be helpful to you in visualizing the appropriate debit and credit entry for each type
of adjusting entry. However, you must be careful to identify the proper accounts to use in
each adjusting entry. Note that for an estimated item, under the Accounts Credited column,
we show the use of a contra-account because typically a company credits (increases) such an
account (e.g., accumulated depreciation) to decrease the book value of the related asset.

EXHIBIT 3-3  Framework for Adjusting Entries

Type of Adjusting Entry Accounts Debited Accounts Credited
Prepaid Expense: Debit (increase) Expense Credit (decrease) Asset
Deferred Revenue: Debit (decrease) Liability Credit (increase) Revenue
Accrued Expense: Debit (increase) Expense Credit (increase) Liability
Accrued Revenue: Debit (increase) Asset Credit (increase) Revenue
Estimated Item: Debit (increase) Expense Credit (decrease) Asset

[credit (increase) contra account]

LINK TO ETHICAL DILEMMA

As a newly hired accountant at a Fortune 500 company, you were excited when
the controller showed confidence in your abilities by delegating to you the
responsibility to make many of the routine adjusting entries related to the prepa-
ration of the year-end financial statements. The controller was pleased with the
diligence with which you completed the task and assured you that he would not
hesitate to increase your responsibilities in the financial reporting department.
You were on the fast-track to a promotion. However, three months later, as you
were preparing the adjusting entries for the next fiscal quarter, you realized that
you had overlooked several adjustments that you should have recorded at year-
end. While the overlooked adjustments would most likely not be considered
material to last year’s financial statements, you are certain that your boss would
lose confidence in your abilities. Realizing that you can easily fix the mistake by
incorporating the overlooked adjustments into the first quarter adjusting entries
for this year, what course of action should you take?

Preparation of the Financial Statements (Step 4)

After a company prepares and posts the adjusting entries to the general ledger accounts, it
prepares its financial statements. This procedure involves several steps. First, the balance
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6 Prepare finan-
cial statements.

EXAMPLE 3-5 Adjusted Trial Balance (Dapple Corporation)

Adjusted Trial Balance
December 31, 2007
Debit Credit

Cash $ 2922
Accounts receivable 7,000
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 170
Notes receivable 1,320
Interest receivable 66
Inventory 2,010
Prepaid insurance 90
Land 1,500
Building 15,320
Accumulated depreciation: building 264
Equipment 2,120
Accumulated depreciation: equipment 120
Accounts payable 1,900
Notes payable 6,600
Salaries payable 900
Interest payable 594
Income taxes payable 600
Unearned rent 300
Capital stock 20,000
Retained earnings 0
Dividends distributed 500
Salesrevenue 17,000
Interest revenue 66
Rent revenue 150
Cost of goods sold 10,490
Salaries expense 2,700
Other expenses 428
Loss on sale of land 180
Depreciation expense: building 264
Depreciation expense: equipment 120
Bad debts expense 170
Insurance expense 270
Interest expense 594
Income tax expense 600

Totals $48,664 $48,664

of each account in the ledger is recomputed if necessary. Next, an adjusted trial balance is
frequently prepared; it is similar to a trial balance. An adjusted trial balance lists all the
accounts and the account balances of a company after adjustments (but before clos-
ing) in either a debit or a credit column. The adjusted trial balance is used to verify that
the total of the debit balances is equal to the total of the credit balances. This working
paper also helps in the preparation of the company’s financial statements because all the
accounts and amounts included in the financial statements are listed on the adjusted trial
balance. Example 3-5 shows the Dapple Corporation’s adjusted trial balance. Finally, the
company prepares its income statement, statement of retained earnings, and balance
sheet in sequential order directly from the information in the adjusted trial balance.

Income Statement

Example 3-6 shows Dapple Corporation’s income statement for 2007. Sales revenue is
listed first. Because the cost of goods sold is directly related to sales, it is shown next. Cost
of Goods Sold is deducted to determine the Gross Profit. Operating Expenses (often clas-
sified into two groups, Selling Expenses and Administrative Expenses) are deducted next
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to determine the Income from Operations. The total of the Other Items section (for recur-
ring items that are not directly related to ongoing operations) is deducted to determine
the Income Before Income Taxes. Finally the Income Tax Expense is deducted to deter-
mine the Net Income of $1,400. The $0.70 Earnings Per Share is computed by dividing
the $1,400 net income by the 2,000 shares owned by the stockholders.

Retained Earnings Statement

Example 3-7 shows the retained earnings statement of the Dapple Corporation for 2007.
Because 2007 is its first year of operations, the company did not have a beginning retained earn-
ings balance. It did, however, earn net income of $1,400 and distributed dividends of $500,

6o

resulting in ending retained earnings (the excess of total earnings over total dividends) of $900.

EXAMPLE 3-6 Income Statement

DAPPLE CORPORATION

Income Statement
For Year Ended December 31,2007

Sales revenue $17,000
Cost of goods sold (10,490)
Gross profit $ 6,510
Operating expenses

Salaries expense $2,700

Other expenses 428

Depreciation expense: building 264

Depreciation expense: equipment 120

Bad debts expense 170

Insurance expense 270

Total operating expenses (3,952)

Income from operations $ 2,558
Other items

Loss on sale of land $ (180)

Interest revenue 66

Rent revenue 150

Interest expense (594) (558)

Income before income taxes $ 2,000
Income tax expense (600)

Net Income $ 1,400

Earnings per share (2,000 shares) S 0.70

EXAMPLE 3-7 Retained Earnings Statement

DAPPLE CORPORATION

Statement of Retained Earnings
For Year Ended December 31, 2007

Retained earnings, January 1,2007 S 0
Add: Net income for 2007 1,400

$1,400
Less: Dividends for 2007 (500)

Retained earnings, December 31,2007 $ 900
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g

_Balance Sheet

Example 3-8 shows the Dapple Corporation’s balance sheet at the end of 2007. It includes
three sections: assets, liabilities, and stockholders” equity. The assets are divided into current
assets and property and equipment. The current assets are cash and those assets that are
expected to be converted into cash or consumed within one year or the operating cycle,
whichever is longer. Current assets generally include cash, receivables, temporary invest-
ments in marketable securities, inventories, and prepaid items such as insurance and office
supplies. Property and equipment contains the longer-lived operational assets of the company.
This section includes both nondepreciable assets and depreciable assets listed at their book
values. The liabilities are divided into current liabilities and long-term liabilities. Current lia-
bilities are those obligations that will become due within one year or the operating cycle,
whichever is longer, and are expected to be paid with current assets or the creation of other
current liabilities. Long-term liabilities are obligations that do not meet the current liability cri-
teria. Stockholders’ equity includes contributed capital (capital stock) and retained earnings.

Total assets amount to $31,794, and equal the total of liabilities plus stockholders’ equity.

EXAMPLE 3-8 Balance Sheet

DAPPLE CORPORATION
Balance Sheet
December 31,2007
Assets Liabilities
Current Assets Current Liabilities
Cash $ 2,922 Accounts payable $ 1,900
Accounts receivable $ 7,000 Salaries payable 900
Less: Allowance for doubtful Income taxes payable 600
accounts (170) 6,830 Unearned rent 300
Notes receivable Total current liabilities $ 3,700
(due March 1,2008) 1,320 Long-Term Liablilities
Interest receivable 66 Notes payable (due March 30,2009) $ 6,600
Inventory 2,010 Interest payable (due March 20, 2009) 594
Prepaid insurance 90 Total long-term liabilities $ 7,194
Total current assets $13,238 Total Liabilities $10,894
Property and equipment
Lar.wd. 5 1,500 Stockholders’ Equity
Building $15,320
Less: Accumulated depreciation (264) 15,056 Contributed Capital
- Capital stock, no par
Equipment $ 2,120
Less: Accumulated depreciation (120) 2,000 (2'000 shgres) $20,000
Total tv and . . 518,556 Retained Earnings 900
AR i R ! Total Stockholders’ Equity $20,900
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’
Total Assets $31,794 Equity $31,794

7 Prepare closing
entries.

Preparation of Closing Entries (Step 5)

The next step in the accounting process involves preparing and posting closing entries.
Closing entries are journal entries that a company makes at the end of the accounting
period (1) to reduce the balance in each temporary account to zero, and (2) to update
the retained earnings account.

A company uses the temporary accounts (namely, all the revenue, expense, and dividend
accounts) during each accounting period to accumulate and summarize information for its
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net income and dividends for that period. After the period is over and the company’s financial
statements are prepared, the balances in these accounts are no longer needed. Furthermore,
these accounts must begin the next accounting period with a zero balance to summarize the
company’s net income and dividend information for the next period. Also, the company’s
permanent stockholders’ equity account, Retained Earnings, must be updated for the net
income and dividend information contained in the temporary accounts.

The revenue and expense accounts are closed to a temporary closing account called
Income Summary. The resulting balance in this account is the company’s net income (or
loss) for the period. This balance is then transferred to Retained Earnings.

The closing process is straightforward. Each temporary income statement account
is debited or credited for the amount that will result in a zero balance in that account.
The total of the credits to these accounts is recorded as a debit to the Income
Summary account, and the total of the debits is recorded as a credit to Income
Summary. A resulting credit balance in the Income Summary account is the net
income for the period, and is the same amount as that shown on the company’s
income statement. This credit balance is closed to zero with a debit entry to Income
Summary and a credit entry to Retained Earnings for the amount of the net income. If,
on the other hand, there is a debit balance in the Income Summary account, this
means there is a net loss for the period. This debit balance is closed to zero with a
debit entry to Retained Earnings and a credit entry to Income Summary for the
amount of the net loss. Finally, the Dividends Distributed account is credited for the
amount necessary to reduce its balance to zero; the corresponding debit to Retained
Earnings reduces it for the amount of the dividends.

Example 3-9 shows the closing entries for the Dapple Corporation which are posted
to the ledger accounts shown in Example 3-3. The abbreviation ClI is used to identify each
December 31 closing entry. The temporary income statement accounts that have a credit
balance are closed first. These include all the revenue accounts. The total credit to Income
Summary is $17,216.

The temporary income statement accounts that have a debit balance are closed next.
These include all the expense accounts. The total debit to Income Summary is $15,816.

EXAMPLE 3-9 Closing Entries for 2007 (Dapple Corporation)

Date Account Titles and Explanations Debit Credit
Closing Entries
Dec.31 Sales Revenue 17,000
Interest Revenue 66
Rent Revenue 150
Income Summary 17,216
To close the temporary accounts with credit balances.
31 Income Summary 15,816
Cost of Goods Sold 10,490
Salaries Expense 2,700
Other Expenses 428
Losson Sale of Land 180
Depreciation Expense: Building 264
Depreciation Expense: Equipment 120
Bad Debts Expense 170
Insurance Expense 270
Interest Expense 594
Income Tax Expense 600
To close the temporary accounts with debit balances.
31 Income Summary 1,400
Retained Earnings 1,400
To close the income summary balance (net income) to
retained earnings. 500
31 Retained Earnings 500
Dividends Distributed
To close the dividends to retained earnings.
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The Income Summary account now has a credit balance of $1,400 ($17,216 credit
less the $15,816 debit). This amount is the net income we computed on the income state-
ment (Example 3-6). It is transferred to Retained Earnings by a debit to Income Summary
for $1,400 (which creates a zero balance in this account) and a credit to Retained
Earnings for $1,400 (which increases this account for the amount of the net income).
Finally, the debit balance in the Dividends Distributed account is reduced to zero by a
debit to Retained Earnings for $500 and a credit to Dividends Distributed for $500.

The result of the closing entries is that (1) all of the company’s revenue, expense, and
dividend accounts are closed (have zero balances) and are ready to accumulate the net
income and dividend information for the next accounting period, (2) the ending balance
in its Retained Earnings account is increased by $900 because of the excess of net income
over dividends, and (3) only the permanent balance sheet accounts are open (have
nonzero account balances).

After the closing entries are prepared and posted, many companies will prepare a
post-closing trial balance. A post-closing trial balance is prepared to verify that the
total of the debit balances is equal to the total of the credit balances in all of the com-
pany’s permanent accounts. We do not show this working paper here. The accounting
cycle is now complete and a new cycle for the next accounting period begins.

g SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 3-2

® Anaccounting cycle is composed of five key steps:
= Recording in ajournal
= Posting to the ledger
= Preparing and posting adjusting entries
» Preparing financial statements
= Preparing and posting closing entries

® Adjusting entries apply accrual accounting concepts to ensure that all revenues
earned and all expenses incurred during a period are recorded, regardless of the
inflow or outflow of cash.

® Deferred revenues and prepaid expenses result when the cash inflow or outflow
occurs prior to the recognition of the revenue or the expense.

® Accrued revenues and expenses result when the recognition of the revenue or
expense occurs prior to the cash inflow or outflow.

® (losing entries are required at the end of the accounting cycle to reduce the tempo-
rary accounts to zero and to update the retained earnings account for changes that
have occurred during the period.

Additional Issues

For simplicity, we ignored several common items in the Dapple Corporation example. In
this section we briefly discuss returns, allowances, and discounts, as well as the periodic
inventory system.

Returns, Allowances, and Discounts

Most companies have sales returns and allowances, as well as purchases returns and
allowances. Some also have sales discounts and purchases discounts. How a company
records them depends on its accounting system.

When a customer returns merchandise and receives a refund, this is called a sales
return. When a customer agrees to keep damaged merchandise and the company refunds
a portion of the selling price, this is called a sales allowance. In either case, these are a
reduction in the company’s sales revenue. To record these transactions, some companies
will create an account, Sales Returns and Allowances, which is a contra-account to the
Sales Revenue account. Others will record these transactions directly as a reduction in the
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Sales Revenue account. For instance, suppose that Dapple Corporation had previously
made a $500 credit sale to a customer, but the customer returned the item because it was
defective. We show both ways of recording this return below”:

Using Contra-Account Reducing Sales Revenue account
Sales Returns & Allowances 500 Sales 500
Accounts Receivable 500 Accounts Receivable 500

Note that by using a contra-account, Dapple can determine its total sales returns and
allowances simply by looking at the account balance. However, this approach requires an / \
additional account in the company’s accounting system. If Dapple records the return —» ®
directly as a reduction in the sales revenue account, it has one less account in its account-
ing system. However, it will have to examine the details of the sales revenue account to
determine its sales returns and allowances. In a computerized accounting system it is not
difficult, however, to design a program to do this. _

Some companies offer a discount on credit sales for prompt payment within a dis-
count period. If a customer pays within the discount period, the company receives an
amount that is less than the original selling price. This difference is called a sales (or
cash) discount. A sales discount is also a reduction in the company’s sales revenue. We
show how to record sales discounts in Chapter 7.

When a company has sales returns and allowances (and sales discounts), the com-
pany must report its net sales on its income statement. Net sales are a company’s sales
less its sales returns and allowances and sales discounts. For instance, we will slightly
modify the amounts in the Dapple Corporation example. Still assume that Dapple
Corporation had sales revenue of $17,000, but that it had sales returns and allowances of
$250 and sales discounts of $40. In this case, its net sales would be $16,710 ($17,000 -
$250 - $40) and it would report this amount on its 2007 income statement as follows:

Sales (net of $250 returns and $40 discounts) $16,710

A company usually also has purchases returns and allowances. When the company
returns inventory to its supplier, this is called a purchases return. When the company
agrees to keep damaged inventory and receives a refund from its supplier, this is called a
purchases allowance. In either case, these are a reduction in the cost of the company’s
inventory. To record these transactions, some companies will create an account,
Purchases Returns and Allowances, which is a contra-account to the Inventory account.
Other companies will record these transactions directly as a reduction in the Inventory
account. For instance, suppose that Dapple returned $300 of inventory that it had pur-
chased on credit from its supplier. We show both ways of recording the return as follows:

Using Contra-Account Reducing Inventory Account
Accounts Payable 300 Accounts Payable 300
Purchases Returns & Allowances 300 Inventory 300

Some suppliers offer a discount on credit sales for prompt payment within the discount
period. To the purchasing company, this is a purchases discount. A purchases discount is
also a reduction in the company’s inventory. We show how to record purchases discounts
in Chapter 8.

Periodic Inventory System

As we noted earlier in the chapter, some small companies use a periodic inventory system.
Under a periodic inventory system, a company records its purchases of inventory using a
Purchases account, so that the Inventory account balance does not change during the

9.  Since the inventory was returned by the customer, Dapple Corporation would also “reverse” its original
Cost of Goods Sold entry by debiting Inventory and crediting Cost of Goods Sold for the cost of the
returned inventory.
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accounting period. Also, at the time of sale, the company does not make a second journal
entry to record the increase in cost of goods sold and decrease in inventory. Instead, it
takes a physical inventory at the end of the accounting period. The company then derives
its cost of goods sold by first computing its cost of goods available for sale. The cost of
goods available for sale is the beginning inventory plus the net purchases (purchases less
returns and allowances and any purchases discounts). The company then deducts its end-
ing inventory from the cost of goods available for sale to determine its cost of goods sold.

For instance, assume that Dapple Corporation uses a periodic inventory system
instead of a perpetual inventory system, and that it also had purchases returns and
allowances as well as purchases discounts. Using slightly different numbers than we did
in the original example, assume that Dapple made purchases of $12,600, had purchases
returns and allowances of $300, and had taken purchases discounts of $100. Also assume
that Dapple takes a physical inventory at the end of 2007 to determine that its ending

_inventory is $2,140. On Dapple Corporation’s income statement for 2007, it would show
/ \ cost of goods sold of $10,060, computed as follows:
Q —> Inventory, 1/1/2007 $ 0
Purchases 12,600
Purchases returns and allowances (300)
Purchases discounts (100)
Cost of goods available for sale $12,200
Less: Inventory, 12/31/2007 (2,140)
| Cost of goods sold $10,060

Even though a company uses a perpetual inventory system, in certain situations it may
use a periodic inventory approach like we show above to estimate its inventory, as we dis-
cuss in Chapter 9.

We used a relatively simple accounting system to show a company’s accounting cycle.
Certain additional complexities are common in companies today. These include a work-
sheet (spreadsheet), reversing entries, subsidiary ledgers, special journals, and computer
software. We discuss each of these topics in the sections that follow.

WORKSHEET (SPREADSHEET)

At the end of an accounting period, a company prepares adjusting entries, closing entries,
and its financial statements. A company often first prepares a worksheet to minimize
errors, simplify recording of adjusting and closing entries in the general journal, and
make it easier to prepare the financial statements. A worksheet is not a substitute for
any accounting records or financial statements; it is merely a working paper designed for
these purposes.

A worksheet may be a large sheet of multicolumn accounting paper. A common way
of preparing an electronic worksheet is to use a software package such as Microsoft Excel®.
Example 3-10 shows a worksheet for the Dapple Corporation. This worksheet is based on
the same information as we presented earlier in the chapter. It has a column for listing all
the ledger accounts, plus debit and credit columns for the trial balance, adjustments,
adjusted trial balance, income statement, retained earnings statement, and balance sheet.
There are five steps in completing a worksheet.

Step 1: The process of completing the worksheet begins with preparing the trial balance.
All of the company’s accounts and account balances (prior to adjustments) are listed and the
debit and credit columns of the trial balance are totaled to verify the equality of the debits
and credits. Note that since this is the first year of operations for the Dapple Corporation, the
Inventory, Accumulated Depreciation: Building, Accumulated Depreciation: Equipment, and
Retained Earnings accounts do not have balances (prior to adjustments). Normally these
accounts do have balances so we include them in the illustrated trial balance.

8 Complete a
worksheet
(spreadsheet).
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EXAMPLE 3-10 Worksheet (Dapple Corporation)

A B C D E F G H | J K L M

1| Dapple Ce

2 | Worksheet

3| For Year Ended Dec.31,2007

4

5 -

6 Trial Balance j Income Balance Sheet

7 Account Titles Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit

8| Cash 2,922 2,922

9 | Accounts receivable 7,000 7,000

10| Notes receivable 1,320 1,320

11| Inventory 2,010 2,010

12| Prepaid insurance 360 (@) | 270 90

13| Land 1,500 1,500

14| Building 15,320 15,320

15| Acc.depreciation : building 0 (f) | 264 264
16| Equipment 2,120 2,120

17| Acc.depreciation : equipment 0 ()] 120 120
18| Accounts payable 1,900 1,900
19| Notes payable 6,600 6,600
20| Unearned rent 450 (b)| 150 300
21| Capital stock 20,000 20,000
22| Retained earnings (1/1/07) 0 0

23| Dividends distributed 500 500

24| Sales revenue 17,000 17,000

25| Cost of goods sold 10,490 10,490

26| Salaries expense 1,800 (c) | 900 2,700

27| Other expenses 428 428

28| Loss on sale of land 180 180

29 45,950 45,950
30| Insurance expense (a) | 270 270
31| Rent revenue (b)| 150 150

32| Salaries payable (c) | 900 900
33| Interest expense (d)| 594 594

34| Interest payable (d)| 594 594
35| Interest receivable (e) 66 66

36| Interest revenue (e)| 66 66
37| Depreciation expense: bldg (f) | 264 264
38| Depreciation expense: equip (9) | 120 120

39| Bad debts expense (h) | 170 170
40| Allow.for doubtful accounts (h)| 170 170
4 2,534 2,534] 15216 17,216
42| Income tax expense (i) | 600 600
43| Income taxes payable (i) | 600 600
44 15,816 17,216
45| Netincome 1,400 1,400
46 3,134 3,134 17,216 17,216 500 1,400
47| Retained earnings, 12/31/07 900 900
48 1,400 1,400 32,348 32,348
49

50
51| (a) To record 9 months of insurance expense
52| (b) To record 1 month of rent revenue
53| (c) To record 3 months of accrued salaries expense

54| (d) To record 9 months of accrued interest expense

55| (e) To record 9 months of accrued interest revenue

56| (f) To record 9 months depr expense on building

57| (g) To record 9 months depr expense on equipment
58| (h) To record estimated bad debts expense
59| (i) To record income tax expense

Step 2: The accounts are analyzed to determine the necessary adjustments, which are
initially entered in the adjustments columns on the worksheet. If an adjustment
involves an account that does not currently have a balance, the account title is entered
on the first available line below the other account titles. Each of the adjusting journal
entries we show in Example 3-4 is initially prepared as shown on the worksheet. Note
that the adjusting entry for income taxes is not made until after the income before
income taxes is computed. Note also that the accounts in each adjusting entry are keyed
with the same letter of the alphabet to reduce the likelihood of error. Explanations
keyed to these entries are entered at the bottom of the worksheet. They are similar to the
adjusting entry explanations that we included in Example 3-4. The adjustments columns
are subtotaled to prove the equality of the debits and credits. At this point, some com-
panies prepare an adjusted trial balance in a next set of columns. For an adjusted trial
balance, the adjustment amounts are combined with the trial balance amounts to deter-
mine the new account balances. This step may be omitted as we did in the Dapple
Corporation worksheet. If we had included adjusted trial balance columns, they would
look like Example 3-5.
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9 Prepare revers-
ing entries.

Step 3: The trial balance amount of each account is combined with the adjustments
to that account and carried over to the proper column of the financial statement in which
the account is located. For instance, the $360 debit balance in Prepaid Insurance is com-
bined with the $270 credit adjustment, and the new balance of $90 is carried over to the
debit column of the balance sheet.

Step 4: The income statement debit and credit columns are subtotaled. Ordinarily the
debit column total differs from the credit column total, the difference being the income
(or loss) before income taxes. For the Dapple Corporation the $17,216 credit total exceeds
the $15,216 debit total, indicating income before income taxes of $2,000. At this point,
the applicable tax rate (30% in this case) is multiplied by the income before income taxes
to determine the income taxes ($600). The adjusting entry for income taxes is recorded,
and the amounts are carried to the proper columns of the financial statements.

Step 5: The financial statement debit and credit columns are totaled in sequential
order. First the income statement columns are totaled. The difference between the debit
and credit totals is the net income or loss for the period. For the Dapple Corporation the
net income is $1,400. This amount is used to balance the income statement columns. It
is also entered in the retained earnings statement credit column. We use the arrows in
Example 3-10 for illustrative purposes; they ordinarily are not included on the worksheet.
The beginning retained earnings balance ($0 in this case) is combined with the net
income to determine the $1,400 credit total. The $500 debit total is the dividends dis-
tributed. The $900 difference is the ending retained earnings. It is used to balance the
retained earnings statement columns and is also transferred to the balance sheet credit
column. Finally, the balance sheet debit and credit columns are totaled. The $32,348
total of the debit and credit columns indicates that the system is in balance and the work-
sheet is complete.

The worksheet is prepared as a preliminary step, before recording the adjusting and
closing entries in the general journal and preparing the financial statements. A brief
review of the Dapple Corporation worksheet indicates how a worksheet helps in the
accounting process. All the adjusting entries are developed and shown on the worksheet
in their basic format. They now must be recorded in the general journal. The closing
entries are also simplified. The $17,216 total of the income statement credit column is
credited to Income Summary, while the individual accounts with credit balances are
debited. Similarly, the $15,816 debit subtotal is debited to Income Summary, while the
individual accounts with debit balances are credited. The remaining closing entries
involve closing both net income and dividends to Retained Earnings. Finally, the work-
sheet helps in preparing the actual financial statements. The amounts from the work-
sheet columns for each financial statement are rearranged in the proper order on that
financial statement. For instance, note how easy it would be to prepare the income
statement, retained earnings statement, and balance sheet shown in Examples 3-6, 3-7,
and 3-8 from the respective worksheet columns. The worksheet is very useful in prepar-
ing interim (such as quarterly) financial statements when a company does not actually
adjust or close its accounts. The adjusting entries needed to update the financial state-
ments may be made on the worksheet only, thereby enabling the company to keep its
accounts on an annual basis.

REVERSING ENTRIES

After a company adjusts and closes its accounts for the current period, it begins a new
accounting cycle for the next accounting period. Prior to journalizing the daily trans-
actions of the new accounting period in the general journal, most companies prepare
reversing entries. A reversing entry is the exact reverse (accounts and amounts) of an
adjusting entry. A company usually makes reversing entries at the same time as closing
entries but dates them the first day of the next accounting period. A reversing entry is



Reversing Entries

optional and has one purpose: to simplify the recording of a later transaction related to the
adjusting entry. A reversing entry enables a company to routinely record the later trans-
action, without having to consider the possible impact of the prior adjusting entry.

As a general guideline, reversing entries should be made for any adjusting entry that |
creates a new balance sheet account as follows:

1. Adjusting entries that create accrued revenues or expenses to be collected or paid in
the next accounting period

2. Adjusting entries related to prepayments of costs initially recorded as expenses or
receipts-in-advance initially recorded as revenues

Reversing entries should not be made for:

1. Adjusting entries related to prepayments of costs initially recorded as assets or
receipts-in-advance initially recorded as liabilities
2. Adjusting entries related to estimated items such as depreciation or bad debts

These guidelines are just that, guidelines. They are no substitute for good accounting judgment.

Example: Reversing Entry

The Dapple Corporation should consider reversing two of the adjusting entries recorded in
Example 3-4. That is, the entries to record accrued interest revenue and accrued salaries
expense. Each of these is related to a transaction that will occur in the next accounting period.
The entry to record income taxes is generally not reversed because complex tax laws require
careful analysis for each journal entry. Although the adjusting entry for interest expense cre-
ated an accrued expense, Interest Payable, this entry is not reversed because the subsequent
transaction will not occur until 2009. Example 3-11 illustrates reversing entries and how they
simplify the recording of subsequent transactions for Interest Revenue and Salaries Expense.

For each of these accounts, in the left column we first assume a reversing entry is not
made so you can see the complex subsequent journal entry and analysis that is needed.
In the right column we assume a reversing entry is made so you can see the much simpler
subsequent journal entry and analysis.

Whether or not it makes reversing entries, the Dapple Corporation will collect $1,419
on March 1, 2008 for the 15%, six-month note receivable accepted on September 1, 2007.
The $1,419 includes the $1,320 note and $99 of interest ($1,320 X 0.15 X 6/12). If it does
not make a reversing entry, when Dapple records this collection it must determine what
portion of the interest relates to 2007 ($66 of Interest Receivable) and what portion is
Interest Revenue for 2008 ($33 for two months). Often this analysis is complex and
impractical. The use of a reversing entry eliminates this analysis. The entire amount of the
$99 received in excess of the face value of the note is credited to Interest Revenue. Since the
reversing entry created a $66 debit balance in Interest Revenue, the $99 credit results in a
$33 credit balance, the two months of interest for 2008, in the Interest Revenue account.

Similarly, on April 1, 2008 the Dapple Corporation will pay its employees another
6 months of salaries, or $1,800. If Dapple does not make a reversing entry, when it pays
the salaries it must determine what portion of the salary payment relates to 2007 ($900
of Salaries Payable) and what portion is Salaries Expense for 2008 ($900 for 3 months).
The use of a reversing entry eliminates this analysis. The entire $1,800 payment is debited
to Salaries Expense. When combined with the $900 credit balance in Salaries Expense
established by the reversing entry, the result is a $900 debit balance, the amount repre-
senting three months of salaries expense for 2008. ¢

Alternative Procedures

As we indicated in the discussion of the adjusting entry for deferred revenues, some compa-
nies initially record the receipt of revenues in advance of being earned as a revenue instead of
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EXAMPLE 3-11 Reversing Entries (Dapple Corporation)

12/31/07 Interest Receivable

Interest Revenue

If reversing entry is not made:

Reversing Entry
1/1/08 None

Subsequent Entry
3/1/08 Cash 1,419

Notes Receivable 1,320
Interest Receivable 66
Interest Revenue 33

Analysis of Subsequent Entry
Interest of $99 is collected, but $66 was recorded
in Interest Receivable at end of last period.
Consequently, Interest Receivable must be
credited for $66 and Interest Revenue
credited for $33.

12/31/07 Salaries Expense
Salaries Payable

If reversing entry is not made:

Reversing Entry
1/1/08 None
Subsequent Entry
4/1/08  Salaries Expense 900
Salaries Payable 900

Cash
Analysis of Subsequent Entry
Salaries of $1,800 for 6 months are paid, but
$900 was recorded in Salaries Payable at end of

last period. Consequently, Salaries Payable must
be debited for $900 and Salaries Expense

1,800

Accrued Revenue

Adjusting Entry

66
66

12/31/07 Revenues and expenses are CLOSED.

If reversing entry is made:
Reversing Entry
Interest Revenue 66
Interest Receivable 66
Subsequent Entry
3/1/08 Cash
Notes Receivable 1,320
Interest Revenue 99

1/1/08

1,419

Analysis of Subsequent Entry

Interest of $99 is collected andcredited to
Interest Revenue. Because reversing entry
was made for $66, the net result in Interest
Revenue is a $33 credit balance.

Accrued Expense

Adjusting Entry

900
900

12/31/07 Revenues and expensesare CLOSED.

If reversing entry is made:
Reversing Entry

1/1/08  SalariesPayable 900
Salaries Expense 900
Subsequent Entry
4/1/08 SalariesExpense 1,800
Cash 1,800

Analysis of Subsequent Entry

Salaries of $1,800 for 6 months are paid and
debited to Salaries Expense. Because
reversing entry was made for $900, the net
result in Salaries Expense is a $900

10 Use subsidiary
ledgers.

debited for $900. debit balance.

a liability. We showed that Dapple Corporation could have recorded the December 1 receipt of
three months’ advance rent as a credit to Rent Revenue for $450. In this case the adjusting
entry is a debit to Rent Revenue for $300 and a credit to Unearned Rent for $300. This adjust-
ing entry creates a balance sheet account and should be reversed. On January 1, 2008 a revers-
ing entry should be made debiting Unearned Rent for $300 and crediting Rent Revenue for
$300. This entry eliminates the Unearned Rent account balance and creates a $300 balance in
Rent Earned for the two months of 2008. No further adjusting entry is needed in 2008.

SUBSIDIARY LEDGERS

Even in the relatively simple Dapple Corporation example, the general ledger contains
many accounts. For a larger company that sells to many customers and purchases from
many suppliers, the general ledger is much larger because the company incurs additional
types of expenses and earns other types of revenues. The company also must keep ade-
quate records of amounts owed by each customer and to each supplier.



To (1) reduce the size of the general ledger, (2) minimize errors, (3) divide the
accounting task, and (4) keep up-to-date records of its credit customers and suppliers, a
company creates subsidiary ledgers that are not part of the double-entry system. A sub-
sidiary ledger is a group of accounts, all of which relate to one specific company activ-
ity. Most companies have separate subsidiary ledgers for accounts receivable and
accounts payable. These ledgers enable a company to better focus on the collection and
payment process for the receivables and payables. Many companies also use subsidiary
ledgers for major categories of accounts, such as property and equipment, selling
expenses, and administrative expenses. The accounts receivable subsidiary ledger contains
the individual accounts of all the company’s credit customers. Since the individual cus-
tomer accounts have debit balances, this subsidiary ledger has a total debit balance (com-
puted by preparing a schedule of the individual customer account balances).

When a company uses this subsidiary ledger, it still keeps an Accounts Receivable
account in the general ledger. This account is referred to as a control account because its
debit balance must be equal to that of the subsidiary ledger. In a computerized account-
ing system, each posting to the Account Receivable control account is also automatically
posted to the applicable subsidiary ledger account. Similarly, the accounts payable sub-
sidiary ledger contains the individual accounts of all the company’s credit suppliers. Since
these accounts have credit balances, the credit total of this subsidiary ledger must agree
with the credit total of the Accounts Payable control account in the general ledger. If the
Dapple Corporation used a subsidiary ledger for the accounts receivable, the ledger and
control account balances at the end of 2007 would appear as we show in Example 3-12.

EXAMPLE 3-12 Accounts Receivable Control Account and

Subsidiary Ledger

Ending Account Balances for 2007

General Ledger Subsidiary Ledger

Frank Company
Balance 3,000 |

Accounts Receivable
Balance 7,000 |

Knox Company
Balance 4,000 |

SPECIAL JOURNALS

When a company increases in size and complexity, it needs to efficiently record and sum-
marize many daily transactions. Special journals are used for this purpose. A special jour-
nal is a journal used by a company to record its transactions with a similar
characteristic. A company uses these journals (1) to divide the accounting task, (2) to
reduce the time needed to complete the various accounting activities, and (3) to provide
for a chronological listing of similar transactions. There are four common types of trans-
actions for which special journals are usually established: (1) sales of merchandise on
credit, (2) purchases of merchandise on credit, (3) cash receipts, and (4) cash payments.
A company still needs a general journal to record various other transactions or events not
repetitive enough to require the use of special journals.
The major journals and their uses are:

1. Sales Journal. Used to record all (and only) sales of merchandise on credit.

2. Purchases Journal. Used to record all (and only) purchases of merchandise on credit.
3. Cash Receipts Journal. Used to record all cash receipts.

4. Cash Payments Journal. Used to record all cash payments.

Special Journals o3

11Understand
special journals.
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5. General Journal. Used to record adjusting, closing, and reversing entries and other
transactions not recorded in the special journals.

Because operating procedures and transactions vary across companies, each company
organizes its special journals in a way best suited to its operations.

@ SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 3-3

® A worksheet is a tool designed to minimize errors, simplify the recording of adjusting
and closing entries in the general journal, and help in preparing financial statements.

® A reversing entry is the exact reverse of an adjusting entry and is used to simplify the
recording of a later transaction related to the adjusting entry.

® A subsidiary ledger is a group of accounts for one specific company activity that sums
to the total of the related control account in the general ledger.

® Special journals such as the sales journal, purchases journal, cash receipts journal and
cash payments journal are tools used to record business transactions with similar char-
acteristics that allow for increased efficiency and effectiveness in the accounting cycle.

COMPUTER SOFTWARE

In this chapter (and throughout the book) we use a manual accounting system for con-
venience. In the business world, however, most companies use computer software to
process their accounting information. Software has been developed by software compa-
nies for the subsidiary ledgers and special journals we discussed earlier, as well as other
financial accounting functions relating to accounts receivable, accounts payable, inven-
tory, payroll, and the general ledger. We briefly describe each type of software next.

Accounts Receivable

Because a company generates much of the cash needed for its operations from the collection
of accounts receivable, the software for accounts receivable is a very important aspect of a
computer system. Accounts receivable software generally is designed to provide up-to-date
balances in customers’ accounts by immediately recording invoices and cash receipts from
customers; print out monthly statements (bills) for customers; monitor sales returns and
allowances as well as sales discounts taken by customers; generate a credit history of each cus-
tomer to help avoid uncollectible accounts; and provide projections of future cash inflows.

Accounts Payable

Accounts payable software monitors and controls the cash a company pays to suppliers.
In the case of a retailer or wholesaler, payments for purchases of inventory for resale is the
primary activity. The software for accounts payable generally is designed to provide up-to-
date balances in suppliers” accounts by immediately recording purchase orders and cash
payments to suppliers; generate a list to verify the quantity and unit price of an order
when it is received from a supplier; monitor purchases returns and allowances and pur-
chases discounts taken; write checks; and provide projections of future cash outflows.

Inventory

Inventory is a very important asset for many companies. Most inventory software is linked
to a company'’s accounts receivable and accounts payable software. Inventory software
generally is designed to provide an up-to-date count of the number of units of each item of



Appendix: Cash-Basis Accounting 95

inventory by immediately recording all unit purchases and sales; highlight when a mini-
mum or maximum stock level has been reached for each item of inventory; print price tags
for newly acquired inventory; prepare reports on slow-moving or obsolete inventory
items; and provide unit prices when a physical count of the inventory is taken.

Payroll

Software for a company’s payroll was one of the first to be developed. Payroll software
can be very complex because of the various federal, state, and local tax laws. Payroll soft-
ware may be designed to compute the salaries earned by each employee based on pay
rates and overtime; allocate the salaries across departments in the company; calculate fed-
eral, state, and local withholding taxes; compute other voluntary withholdings such as for
investments in retirement plans; print payroll checks; generate comparisons of actual
with projected salaries; and prepare various tax-withholding reports.

General Ledger

General ledger software is broader than the name implies and includes many aspects of a
company’s accounting system. General ledger software usually includes all special jour-
nals and the general journal for recording transactions, a chart of accounts, and the ledger
accounts on disks for storing the recorded information. Usually, the software is capable
of preparing a trial balance and financial statements at any point in time. Frequently, sup-
porting schedules (e.g., depreciation) and budgets also may be generated. The general
ledger software of a company usually is linked to its accounts receivable, accounts
payable, inventory, and payroll software.

APPENDIX: CASH-BASIS ACCOUNTING

As we mentioned earlier in this chapter, most companies use accrual accounting. Under
accrual accounting, a company records revenues in the accounting period in which they are
earned and realized, and records expenses in the accounting period they are incurred. A few
companies such as small retail stores and professionals such as dentists, doctors, and architects
use cash-basis accounting. Under cash-basis accounting, a company records revenues when it
collects cash from sales and records expenses when it pays cash for its operations. On its
income statement, then, the company computes its net income as the difference between its
cash receipts and cash payments. In other words, net income is the same as the net operating
cash flow for the period. The company may choose not to prepare a balance sheet. However, it
frequently will keep track of certain assets such as amounts owed by customers (accounts
receivable), amounts paid in advance (prepaid expenses), and any property and equipment it
owns. It also frequently will keep track of certain liabilities such as amounts owed to suppliers
(accounts payable) and amounts owed to employees (accrued expenses). Cash-basis account-
ing, however, is not allowed under generally accepted accounting principles.

Sometimes a company that is using cash-basis accounting must prepare its financial
statements based on accrual accounting. This might happen, for instance, if it applies for
a bank loan and the bank requires financial statements prepared using generally accepted
accounting principles. In this case, the company must convert its cash-basis income state-
ment to an accrual-basis income statement and must prepare a related balance sheet.
This involves making adjustments to the cash receipts to convert them to sales revenues
and making adjustments to the cash payments to convert them to cost of goods sold and
operating expenses. It also involves combining the information it has about its assets and
liabilities into a formal balance sheet.

Exhibit 3-4 shows the basic adjustments that a company must make to convert its
cash receipts and cash payments into accrual-based revenues, cost of goods sold, and
operating expenses. In addition, the company must include depreciation expense on its
property and equipment in the operating expenses.

12Convert cash-
basis financial
statements to
accrual-basis.
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EXHIBIT 3-4 Adjustments to Convert Cash-Basis to Accrual-Basis Accounting

Cash Basis » Adjustments » Accrual Basis
Collections from customers * Endl'ng.accounts recewable = Sales revenue
— Beginning accounts receivable
+ Beginning inventory
. — Ending inventory _
Payments to suppliers + Ending accounts payable = Cost of goods sold
— Beginning accounts payable
+ Beginning prepaid expenses
Payments for other — Ending prepaid expenses = Operating expenses
operating costs + Ending accrued expenses (except depreciation)
— Beginning accrued expenses

Example: Cash-Basis Accounting

Assume that Gretta Gropples starts Gropples Company (a small retail store organized as a sole
proprietorship) on January 1, 2007 by investing cash of $20,000. Gropples Company uses
cash-basis accounting but wants to prepare its financial statements on an accrual basis. At the
end of the year, the company’s checkbook shows cash receipts from customers of $95,000,
cash payments of $106,000, and an ending cash balance of $9,000. Based on a physical inven-
tory, the company determined that its inventory at the end of 2007 is $7,200. It also deter-
mined that at the end of 2007, customers owed it $4,300, and that it owed suppliers $5,100
and employees $500. The company examined its checkbook and found that during 2007:

1. It paid suppliers $54,000 and paid other operating costs of $29,000. Included in
the other operating costs was $6,000 that it paid on January 1 for two years of rent
on store space.

2. It paid $8,000 for store equipment on January 1. It planned to use straight-line
depreciation and expected to use the store equipment for five years, after which the
store equipment would have a zero residual value.

3. Gretta withdrew $15,000 during the year.

Based on this information, using accrual accounting the company prepared its income
statement for 2007 that we show in Example 3-13 and its balance sheet at the end of 2007
that we show in Example 3-14.

In Example 3-13, Gropples Company computed its $99,300 sales revenues by adding
the $4,300 ending accounts receivable to the $95,000 it collected from customers. The com-
pany computed its $51,900 cost of goods sold by subtracting the $7,200 ending inventory
and adding the $5,100 ending accounts payable to the $54,000 it paid to suppliers. It com-
puted the $26,500 other operating expenses by subtracting the $3,000 prepaid rent (the cost
of the remaining year of rent it had paid for in advance) and adding the $500 ending salaries
payable to the $29,000 it paid for other operating costs. It computed the $1,600 depreciation
expense by dividing the $8,000 cost of the store equipment by the five-year estimated life.

In Example 3-14, most of the amounts come from the initial information we pre-
sented for the company. The $1,600 accumulated depreciation is the depreciation to date
(one year, in this example; in later years, this amount would increase each year by the
amount of the annual depreciation expense). The company computed the $24,300
amount of the G. Gropples capital account by adding the $19,300 net income and sub-
tracting the $15,000 withdrawals from the $20,000 initial investment.

In more complex situations, a company may have items such as deferred revenues
and accrued revenues, sales returns and allowances, purchases returns and allowances,
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EXAMPLE 3-13 Income Statement (Gropples Company)

GROPPLES COMPANY

Income Statement
For Year Ended December 31,2007

Sales revenue $99,3002
Cost of goods sold (51,900)®
Gross profit $47,400
Operating expenses

Depreciation expenses $ 1,600

Other operating expenses 26,500¢

Total expenses (28,100)
Net Income $19,300

2$95,000 collections from customers + $4,300 ending accounts receivable.
$54,000 payments to suppliers — $7,200 ending inventory + $5,100 ending accounts payable.

€$29,000 payments for other operating costs — $3,000 ending prepaid rent ($6,000 x 1/2) + $500
ending salaries payable.

d4$8,000 store equipment -+ 5years.

and interest revenue and expense, as well as gains or losses on sales of equipment. In
these cases the company may make additional adjustments to determine its revenues and
expenses, and may provide more detail in the revenues, cost of goods sold, and operating
expenses sections of its income statement. For convenience, the company may prepare a
worksheet to help it determine these amounts. Regardless of how simple or complex the
adjustments are, the intent is to report the company’s financial statements on an accrual
basis according to generally accepted accounting principles. ¢

EXAMPLE 3-14 Balance Sheet (Gropples Company)

GROPPLES COMPANY

Balance Sheet
December 31, 2007

Assets Liabilities

Current Assets Current Liabilities
Cash $ 9,000 Accounts payable $ 5,100
Accounts receivable 4,300 Salaries payable 500
Inventory 7,200 Total liabilities $ 5,600
Prepaid rent 3,000
Total current assets $23,500 Owner’s Equity

Property and Equipment G. Gropples, capital $24,3002
Store equipment $ 8,000
Less: Accumulateddepreciation  (1,600)
Total property and equipment 6,400

Total Assets $29,900 Total Liabilities $29,900

2$20,000 beginning investment + $19,300 net income (from Example3-13) — $15,000 withdrawals.
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SUMMARY

At the beginning of the chapter, we identified several objectives you would accomplish after reading the chapter. The objec-
tives are listed below, each followed by a brief summary of the key points in the chapter discussion.

1. Understand the components of an accounting system. The components of an accounting system include: (1) the
framework for operating the system, (2) the input source documents, (3) the records used to store accounting informa-
tion, and (4) the output reports.

2. Know the major steps in the accounting cycle. The major steps in the accounting cycle include: (1) recording (journal-
izing) daily transactions in a journal, (2) posting the journal entries to the accounts in the general ledger, (3) preparing
and posting adjusting entries, (4) preparing the financial statements, and (5) preparing and posting closing entries for
the revenue, expense, and dividend accounts.

3. Prepare journal entries in the general journal. To make a journal entry to record a transaction, enter the date in the date
column. Next, enter the title of the account and amount to be debited in the account titles column and debit column,
respectively. Then, enter the title of the account and amount to be credited in the account titles column and credit col-
umn, respectively. Finally, write a short explanation of the transaction in the account titles column.

4. Post to the general ledger and prepare a trial balance. To post to the general ledger, for each journal entry, first transfer
from the general journal the date and the amount debited to the account in the general ledger. Next, transfer the date and
the amount credited to the account in the general ledger. To prepare a trial balance at the end of the accounting period,
first compute the balance in each account. Then, list each account and list its balance in the debit or credit column of the
working paper (trial balance). Finally, total the debit and credit columns to verify that the totals are equal.

5. Prepare adjusting entries. Adjusting entries are journal entries made at the end of the accounting period so that a com-
pany’s financial statements include the correct amounts for the current period. Adjusting entries are made to: (1) appor-
tion prepaid and deferred items, (2) record accrued items, and (3) record estimated items. Adjusting entries are made in
the usual manner in the general journal.

6. Prepare financial statements. To prepare a company’s financial statements, first prepare an adjusted trial balance to ver-
ify that the total of the debit balances is equal to the total of the credit balances in the company’s accounts. Then, prepare
the income statement, which includes the company’s revenues, expenses, and net income. Next, prepare the retained
earnings statement, which shows the change in retained earnings because of the company’s net income and dividends.
Finally, prepare the balance sheet, which includes the company’s assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity.

7. Prepare closing entries. Closing entries are journal entries of a company made at the end of the accounting period
(1) to reduce the balance in each temporary account (revenue, expense, and dividend accounts) to zero, and (2) to update
the retained earnings account. Closing entries are made in the usual manner in the general journal.

8. Complete a worksheet (spreadsheet). To complete a worksheet, first list each account and list its balance in the debit or
credit column of the trial balance. Second, enter the adjusting entries as debits or credits in the adjustments columns.
Third, combine the trial balance amount of each account with the adjustments to that account and carry over the result-
ing amount to the proper column of the financial statement in which the account is included. Fourth, subtotal the
income statement debit and credit columns, make an adjusting entry for any income taxes on the difference between the
columns (the pretax income), and carry the adjustment amounts to the appropriate financial statement columns. Finally,
subtotal the income statement columns. List the difference as net income (or net loss), write the amount in the debit
(credit) column and balance the income statement columns. Transfer the net income (net loss) amount to the retained
earnings columns and balance these columns. Then transfer the retained earnings balance to the balance sheet credit col-
umn and balance these columns.

9. Prepare reversing entries. A reversing entry is the exact reverse (accounts and amounts) of an adjusting entry. Reversing
entries are made at the end of an accounting period to simplify the recording of later transactions. A reversing entry
enables a company to routinely record the later transaction without having to consider the possible impact of the prior
adjusting entry.

10. Use subsidiary ledgers. A subsidiary ledger is a group of accounts, all of which pertain to one specific company activity.
Most companies have subsidiary ledgers for accounts receivable and accounts payable to better focus on collections from
customers and payments for payables. When a company uses a subsidiary ledger it still maintains a control account in its
general ledger. The balance of the control account must be equal to the total of the balances of all the individual accounts
in the subsidiary ledger.

11. Understand special journals. The major special journals are the: (1) sales journal (for sales on credit), (2) purchases
journal (for purchases on credit), (3) cash receipts journal, (4) cash payments journal, and (5) general journal (for mis-
cellaneous transactions).
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12. Convert cash-basis financial statements to accrual-basis (Appendix). First, start with the income statement. Make
adjustments to the collections from customers for any changes in accounts receivable. Make adjustments to the payments
to suppliers for any changes in inventory and accounts payable. Make adjustments to the payments for other operating
costs for any changes in prepaid expenses or accrued expenses, and for depreciation expense. Complete the accrual-basis
income statement using the resulting amounts. Use the cash balance from the company’s checkbook and the information
from the preceding adjustments (e.g., accounts receivable, accounts payable, etc.) to prepare the ending balance sheet.

Q3-1  What is a primary objective of financial reporting?
Q3-2  What is an accounting system?
03-3  Discuss the relationship between the accounting

equation and the double-entry system of recording transactions.

Q3-4  What is the difference between a permanent and a
temporary account? Give examples of each.

Q3-5  What are the major financial statements of a com-
pany and what information does each summarize?

Q3-6  Define the following:
a. Account

b. Contra account

c. Ledger

d. Journal

e. Posting

Q3-7 Why is it advantageous to a company to initially
record each of its transactions in a journal?

Q3-8 What is a perpetual accounting system? What jour-
nal entries are involved?

Q3-9  Give examples of transactions that:
Increase an asset and a liability.

Increase an asset and stockholders’ equity.
Increase an asset and decrease an asset.
Decrease an asset and a liability.

Decrease an asset and stockholders’ equity.

Pap oe

Q3-10 Give examples of transactions that:

a. Increase inventory account and a liability.

b. Decrease inventory account and a liability.

c. Increase inventory account and decrease an asset.
d. Decrease inventory account and increase an asset.

Q3-11 What are the steps that a company completes in the
accounting cycle? Briefly discuss each step.

Q3-12 Why are adjusting entries necessary?

Q3-13 What are prepaid expenses and deferred revenues?
Give an example of an adjusting entry to update each of
these items at year-end.

Q3-14 What are accrued expenses and accrued revenues? Give
an example of an adjusting entry to record each of these items.

0Q3-15 Give two examples of adjusting entries to record
estimated items. Include in one example a discussion of how
depreciation is computed.

Q3-16 What is the difference between a trial balance and
an adjusted trial balance? Why is the latter a useful accounting
working paper?

Q3-17 What is the difference between a sales return and a
sales discount? How does each affect net sales?

Q3-18 What is a periodic inventory system? How is cost of
goods sold computed when a company uses a periodic
inventory system?

03-19 What are the objectives of closing entries?

Q3-20 Show, without amounts, the form of the closing
entries for a retail store using a perpetual inventory system.

Q3-21 What is a worksheet? How does the use of a work-
sheet facilitate the completion of the accounting cycle?

0Q3-22 What are reversing entries and why are they used?
Give an example of an adjusting entry and a reversing entry
for salaries payable, and the later entry to pay the salaries.

Q3-23 What is a subsidiary ledger and a control account, and
why are they used? Give an example of how they work.

Q3-24 What are special journals and what advantages are
achieved by using them?

Q3-25 What are the major special journals? Give an example
of transactions that would be recorded in each journal.

Q3-26 Identify the common software for the financial
accounting functions.

0Q3-27 What is cash-basis accounting? What must a com-
pany do to convert its cash-basis accounting records to an
accrual-based income statement?
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EXERCISES

E3-1 Financial Statement Interrelationship Draw a diagram that shows the interrelationship between the beginning bal-
ance sheet, income statement, retained earnings statement, and ending balance sheet.

E3-2  Journal Entries The Mead Company uses a perpetual inventory system and engaged in the following transactions
during the month of May:

Date Transaction
May 1 Made cash sales of $6,300; the cost of the inventory was $3,700.
5 Purchased $2,000 of inventory on credit.
9 Made credit sales of $3,300; the cost of the inventory sold was $1,900.
13 Paid sales salaries of $900 and office salaries of $600.
14 Paid for the May 5 purchases.
18 Purchased sales equipment costing $8,000; made a down payment of $2,000 and agreed to pay the balance in
60 days.
21 Purchased $600 of inventory for cash.
27 Sold land that had originally cost $1,900 for $2,600.

Required
Record the preceding transactions in a general journal.

E3-3  Journal Entries The following are selected accounts and account balances of the Sawyer Company on May 31:

Debit (Credit)
Cash $12,523
Accounts receivable 23,052
Inventory 16,300
Office equipment 35,860
Accumulated depreciation (10,540)
Notes payable (3,400)
Accounts payable (3,500)
Sales revenue (47,872)
Gain on sale of office equipment (400)
Cost of goods sold 22,354
Utility expense 1,124

The Sawyer Company entered into the following transactions during June:

Date Transaction
June 3 Sold for $700 office equipment that had cost $2,000 and has associated accumulated depreciation of $1,500.
7 Made sales of $2,000 on credit; the cost of the inventory sold was $1,200.
10 Purchased $1,000 of inventory for cash.
15 Purchased new office equipment costing $4,000, paying $1,500 and signing a 90-day note for the balance.
16 Received check for June 7 credit sale.
17 Made cash sales of $4,200; the cost of the inventory sold was $2,300.
20 Purchased $2,600 of inventory on credit.
24 Returned $200 of defective inventory from the June 20 purchase for a credit to its account.
29 Paid for the June 20 purchase less the return.
30 Paid the monthly utility bill, $210.

Required
1. Record the preceding transactions in a general journal.
2. Post to the accounts.
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E3-4  Basic Income Statement The following are selected account balances of the Rule Corporation at the end of 2007:
Debit Credit
Operating expenses $3,800

Sales returns 600
Sales revenue $16,200
Cost of goods sold 8,300
Interest expense 800
Gain on sale of land 500

The company is subject to a 30% income tax rate and stockholders own 800 shares of its capital stock.

Required
Prepare a 2007 income statement for Rule Corporation.

E3-5  Periodic Inventory System Raynolde Company uses a periodic inventory system. At the end of 2007, the following
information is available:

Purchases returns and allowances $ 1,400

Inventory, 12/31/2007 11,900
Purchases 21,200
Inventory, 1/1/2007 10,800
Purchases discounts 600
Required

Prepare a schedule to compute Raynolde Company’s cost of goods sold for 2007.

E3-6  Financial Statements The Turtle Company has prepared the following adjusted trial balance for the year ended
December 31, 2007:

Debit Credit
Cash $ 1,700
Accounts receivable (net) 2,100
Inventory 1,800
Equipment 5,400
Accumulated depreciation $ 1,700
Accounts payable 2,300
Salaries payable 300
Income taxes payable 360
Capital stock (400 shares) 3,200
Retained earnings 2,500
Dividends distributed 200
Sales revenue 7,900
Cost of goods sold 4,300
Selling expenses 1,800
Administrative expenses 600
Income tax expense 360
Totals $18,260 $18,260

Required
Prepare for 2007 in proper form: (1) an income statement, (2) a retained earnings statement, (3) an ending balance sheet,
and (4) closing entries.

E3-7  Adjusting Entries Your examination of the records of the Sullivan Company provides the following information for

the December 31, 2007 year-end adjustments:

1. Bad debts are to be recorded at 2% of sales. Sales totaled $25,000 for the year.

2. Salaries at year-end that have accumulated but have not been paid total $1,400.

3. Annual straight-line depreciation for the company’s equipment is based on a cost of $30,000, an estimated life of eight
years, and an estimated residual value of $2,000.

4. Prepaid insurance in the amount of $800 has expired.

Interest that has been earned but not collected totals $500.

6. Unearned rent in the amount of $1,000 has become earned.

b
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7. Interest on a note payable that has accumulated but has not been paid totals $600.
8. The income tax rate is 30% on current income and is payable in the first quarter of 2008. The pretax income before the
preceding adjusting entries is $6,800.

Required
Prepare the adjusting entries to record the preceding information.

E3-8  Adjusting Entries The following are several transactions of the Pruitt Company that occurred during the current year
and were recorded in real (that is, balance sheet) accounts unless indicated otherwise:

Date Transaction

Apr. 1 Purchased a delivery van for $10,000, paying $1,000 down, and issuing a one-year, 12% note payable for the
$9,000 balance. It is estimated that the van has a four-year life and an $800 residual value; the company uses
straight-line depreciation. The interest on the note will be paid on the maturity date.

May 15 Purchased $830 of office supplies.

June 2 Purchased a two-year comprehensive insurance policy for $960.

Aug. 1 Received six months’ rent in advance at $260 per month and recorded the $1,560 receipt as Rent Earned.
Sept.15 Advanced $600 to sales personnel to cover their future travel costs.
Nov. 1 Accepted a $6,000, six-month, 12% (annual rate) note receivable from a customer, the interest to be collected

when the note is collected.

The following information also is available:

1. On January 1, the Office Supplies account had a $250 balance. On December 31, an inventory count showed $190 of
office supplies on hand.

2. The weekly (five-day) payroll of Pruitt Company amounts to $2,000. All employees are paid at the close of business each
Wednesday. A two-day accrual is required for the current year.

3. Sales personnel travel cost reports indicate that $490 of advances had been used to pay travel expenses.

4. The income tax rate is 30% on current income and is payable in the first quarter of next year. The pretax income before
the adjusting entries is $8,655.

Required
On the basis of the above information, prepare journal entries to record whatever adjustments are necessary to bring the
accounts up to date on December 31. Each journal entry explanation should show any related computations.

E3-9  Adjusting Entries The following partial list of accounts and account balances has been taken from the trial balance
and the adjusted trial balance of the Barker Company:

Adjusted
Trial Balance Trial Balance

Debit Credit Debit Credit
Accumulated depreciation $5,200 $6,600
Allowance for doubtful accounts 380 650
Income taxes payable 0 2,250
Interest payable 0 320
Prepaid insurance $350 $90
Salaries payable 0 720
Unearned rent 900 300

Required
Prepare the adjusting entry that caused the change in each account balance.

E3-10 Closing Entries The Collins Corporation shows the following inventory, dividends, revenue, and expense account
balances before closing:

Debit Credit Debit Credit

Dividends distributed $ 250 Gain on sale of land $300
Sales revenue $2,400 Salaries expense $300
Sales returns 200 Utilities expense 130
Cost of goods sold 1,350 Miscellaneous expenses 120
Income tax expense 180

Required
Prepare closing entries.
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E3-11  Worksheet for Service Company The Grant Consulting Company has prepared a trial balance on the following par-
tially completed worksheet for the year ended December 31, 2007:

A B C D E F G H | | J K

1 Retained

2 Income Earnings Balance

3 Trial Balance Adjustments Statement Statement Sheet

4 Accounts Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit
5 |cash 3,800

6 |Prepaid rent 2,400

7 _|office equipment 7,000

8 |Accumulated depreciation 1,400

9 |Notes payable (due 7/1/08) 2,000
10 |capital stock (200 shares) 4,000
11 JRetained earnings (1/1/07) 3,200
12 |Dividends distributed 200
13 |Consulting revenues 6,100
14 |salaries expense 2,500
15 [Miscellaneous expenses 800
16| Totals 16,700] 16,700
17

Additional information: (a) On January 1, 2007 the company had paid two years’ rent in advance at $100 a month on its
office space, (b) the office equipment is being depreciated on a straight-line basis over a 10-year life, and no residual value is
expected, (c) interest of $150 has accrued on the note payable but has not been paid, and (d) the income tax rate is 30% on
current income and will be paid in the first quarter of 2008.

Required
1. Complete the worksheet.
2. Prepare financial statements for 2007.

E3-12 Worksheet, Including Inventory The Murphy Company prepared a trial balance on the following partially com-
pleted worksheet for the year ended December 31, 2007:

A B C D E F G H | | J K

1 Retained

2 Income Earnings Balance
3 Trial Balance Adjustments Statement Statement Sheet
4 Accounts Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit
5 |cash 2,500
6 |Accounts receivable 4,000
7 |Allowance for doubtful accounts 300
8 Inventory 8,200
9 Prepaid rent 3,600

10 |Equipment 30,000

11 |Accumulated depreciation 12,000

12 |Accounts payable 3,700

13 |Notes payable (due 7/1/08) 5,000

14 |capital stock (1,000 shares) 8,900

15 |Retained earnings (1/1/07) 10,200

16 |Dividends distributed 1,000

17 |sales revenues 45,000

18 |Cost of goods sold 21,000

19 |salaries expense 7,100

20 |utilities expense 3,300

21 Advertising expense 4,400

22| Totals 85,100] 85,100

23

Additional information: (a) The equipment is being depreciated on a straight-line basis over a 10-year life, with no residual
value; (b) salaries accrued but not recorded total $500; (c) on January 1, 2007 the company had paid three years’ rent in
advance at $100 per month; (d) bad debts are expected to be 1% of total sales; (e) interest of $400 has accrued on the note
payable; and (f) the income tax rate is 40% on current income and will be paid in the first quarter of 2008.

Required
1. Complete the worksheet.

2. Prepare financial statements for 2007.
3. Prepare closing entries in the general journal.
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E3-13 Reversing Entries On December 31, 2007 Adams Company made the following adjusting entries for its annual
accounting period:

Depreciation Expense 2,400
Accumulated Depreciation 2,400
To record depreciation on buildings.

Interest Receivable 500
Interest Revenue 500
To record interest on note receivable due January 28, 2008.

Rent Expense 400

Prepaid Rent 400
To record expired prepaid rent.
Interest Expense 620

Interest Payable 620

To record interest on note payable due March 16, 2008.

Required
Prepare whatever reversing entries are appropriate.

E3-14  Special Journals The following are several transactions of a company that uses special journals:

Transaction Journal
1. Purchase of inventory for cash.
2. Sale of inventory on credit.
3. Payment of sales salaries.
4. Purchase of inventory on credit.
5. Sale of merchandise for cash.
6. Purchase of land by issuing note payable.
7. Collection of short-term note receivable and related interest.
8. Return of defective inventory to supplier for credit to account.
9. Preparation of adjusting entries.
10. Purchase of equipment for cash.
Required

In the space provided, indicate in which journal the transaction would be recorded using the codes: G for general journal, S
for sales journal, P for purchases journal, CR for cash receipts journal, and CP for cash payments journal.

E3-15 Cash-Basis Accounting (Appendix) Ellis Company keeps its accounting records on a cash basis during the year. At
year-end, it adjusts its books to the accrual basis for preparing its financial statements. At the end of 2006, Ellis Company
reported the following balance sheet items:

Debit Credit
Cash $ 2,700
Accounts receivable 4,200
Inventory 5,600
Equipment 12,000
Accumulated depreciation $ 4,800
Accounts payable 6,100
M. Ellis, capital 13,600
Totals $24,500 $24,500

It is now the end of 2007. The company’s checkbook shows a balance of $4,700, which includes cash receipts from cus-
tomers of $51,300 and cash payments of $49,300.

An examination of the cash payments show that: (1)$30,600 was paid to suppliers, (2) $12,700 was paid for other oper-
ating costs (including $7,200 paid on January 1 for two years’ annual rent), and (3) $6,000 was withdrawn by M. Ellis.
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On December 31, 2007, (1) customers owed Ellis Company $5,900, (2)Ellis Company owed suppliers and employees
$7,000 and $900, respectively, and (3) the ending inventory was $6,300. Ellis is depreciating the equipment using straight-
line depreciation over a 10-year life (no residual value).

Required
Using accrual-based accounting, prepare (1) a 2007 income statement and (2) a December 31, 2007 balance sheet (show
supporting calculations).

PROBLEMS

P3-1  Journal Entries, Posting, and Trial Balance The account balances of the Antil Company on November 1, 2007 are as
follows:

Debit Credit Debit Credit
Cash $ 7,800 Patents $25,000
Accounts receivable 12,530 Accounts payable $38,750
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 740 Notes payable 2,400
Notes receivable 6,000 Common stock, no par 165,000
Inventory 25,121 Retained earnings, January 1, 2007 24,958
Prepaid insurance 840 Sales revenue 38,400
Office supplies 465 Sales returns and allowances 1,567
Land 74,350 Cost of goods sold 32,000
Buildings 66,580 Sales salaries expense 6,200
Accumulated depreciation: Office salaries expense 4,300
buildings 21,400 Advertising expense 1,250
Equipment 37,620 Utility expense 1,845
Accumulated depreciation: Interest revenue 550
equipment 11,480 Interest expense 210

During the month of November, the following transactions took place:

Date Transaction
Nov. 2 Made cash sales of $3,400; the cost of the inventory sold was $2,040.
3 Purchased $900 of inventory for cash.
5 Sold an unused 1/2 acre of land for $4,000; the land had originally cost $3,650.
8 Purchased a two-year comprehensive insurance policy for $528.
12 Leased an unused portion of its building to Charles Company, collecting six months’ rent in advance at
$220 per month.
13 Made $2,300 of sales on credit to Smith Company; the cost of the inventory sold was $1,400.
16 Collected the $200 monthly payment plus $30 interest on a customer’s note receivable.
17 Purchased $1,600 of inventory on credit from Mason Company.
19 Granted Smith Company a $200 allowance for defective inventory (from the November 13 transaction) and
credited its account.
20 Purchased land for a future building site. Made a $2,000 down payment and signed a 12%, 90-day $6,000 note
payable for the balance.
23 Collected the Smith Company account for the November 13 sale less the return.
26 Paid for the November 17 purchase of inventory.
27 Paid the city newspaper $420 for advertising that had appeared during November.
30 Paid $520 of sales salaries and $390 of office salaries.

Required

1. Prepare general journal entries to record the preceding transactions.
2. DPost to the general ledger accounts.

3. Prepare a trial balance on November 30, 2007.



106 Chapter 3 - Review of a Company’s Accounting System

P3-2  Financial Statements The Stern Company uses a perpetual inventory system and has prepared the following
adjusted trial balance on December 31, 2007:

Debit Credit
Cash $ 2,000
Accounts receivable 2,700
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 250
Inventory 6,500
Prepaid insurance 800
Land 5,200
Buildings and equipment 31,000
Accumulated depreciation 15,000
Accounts payable 3,100
Salaries payable 420
Unearned rent 360
Income taxes payable 2,625
Note payable (due July 1, 2011) 5,000
Interest payable (due July 1, 2011) 750
Capital stock (1,500 shares) 9,000
Retained earnings, January 1, 2007 6,770
Dividends distributed 1,200
Sales revenue 33,000
Sales returns 2,100
Rent revenue 1,440
Cost of goods sold 15,040
Selling expenses 4,800
Administrative expenses 3,000
Interest expense 750
Income tax expense 2,625
Totals $77,715 $77,715

Required
Prepare in proper form for 2007 the company’s: (1) income statement, (2) retained earnings statement, (3) ending balance
sheet, and (4) closing entries in its general journal.

P3-3  Financial Statements The Nealy Company has prepared the following alphabetical adjusted trial balance on
December 31, 2007:

Debit Credit
Accounts payable $ 6,400
Accounts receivable $ 5,700
Accumulated depreciation: buildings 19,000
Accumulated depreciation: equipment 11,000
Additional paid-in capital 15,000
Administrative expenses 6,500
Allowance for doubtful accounts 600
Buildings 42,000
Capital stock, $1 par (4,000 shares) 4,000
Cash 5,000
Cost of goods sold 27,400
Current income taxes payable 4,035
Dividends distributed 2,400

Equipment 22,000
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Debit Credit
Income tax expense 4,035
Interest expense 650
Interest payable (due July 1, 2008) 650
Inventory 10,800
Land 6,800
Notes payable (due July 1, 2011) 10,000
Rent revenue 2,800
Retained earnings, January 1, 2007 14,500
Sales returns 4,900
Sales revenue 59,800
Selling expenses 9,700
Unearned rent 700
Unexpired insurance 1,600
Wages payable 1,000

$149,485  $149,485

Required

Prepare the following 2007 items in proper form for the Nealy Company: (1) the income statement, (2) the retained earn-
ings statement, (3) the ending balance sheet, and (4) the closing entries in the general journal. (Hint: For the ending balance
sheet, the Capital Stock, Additional Paid-in Capital, and Retained Earnings accounts are summed to determine the total
stockholders’ equity.)

P3-4  Adjusting Entries The following 2007 information is available concerning the Drake Company, which adjusts and
closes its accounts every December 31:

1. Salaries accrued but unpaid total $2,840 on December 31, 2007.
. The $247 December utility bill arrived on December 31, 2007 and has not been paid or recorded.

3. Buildings with a cost of $78,000, 25-year life, and $9,000 residual value are to be depreciated; equipment with a cost of
$44,000, eight-year life, and $2,000 residual value is also to be depreciated. The straight-line method is to be used.

4. A count of supplies indicates that the Store Supplies account should be reduced by $128 and the Office Supplies account
reduced by $397 for supplies used during the year.

5. The company holds a $6,000, 12% (annual rate), six-month note receivable dated September 30, 2007 from a customer.
The interest is to be collected on the maturity date.

6. Bad debts expense is estimated to be 1% of annual sales. 2007 sales total $65,000.

7. An analysis of the company insurance policies indicates that the Prepaid Insurance account is to be reduced for the $528
of expired insurance.

8. A review of travel expense reports indicates that $310 advanced to sales personnel (and recorded as Travel Expenses) has
not yet been used by these personnel.

9. The income tax rate is 30% on current income and will be paid in the first quarter of 2008. The pretax income of the
company before adjustments is $18,270.

Required
Journalize the necessary adjusting entries for the company at the end of 2007. Show supporting calculations in your journal
entry explanations.

P3-5  Adjusting Entries The Franklin Retail Company entered into the following transactions during 2007. [The transac-
tions were properly recorded in real (balance sheet) accounts unless otherwise indicated.|

Date Transaction

Jan. 25 Purchased $480 of office supplies.

Feb. 1 Rented a warehouse from Tropple Company, paying one year’s rent of $3,600 in advance. Recorded the $3,600
payment as rent expense.

Mar. 1 Borrowed $10,000 from the bank, signing a one-year note at an annual interest rate of 12%. The interest was
collected in advance by the bank. The company recorded the transaction as a debit to Cash $8,800, debit to
Interest Expense $1,200, and credit to Notes Payable $10,000.

May 1 Purchased office equipment for $15,000, paying $3,000 down and signing a two-year, 12% (annual rate) note
payable for the balance. The office equipment is expected to have a useful life of 10 years and a residual value of
$1,500. Straight-line depreciation is appropriate.
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Date Transaction

May 31 Purchased a three-year comprehensive insurance policy for $720.

Aug. 1 Sold land for $9,000. The purchaser made a $2,000 down payment and signed a one-year, 10% note for the

balance. The interest and principal will be collected on the maturity date.

Oct. 1 Rented a portion of the retail floor space to a florist for $120 per month, collecting eight months’ rent in

advance. Recorded the $960 receipt as rent revenue.

Nov. 13 Issued checks to sales personnel totaling $900. The checks are advances for expected travel costs during the

remainder of the year.

On December 31, 2007 the following additional information is available:

1. Property taxes for 2007 are due to be paid by April 1, 2008. The company has not paid or recorded its $2,300 property
taxes for 2007.

2. The $302 December utility bill has not been recorded or paid.

3. Salaries accrued but not paid total $927.

4. Travel cost reports indicate that $787 of travel advances have been used to pay travel expenses.

5. The Office Supplies account had a balance of $129 on January 1, 2007. A physical count on December 31, 2007 showed
$174 of office supplies on hand.

6. On January 1, 2007 the Buildings account and the Store Equipment account had balances of $100,000 and $65,000,
respectively. The buildings are expected to have an $8,000 residual value, while the store equipment is expected to have
a $2,000 residual value at the end of their respective lives. They are being depreciated using the straight-line method over
20- and 10-year lives, respectively.

7. The income tax rate is 30% on current income and is payable in the first quarter of 2008. The pretax income of the com-
pany before adjustments is $27,749.

Required

On the basis of the preceding information, prepare journal entries to adjust the company’s books as of December 31, 2007.
Each entry explanation should include supporting computations. (Round to the nearest dollar.)

P3-6  Adjusting Entries At the end of 2007 the Ritter Company prepared a trial balance, recorded and posted its adjusting
entries, and then prepared an adjusted trial balance. Selected accounts and account balances from the trial balance and
adjusted trial balance are as follows:

Partial Partial Adjusted
Trial Balance Trial Balance

Debit Credit Debit Credit
Depreciation expense $ 0 $3,960
Interest payable (due May 14, 2009) $ 0 $ 810
Bad debts expense 0 410
Utilities expense 1,480 1,682
Rental revenue 1,650 2,635
Income tax expense 0 2,740
Prepaid insurance 1,742 1,380
Office salaries payable 0 540
Rent expense 0 800
Accumulated depreciation 14,820 18,780
Interest receivable (due March 1, 2008) 0 320
Prepaid rent 1,600 800
Office salaries expense 5,600 6,140
Income taxes payable 0 2,740
Insurance expense 300 662
Allowance for doubtful accounts 130 540
Interest expense 0 810
Unearned rent 600 0
Utilities payable 0 202

Interest revenue 620 940
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Partial Partial Adjusted
Trial Balance Trial Balance

Debit Credit Debit Credit
Sales salaries expense 7,300 7,850
Office supplies 1,150 700
Rent receivable 0 385
Advances to salespersons 770 220
Office supplies expense 0 450

Required

1. By comparing the partial trial balance to the partial adjusted trial balance, determine the adjusting entries that the com-
pany made on December 31, 2007. Prepare your answers in general journal form.

2. Assuming that the company uses reversing entries, indicate which adjusting entries should be reversed.

P3-7  Adjusting Entries The trial balance of the Trishia Company on December 31, 2007 (the end of its annual accounting
period) included the following account balances before adjustments:

Notes receivable $10,000 debit
Insurance expense 3,000 debit
Delivery equipment 14,000 debit
Building 60,000 debit
Unearned rent 4,320 credit
Notes payable 7,200 credit

Office supplies expense 1,000 debit

Reviewing the company’s recorded transactions and accounting records for 2007, you find the following data pertaining
to the December 31, 2007 adjustments:

1. OnJuly 2, 2007 the company had accepted a $10,000, nine-month, 10% (annual rate) note receivable from a customer.
The interest is to be collected when the note is collected.

2. On August 2, 2007 the company had paid $3,000 for a two-year insurance policy.

3. The building was acquired in 1995 and is being depreciated using the straight-line method over a 25-year life. It has an
estimated residual value of $8,000.

4. The delivery equipment was purchased on April 2, 2007. It is to be depreciated using the straight-line method over a
10-year life, with an estimated residual value of $2,000.

5. On September 1, 2007 the company had received two years’ rent in advance ($4,320) for a portion of a building it is rent-
ing to Oscar Company.

6. On December 1, 2007 the company had issued a $7,200, three-month, 12% (annual rate) note payable to a supplier. The
interest is to be paid when the note is paid.

7. On January 2, 2007 the company purchased $1,000 of office supplies. A physical count on December 31, 2007 revealed
that there are $400 of office supplies still on hand. No supplies were on hand at the beginning of the year.

Required
Prepare the adjusting entries that are necessary to bring the Trishia Company accounts up to date on December 31, 2007.
Each journal entry explanation should summarize your calculations.

P3-8  Income Statement Calculations The Ferdon Company uses a periodic inventory system. The following is partial
information from its income statements for 2007 and 2008:

2007 2008
Beginning inventory $ (2) $ (4)
Sales 220,000 (6)
Purchases 118,000 140,000
Purchases returns 2,000 3,000
Ending inventory 48,000 74,000
Sales returns 1,000 3,000
Gross profit (1) 77,000
Cost of goods sold 106,000 (5)
Expenses 65,000 62,000

Net income (3) 15,000
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Required
Fill in the blanks numbered 1 through 6. (Hint: It probably is easiest to work through the blanks according to the sequential
numbers.)

P3-9  Effects of Errors During the current accounting period Page Company makes the following errors. The company
uses a perpetual inventory system.

Total
Net | Total Total |Stockholders’
Error Income | Assets |Liabilities Equity
Example: Failed to record a cash sale. u u N u

1. The purchase of equipment for cash is recorded as
a debit to Equipment and a credit to Accounts Payable.

Failed to record the purchase of inventory on credit.

Cash received from a customer in payment of its account
is recorded as if the receipt were for a current period sale.

4. Failed to record a credit sale.

At the end of the year the receipt of money from a 60-day,
12% bank loan is recorded as a debit to Cash and a credit
to Sales Revenue.

6. Failed to record depreciation at the end of the current
period.

Required
Indicate the effect of the errors on the net income, total assets, total liabilities, and total stockholders’ equity at the end of the
accounting period by using the following code: O = overstated, U = understated, N = no effect. Disregard income taxes.

P3-10 Errors in Financial Statements At the end of the current year, the controller of the Jodi Corporation discovers the
following items of information:

1. Salaries are paid every Friday for a five-day work week. The normal weekly payroll is $40,000. The year-end falls on a
Tuesday this year.

2. The company has a $20,000, nine-month, 12% (annual rate) note payable outstanding at the end of the year. The note
was issued on October 1; the interest is to be paid when the note is paid.

3. Examining the Rent Expense account, the controller finds that it includes a $4,800 advance payment for three months’
rent. The payment was made on November 1.

4. There are $500 of office supplies left in the storeroom. At the beginning of the year there were no office supplies. During
a year the company purchased $3,500 of office supplies, which were debited to the Office Supplies account.

5. The company received a large order in May with a $13,000 advance payment. The advance payment was credited to
Unearned Revenue. In November, the last of the order was received by the customer.

Required

For each of the preceding items, indicate the effect on net income, assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity in the financial
statements of the company for the year if the controller fails to make an adjusting entry for the item (ignore income taxes).
(Contributed by Paula L. Koch)

P3-11  Worksheet The Fiorillo Company has the following account balances on December 31, 2007 prior to any adjustments:

Debit Credit Debit Credit

Cash $ 1,900 Accumulated depreciation:
Accounts receivable 4,700 equipment 3,100
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 60 Accounts payable 4,300
Inventory 8,700 Notes payable (due March 1, 2008) 1,400
Prepaid insurance 600 Unearned rent 1,200
Land 4,100 Mortgage payable (due
Buildings 38,000 January 1, 2012) 7,300
Accumulated depreciation: Capital stock (2,000 shares) 10,000

buildings 11,500 Retained earnings (January 1, 2007) 18,075
Equipment 10,700 Dividends distributed 1,300

(continued)
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Debit Credit Debit Credit
Sales revenue 49,355 Utilities expense 2,000
Cost of goods sold 27,185 Office supplies expense 770
Salaries expense 4,080 Delivery expense 1,275
Other expenses 980

Additional adjustment information: (a) depreciation on buildings, $1,100; on equipment, $600, (b) bad debts expense,
$240, (c) interest accumulated but not paid: on note payable, $50; on mortgage payable, $530 (this interest is due during
the next accounting period), (d) insurance expired, $175, (e) salaries accrued but not paid $370, (f) rent that was col-
lected in advance and is now earned at year-end, $800, (g) office supplies on hand at year-end, $230 (expensed when
originally purchased earlier in the year), and (h) the income tax rate is 30% on current income and is payable in the first
quarter of 2008.

Required

1. Transfer the account balances to a 10-column worksheet and prepare a trial balance.

2. Complete the worksheet.

3. Prepare the company’s income statement, retained earnings statement, and balance sheet.
4. Prepare (a) adjusting, and (b) closing entries in the general journal.

P3-12 Worksheet The Langer Company has prepared the following partially completed worksheet for the year ended
December 31, 2007:

A B C D E F G H | | J K
1 Retained
2 Income Earnings Balance
3 Trial Balance Adjustments Statement Statement Sheet
4 Accounts Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit
5 |cash 1,000
6 | Accounts receivable 2,700
7 | Allowance for doubtful accounts 30
8 |Note receivable (due 5/1/08) 1,200
9 Inventory 9,200
10 JLand 4,500
11 |Buildings and equipment 20,600
12 | Accumulated depreciation 8,790
13 | Accounts payable 4,050
14 |Notes payable (due 4/1/2010) 4,000
15 |Capital stock (2,000 shares) 5,000
16 |Retained earnings (1/1/07) 6,120
17 |Dividends distributed 600
18 |sales revenue 25,140
19 |Rent revenue 550
20 |Cost of goods sold 9,050
21 |salaries expense 2,750
22 |Delivery expense 720
23 |Heat and light expense 820
24 |Other expenses 540
25| Totals 53,680 53,680
26

The following additional information is available: (a) salaries accrued but unpaid total $250; (b) the $80 heat and light bill
for December has not been recorded or paid; (c) depreciation expense totals $810 on the buildings and equipment; (d) inter-
est accrued on the note payable totals $380 (this will be paid when the note is repaid); (e) the company leases a portion of
its floor space to Brix Specialty Company for $50 per month, and Brix has not yet paid its December rent; (f) interest accrued
on the note receivable totals $80; (g) bad debts expense is $70; and (h) the income tax rate is 30% on current income and is
payable in the first quarter of 2008.

Required
1. Complete the worksheet. (Round to the nearest dollar.)

2. Prepare the company’s financial statements.
3. Prepare (a) adjusting, and (b) closing entries in the general journal.

P3-13 Reversing Entries During 2007, the Garson Company entered into two transactions involving promissory notes and
properly recorded each transaction. These are listed next:

1. On November 1, 2007 it purchased land at a cost of $8,000. It made a $2,000 down payment and signed a note payable
agreeing to pay the $6,000 balance in 6 months plus interest at an annual rate of 10%.
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2. On December 1, 2007 it accepted a $4,200, three-month, 12% (annual interest rate) note receivable from a customer for
the sale of merchandise. On December 31, 2007, the Garson Company made the following related adjustments:
Interest Expense 100
Interest Payable 100
Interest Receivable 42
Interest Revenue 42
Required
1. Assuming that the Garson Company uses reversing entries, prepare journal entries to record:
a. The January 1, 2008 reversing entries
b. The March 1, 2008 $4,326 collection of the note receivable
¢. The May 1, 2008 $6,300 payment of the note payable
2. Assuming instead that the Garson Company does not use reversing entries, prepare journal entries to record the collec-

tion of the note receivable and the payment of the note payable.

P3-14 Reversing Entries On December 31, 2007 Cochran Company made the following proper year-end adjusting entries:

Date Account Titles Debit Credit

Dec. 31 | Bad Debts Expense 530
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 530

31 | Salaries Expense 940
Salaries Payable 940

31 | Unearned Rent 1,230
Rent Revenue 1,230

31 | Interest Expense 220
Interest Payable (due July 1, 2008) 220

31 | Rent Receivable 310
Rent Revenue 310

31 | Depreciation Expense 5,100
Accumulated Depreciation 5,100

31 | Insurance Expense 312
Prepaid Insurance 312

31 | Interest Receivable (due February 1, 2009) 225
Interest Revenue 225

31 | Office Supplies 100
Office Supplies Expense 100

31 | Advances to Salespersons 300
Salaries Expense 300

31 | Income Tax Expense 4,300
Income Taxes Payable 4,300

Required

1.

Prepare journal entries to record whatever reversing entries you think are appropriate.

2. Explain your reasoning for each reversing entry.

P3-15 Comprehensive On November 30, 2007 the Zu Company had the following account balances:

Debit Credit Debit Credit
Cash $ 3,090 Capital stock, no-par (2,000 shares) $20,000
Accounts receivable 9,900 Retained earnings (1/1/2007) 42,400
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 100 Dividends distributed $ 2,000
Inventory 17,750 Sales revenue 76,000
Supplies 1,400 Sales returns 6,300
Land 9,000 Cost of goods sold 36,860
Buildings and equipment 42,000 Salaries expense 12,500
Accumulated depreciation 4,200 Adpvertising expense 8,100

Accounts payable 10,700 Other expenses 4,500
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During the month of December the Zu Company entered into the following transactions:

Date Transaction
Dec. 4 Made cash sales of $3,000; the cost of the inventory sold was $1,800.
7 Purchased $2,400 of inventory on credit.
1 Customer returned $600 (retail price) of inventory for credit to its account; the cost of the inventory returned
was $360.
14 Collected $900 of accounts receivable.
18 Sold land for $7,800; the land originally had cost $5,000.
20 Made credit sales of $4,000; the cost of the inventory sold was $2,400.
21 Returned $360 of defective inventory to supplier for credit to the Zu Company’s account and reduced the
inventory account.
27 Purchased $1,250 of inventory for cash.
28 Paid $1,100 of accounts payable.
31 Purchased land at a cost of $6,000; made a $1,000 down payment and signed a 12%, two-year note for the balance.

Required

1. Prepare general journal entries to record the preceding transactions.

2. Post to the general ledger accounts.

3. Prepare a year-end trial balance on a worksheet and complete the worksheet using the following information: (a) accrued
salaries at year-end total $1,200; (b) for simplicity, the building and equipment are being depreciated using the straight-
line method over an estimated life of 20 years with no residual value; (c) supplies on hand at the end of the year total
$630; (d) bad debts expense for the year totals $830; and (e) the income tax rate is 30%; income taxes are payable in the
first quarter of 2008.

4. Prepare the company’s financial statements for 2007.

5. Prepare the 2007 (a) adjusting and (b) closing entries in the general journal.

P3-16 Comprehensive (Appendix) Tina Tunxis is the owner of Valley Sales, a distributor of horticulture supplies. The fol-
lowing is the balance sheet of the company as of December 31, 2006:

Cash $ 2,300 Accounts payable $ 6,400

Accounts receivable 10,400 Salaries payable 1,200

Inventory 12,500

Equipment 8,000

Less: Accumulated depreciation (6,500) T. Tunxis, Capital $19,100
$26,700 $26,700

Tina keeps very few records and has asked you to help her in the preparation of Valley Sales’ 2007 financial statements. An
analysis of the 2007 cash transactions recorded in the company’s checkbook indicates deposits and checks as follows:

Total deposits: $173,200; all were collections from customers except for a long-term $10,000 bank loan.

Checks written: $169,800 summarized as follows:
Inventory $123,100 Note payments (including interest of $650) $ 2,650
Salaries 4,250 Office expense 3,400
Rent 4,800 Auto expense 4,100
Equipment 4,000 Withdrawals 23,500

Other information about the company is as follows:
1. Accounts receivable at December 31, 2007, $9,200.
2. Accounts payable at December 31:

20006: Inventory $6,100 2007: Inventory $8,500
Office expense 300 Auto expense 200
$6,400 $8,700

bt

Salaries payable at December 31, 2007, $1,800.

4. Equipment is depreciated by the straight-line method over a 10-year life. The equipment purchased in 2007 was acquired
on July 1.

5. Interest payable at December 31, 2007, $140.

6. The company uses a periodic inventory system. Inventory at December 31, 2007, $17,400.
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Required

1. Prepare a worksheet to summarize the transactions and adjustments of Valley Sales for 2007. (Hint: Include debit and
credit columns for both transactions and adjustments.)

2. Prepare a 2007 income statement and a balance sheet as of December 31, 2007. (Contributed by Walter A. Parker)

P3-17 Comprehensive (Appendix) Presented next is information pertaining to Ward Specialty
Foods, a calendar-year sole proprietorship, maintaining its books on the cash basis during the year. At year-end, however,
Mary Ward'’s accountant adjusts the books to the accrual basis only for sales, purchases, and cost of sales, and records depre-
ciation to more clearly reflect the business income.

Trial Balance
December 31, 2007

Debit Credit
Cash $ 18,500
Accounts receivable, 12/31/06 4,500
Inventory, 12/31/06 20,000
Equipment 35,000
Accumulated depreciation, 12/31/06 $ 9,000
Accounts payable, 12/31/06 4,800
Payroll taxes withheld 850
Mary Ward, withdrawals 24,000
Mary Ward, capital, 12/31/06 33,650
Sales 187,000
Purchases 82,700
Salaries 29,500
Payroll taxes 2,900
Rent 8,400
Miscellaneous expense 3,900
Insurance 2,400
Utilities 3,500

$235,300 $235,300

During 2007, Ward signed a new eight-year lease for the store premises and is in the process of negotiating a loan for remod-
eling purposes. The bank requires Ward to present financial statements for 2007 prepared on the accrual basis. To do so,
Ward'’s accountant obtained the following additional information:

1. Amounts due from customers totaled $7,900 at December 31, 2007.

A review of the receivables at December 31, 2007 disclosed that an allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,100 should be
provided. Ward had no bad debt losses from the inception of the business through December 31, 2007.

3. The inventory amounted to $23,000 at December 31, 2007 based on a physical count of goods priced at cost. No reduc-
tion to market was required.

4. On signing the new lease on October 1, 2007, Ward paid $8,400 representing one year’s rent in advance for the lease year
ending October 1, 2008. The $7,500 annual rental under the old lease was paid on October 1, 2006 for the lease year
ended October 1, 2007.

5. On April 1, 2007, Ward paid $2,400 to renew the comprehensive insurance coverage for one year. The premium was
$2,160 on the old policy, which expired on April 1, 2007.

6. Depreciation on the equipment was computed at $5,800 for 2007.

Unpaid vendors’ invoices for food purchases totaled $8,800 at December 31, 2007.

8. Accrued expenses at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007 were as follows:

12/31/06  12/31/07
Payroll taxes $250 $400
Salaries 375 510
Utilities 275 450

N
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After obtaining the preceding information, Ward'’s accountant prepared the following partially completed worksheet:

A B | C D | E F | G
1 Cash Basis Adjustments Accrual Basis
2 Accounts Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit
3 |cash $18,500
4 | Accounts receivable 4,500
5 |Allowance for doubtful accounts
6 |Inventory 20,000
7 |Equipment 35,000
8 |Accumulated depreciation $9,000
9 |Prepaid rent
10 |Prepaid insurance
11 |Accounts payable 4,800
12 |Accrued expenses
13 |Payroll taxes withheld 850
14 |ward, withdrawals 24,000
15 |ward, capital 33,650
16
17 |sales 187,000
18 |Purchases 82,700
19 |Income summary - inventory
20 |salaries 29,500
21 |Payroll taxes 2,900
22 |Rent 8,400
23 |Miscellaneous expenses 3,900
24 |insurance 2,400
25 utilities 3,500
26 Depreciation
27 |Bad debts
28 | Totals $235,300 $235,300
29
Required

1. Complete the preceding worksheet to convert the trial balance of Ward Specialty Foods to the accrual basis for the year

ended December 31, 2007.

2. Prepare the statement of changes in Mary Ward, Capital, for the year ended December 31, 2007.
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BJECTIVES

After reading this chapter,
you will be able to:
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Understand the
purposes of the
balance sheet.

Define the elements of
a balance sheet.

Explain how to mea-
sure the elements of a
balance sheet.

Classify the assets of a
balance sheet.

Classify the liabilities of
a balance sheet.

Report the stock-
holders’ equity of a
balance sheet.

Prepare a statement of
changes in stock-
holders’ equity.

Understand the other
disclosure issues for a
balance sheet.

Describe the SEC inte-
grated disclosures.

Explain the reporting
techniques used in an
annual report.
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e Balance Sheet and the
Statement of Changes in
Stockholders Equity

Do You Believe in Magic?

Walt Disney Company is well known for the magic that its “imag-
ineers” have created in movie theaters and theme parks across
the globe. To those not well versed in accounting, it appears that
financial analysts may possess similar mystical qualities as they
value a company’s securities. Using several key financial variables
(fundamentals) as their crystal ball, financial analysts will often
make predictions of a company’s future performance. For exam-
ple, accounts receivable or inventory increases that are dispropor-
tionate to sales increases are often perceived as signals that a
company is having trouble generating sales and that near-term
economic prospects may be gloomy.

However, before you begin analyzing balance sheet informa-
tion, you should be aware that the balance sheet has some signifi-
cant limitations, or you could get the mistaken impression that a
company’s accountants possess as much financial magic as
Disney’s imagineers. For example, at the end of Disney’s 2004 fiscal
year, its market value of stockholders’ equity (number of shares out-
standing multiplied by stock price) was approximately $44 billion
while the book value (reported amount) of this equity on its bal-
ance sheet was approximately $26 billion. What causes these dif-
ferences between the market value of a company’s stockholders’
equity and its book value? s it financial magic? Is it due to the mis-
pricing in the stock market or in the way that accountants calculate
book values? The explanations are varied and include the use of
historical costs for valuing assets and liabilities, the use of esti-

mates, and the existence of “off-balance sheet” assets and liabilities.
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Let’s examine the sources of these differences in a little more detail. Disney’s book

value is based on past transactions measured at historical costs, yet its market value is

based on market estimates of Disney’s future prospects. For example,in the 1960s, Walt

Disney was able to acquire about 43 acres (about twice the size of Manhattan Island) for a

little over $5 million to build the Disney World Resort area. The market value of that land is

certainly much more than that today, yet the increased

value does not appear on Disney’s balance sheet.
Second, Disney makes many estimates of balance
sheet items including accounts receivable, property,
plant,and equipment, and contingent liabilities. These
estimates are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements and should be considered in any financial
analysis. Finally, many assets and liabilities are not
recorded at all. The intellectual capital of Disney’s
imagineers is not shown as an asset on the balance
sheet. Additionally, Disney reported contractual obli-

gations of over $34 billion; however $20 billion of

these obligations do not appear on the balance sheet.

With a clear understanding of the balance sheet
and its limitations, we can see that the balance sheet
isn't the result of magic but simply the result of cur-

rent accounting rules and practices.

FOR FURTHER
INVESTIGATION

For an article discussing a current bal-
ance sheet limitation of interest to
accounting professionals (off-balance
sheet structures), consult the Business
& Company Resource Center (BCRC):

* Allin the family: FIN 46 made
companies admit paternity of
special purpose entities. But it
also resulted in some surprise
adoptions. Tim Reason, CFO, The
Magazine for Senior Financial
Executives, 8756-7113,

September 2004, v20,i11,p99(2).
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FASB Statement of Concepts No. 5 recommends that a full set of financial statements for
an accounting period should show a company’s

financial position at the end of the period,

net income for the period,

comprehensive income for the period,

cash flows for the period, and

investments by and distributions to owners for the period.'

Currently, companies include at least three major financial statements and several sup-
porting schedules as the “full set” of financial statements in their annual reports. The
three major financial statements are

1. the balance sheet or statement of financial position, which shows the company’s
financial position at the end of the accounting period,

2. the income statement, which shows the results of the company’s income-produc-
ing activities for the accounting period, and

3. the statement of cash flows, which shows the cash inflows and cash outflows of
the company for the accounting period.

Many companies include a statement of changes in stockholders’ equity, which shows the
changes in each item of stockholders’ equity for the accounting period, as a fourth major
financial statement.” A company also includes explanatory notes in its annual report to
supplement these financial statements.

In this chapter, we focus primarily on the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
stockholders’ equity, and the accompanying notes. We discuss the balance sheet first
because the FASB defines revenues and expenses in terms of changes in assets and liabili-
ties. Thus, you need a clear understanding of the nature and measurement of assets and
liabilities to understand net income and its components. Furthermore, the chapters of
this book in general follow a balance sheet framework. Consequently, you need to know
its purpose, content, format, and preparation to understand the more complex issues we
discuss later. The statement of changes in stockholders’ equity helps to explain the
changes that occurred in each stockholders’ equity item on a company’s balance sheet
from the beginning to the end of the accounting period. We also discuss this statement in
this chapter as it relates to the balance sheet. The discussion focuses on the corporation,
the major business entity in the United States. We discuss the income statement and
statement of cash flows in Chapter 5.

INTERRELATIONSHIP OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Exhibit 4-1 shows the interrelationship of the information in a company’s major financial
statements. The solid lines indicate the major flows of interrelated financial accounting
information among the financial statements because of transactions and events during the
period. For instance, the company may use assets from the beginning balance sheet (i.e.,
the ending balance sheet from the previous period) in an income-producing activity or it
may sell them as a source of cash. The related financial accounting information will affect
the company’s income statement and statement of cash flows, respectively. Both the infor-
mation about the income-producing activities reported in the income statement and the

1. “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” FASB Statement of
Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1984), par. 13.

2. Some companies include a statement of comprehensive income as another major financial statement. We
discuss this statement in Chapter 5.
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EXHIBIT 4-1 Interrelationship of Financial Statements

Income Statement

* Revenues

* Expenses
Beginning Balance Sheet Ending Balance Sheet
* Assets Transactions ! * Assets
« Liabilities and Events v * Liabilities
« Stockholders’ Equity « Stockholders’ Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

* Operating Activities
* Investing Activities
* Financing Activities

information about the cash inflows and cash outflows shown in the statement of cash
flows will affect the accounting information reported in the ending balance sheet. The
dashed line indicates a secondary flow of the interrelated information; that is, the income-
producing activities that the company reports on its income statement also provide a net
source of cash from operating activities. We further explain the relationships among the
balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows in the remaining sections of
this chapter and in later chapters of this book.

PURPOSES OF THE BALANCE SHEET

One objective of financial reporting for a company is to help investors, creditors, and oth-
ers assess the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of the prospective net cash inflows of the
company. To meet this objective, the FASB suggested that a company should provide cer-
tain types of accounting information in its financial statements. A specific objective of a
company’s financial statements is to provide information about its economic resources, |
obligations, and owners’ equity. This information is reported on a balance sheet. A balance
sheet shows the financial position of a company at a particular date. A balance sheet also
may be called a statement of financial position. The financial position of a company
includes its economic resources (i.e., assets), economic obligations (i.e., liabilities), and
equity, and their relationships to each other at a moment in time. A corporation’s balance
sheet, then, discloses its assets, liabilities, stockholders’ equity, and related information on
a specific date. The statement reports the corporation’s resource structure (i.e., major classes
and amounts of assets) and its financial structure (i.e., major classes and amounts of liabil-
ities and equity). Its name evolved because the balance sheet is a detailed summary of the
basic accounting equation (which must always remain in balance):

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity

The balance sheet does not attempt to show the total fair value of a company. Together
with other financial statements and other information, however, it provides information
that is useful to external users who want to make their own estimates of the company’s

1 Understand the
purposes of the
balance sheet.

o

fair value. More specifically, a company’s balance sheet is intended to help external users |
(1) assess its liquidity, financial flexibility, and operating capability and (2) evaluate
information about its income-producing performance during the period.
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A

_Liquidity, Financial Flexibility, and Operating Capability

Liquidity refers to how quickly a company can convert an asset into cash to pay its
bills. That is, liquidity relates to the “nearness to cash” of a company’s economic resources.
Information about liquidity is important in evaluating the timing of cash flows in the near
future. Information about short-term cash inflows is useful because these cash inflows are
part of total cash inflows. Also, a company needs short-term cash inflows to take advantage
of new investment opportunities as well as to pay its short-term obligations. Liquidity is
also one aspect of a company’s financial flexibility.

Financial flexibility refers to the ability of a company to use its financial resources
to adapt to change. Adaptation may be thought of as being “offensive” or “defensive.” A
company uses offensive adaptation to take advantage of an unexpected new business
opportunity, while it uses defensive adaptation to react to a negative business event.
Financial flexibility may come from a quick access to the cash generated from more “lig-
uid” economic resources. But liquidity is only part of financial flexibility. A company’s
financial flexibility comes from its ability to obtain enough net cash inflows from opera-
tions, from additional capital contributed by investors or long-term creditors, or from
liquidating long-term economic resources without disrupting continuing operations.
Information about a company’s financial flexibility is important to external users in
assessing the uncertainty of its future cash flows.

Operating capability refers to the ability of a company to maintain a given physical
level of operations. This level may be indicated by the quantity of goods or services the
company produced in a given period (i.e., inventory) or by the physical capacity of its
operating assets (i.e., property, plant, and equipment) used to produce the goods or serv-
ices. Information about a company’s operating capability may be helpful to external users
in understanding its performance and predicting future changes in its volume of activity

and related cash flows.>

Capital and Capital Maintenance

A company’s balance sheet provides a basis for evaluating its income-producing perform-
ance during a period. Therefore, a company’s capital is important. The capital (or net
assets) of a company is its economic resources (assets) less its economic obligations
(liabilities), or owners’ equity. For a corporation, the stockholders’ equity is the capital.
The management of the corporation uses this capital in fulfilling its responsibilities to
the corporate stockholders. When a stockholder invests in a corporation, the stockholder
is interested in a return of investment as well as a return on investment. To provide for a
return of investment, the corporation’s stockholders’ equity (capital) must be main-
tained; this is referred to as capital maintenance. Once this capital is maintained, any
income of the corporation is an increase in stockholders’ equity. This increase is the basis
for providing a return on investment to stockholders. Dividends are a return on invest-
ment, as is market price appreciation on the stock. Many investors prefer market price
appreciation to dividends. Information about a corporation’s capital is important in
assessing its profitability and its ability to provide a return on investment. We discuss cap-
ital maintenance and income in Chapter 5.

Another way for you to look at Exhibit 4-1 is to think in terms of capital and capital
maintenance. You can think of the beginning balance sheet as showing the corporation’s
capital at the beginning of the accounting period. The income statement and the state-
ment of cash flows disclose the results of management’s activities to use, maintain, and
increase the capital during the accounting period. The ending balance sheet reports the
capital at the end of the accounting period. But before it can be determined whether

3. Ibid., par. 24, 26, and 27 and “Reporting Income, Cash Flows, and Financial Position of Business
Enterprises,” FASB Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1981),
par. 25-32.
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capital is maintained or a corporation has earned income, the initial (beginning) and
subsequent (ending) capital must be determined.

Capital can be thought of in terms of (1) financial capital or (2) physical capital.
Financial capital is the monetary value of the net assets from investments by stock-
holders as well as from earnings retained by the corporation. Physical capital is a
quantitative measure of the physical productive capacity (e.g., square feet of factory
space) of the corporation to provide goods or services. It is related to the concept of oper-
ating capability that we discussed in the previous section.* The difference between finan-
cial capital and physical capital is important in considering whether and when capital is
maintained and income is earned (Chapter 5). The difference is not as important for
reporting the capital at a point in time because accounting information primarily is
expressed in dollars. Thus, a dollar value must be assigned to the physical capital before it
is reported on a balance sheet. We discuss the alternative ways of measuring the net assets
(capital) of a corporation later in the chapter.

RECOGNITION IN THE BALANCE SHEET

A company may disclose an item of information related to its financial position in its bal-
ance sheet, in a supporting schedule, or as part of the notes accompanying the financial
statements. Recall from Chapter 2 that recognition is the process of formally recording
and reporting an element in the financial statements. It includes depiction of an ele-
ment in both words and numbers, with the amount included in the totals. Generally, the
most useful (i.e., the best combination of relevance and reliability) information about
assets, liabilities, and equity should be recognized and reported in the main body of the
balance sheet. There are four basic recognition criteria. To be recognized, an item (and

information about it) must meet the definition of an element, and be measurable, rele- |
vant, and reliable.” Thus, to meet the objectives of a company’s balance sheet—to provide
relevant and reliable information to assess its liquidity, financial flexibility, and operating
capability and to evaluate its income-producing performance during the period—the
company must determine what, how, and where to disclose the “elements” of the balance
sheet. That is, the company must complete a three-stage process:

1. Identification of what items meet the definitions of the elements
2. Measurement (valuation) of the elements
3. Reporting (classification) of the elements

ELEMENTS OF THE BALANCE SHEET

For a company to report an item of information on its balance sheet, the item must meet
the definition of an element. The elements of the balance sheet are the broad classes of
items comprising it. They are the building blocks with which the balance sheet is pre-
pared. The elements of financial statements are defined in FASB Statement of Concepts
No. 6. We define and discuss each of the elements of a corporate balance sheet—assets,
liabilities, and stockholders’ equity—in the following sections.®

4.  For a further discussion, see “Conceptual Framework for Financial Accounting and Reporting: Elements of
Financial Statements and Their Measurement,” FASB Discussion Memorandum (Stamford, Conn.: FASB,
1976), ch. 6.

5. “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” FASB Statement of
Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, op. cit., par. 58-64.

6.  The discussion of the elements in the following sections is a summary of that presented in “Elements of
Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6
(Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1985).

2 Define the
elements of a
balance sheet.
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Assets

Assets are the probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a
company as a result of past transactions or events.

Assets are the economic resources used to carry out a company’s economic activities of
consumption, production, and exchange. The primary attribute of all assets is service
potential, the capacity to provide services or benefits to the company that uses them. To be

_["considered an asset, an economic resource must have three characteristics:

1. The resource must be able to contribute directly or indirectly to the company’s
future net cash inflows. This service potential may exist because the asset is expected
to be exchanged for something else of value to the company (e.g., accounts receiv-
able), to be used in producing goods (e.g., factory) or services, to increase the value
of other assets (e.g., patent), or to be used to settle its liabilities (e.g., cash).

2. The company must be able to obtain the future benefit and control others’ access
to it. Control means that the company can deny or regulate the ability of others to
use the asset.

3. The transaction or event giving the company the right to or control over the bene-
fit must have occurred. As a corollary, once an asset is acquired by a company, it
continues to be an asset until it is exchanged or used up, or until some other event
destroys the future benefit or removes the company’s ability to obtain or control it.

Assets may be natural or man-made, tangible or intangible, and either exchangeable or use-
ful only in the company’s activities. Furthermore, they may be acquired by purchase, pro-
duction, stockholder investments, discovery, or other nonreciprocal (one-way) transfers.

Liabilities

Liabilities are the probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from
present obligations of a company to transfer assets or provide services in the
future as a result of past transactions or events.

' An obligation of a company must have three characteristics to be considered a liability:

1. It must involve a responsibility that will be settled by a sacrifice involving the trans-
fer of assets, provision of services, or other use of assets at a specified or deter-
minable date, on occurrence of a specified event, or on demand. The company
does not need to know the specific identity of the “creditor” for a liability to exist,
as long as a future transfer or use of assets to settle the liability is probable.

2. The responsibility must obligate the company so that it has little or no discretion
to avoid the future sacrifice. Although most liabilities involve legal rights and
duties, some are the result of equitable (ethical or moral) obligations or construc-
tive (inferred from the facts) obligations. Thus, the company must be bound by a
legal, equitable, or constructive responsibility to transfer assets or provide services.

3. The transaction or other event obligating the company must have occurred. Once a
liability has been incurred, it continues to be a liability until the company settles it
or another event removes it from the company’s responsibility.

Liabilities arise primarily from purchasing goods or services on credit and from borrow-
ing funds. Other liabilities result from collecting economic resources in advance of pro-
viding goods or services to customers. Liabilities also arise from selling products subject
to warranties, from regulations imposed by governmental units, and from nonreciprocal
transfers to owners or other entities.
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Stockholders’ Equity

Equity is the residual interest in the assets of a company that remains after
deducting its liabilities.

The equity of a company is equal to its net assets (assets minus liabilities). Equity stems
from ownership rights, and therefore it is the ownership interest. Since a company gener-
ally is not obligated to transfer assets to its owners, owners’ equity ranks after liabilities as
an interest in the assets and thus is a residual interest. For a corporation, stockholders’
equity represents the interest of the stockholders, who bear the risks involved in the com-
pany’s operations and activities and who obtain the resulting rewards. It is created by
stockholders’ investments of economic resources and later is modified by additional
investments, net income, distributions to owners, and other changes in assets and liabili-
ties. Stockholders’” equity may not exist apart from the corporate assets and liabilities,
since it is a residual interest.

MEASUREMENT OF THE ELEMENTS OF THE BALANCE SHEET

For a company to report an element on its balance sheet, the element must be reliably
measured (valued) in monetary terms. The FASB has identified five alternatives for meas-
uring elements. We show these alternative valuation methods in Exhibit 4-2 and discuss
them in the following sections. Later in the chapter, when we discuss specific assets and
liabilities, we identify the applicable valuation method. We do not include stockholders’
equity in Exhibit 4-2 because it may not exist apart from assets or liabilities. That is, the
measurement of assets and liabilities (i.e., net assets) will determine the dollar amount of
stockholders’ equity. To conserve space, we focus the discussion on the measurement of
assets, but our comments generally also apply to liabilities.

Historical Cost

The historical cost of an asset is the exchange price in the transaction in which
the asset was acquired. The historical cost is measured by the cash paid for the asset
or, in the case of a noncash exchange, by the estimated cash equivalent of the non-
cash asset or liability exchanged. After acquisition, the historical cost of an asset may
be reduced due to the recognition of depreciation, amortization, impairment, or
other adjustments.

Current Cost

The current cost of an asset is the amount of cash (or equivalent) that would be
required on the date of the balance sheet to obtain the same asset. The “same asset”
may be an identical asset or one with equivalent productive capacity. Alternative methods
for obtaining the current cost include quoted market prices, the use of specific price
indexes, and appraisals. Current cost is an input value and is sometimes referred to as
current replacement cost.

Current Market Value

The current market value of an asset is the amount of cash (or equivalent) that could
be obtained on the date of the balance sheet by selling the asset, in its present condition,
in an orderly liquidation. An orderly liquidation means the asset is disposed of in a

3 Explain how to
measure the
elements of a
balance sheet.
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EXHIBIT 4-2

Alternative

Measurement (Valuation) of Assets and Liabilities

Assets

Liabilities

1. Historical cost/historical proceeds

2. Current cost/current proceeds

3. Current market value

4. Net realizable value

5. Present value

Initially, the amount of cash (or

its equivalent) paid to acquire an
asset (historical cost); subsequent to
acquisition, the historical amount
may be adjusted for depreciation,
amortization, or other adjustments.

Amount of cash (or its equivalent)
that would have to be paid if the

same asset were acquired currently.

Amount of cash (or its equivalent)
that could be obtained currently
by selling the asset in orderly
liquidation.

Amount of cash (or its equivalent)
into which the asset is expected to
be converted in due course of
business less direct costs necessary
to make that conversion.

Present value of future cash
inflows into which the asset

is expected to be converted

in due course of business

less present value of future cash
outflows necessary to obtain
those inflows.

Initially, the amount of cash (or its
equivalent) received when an
obligation was incurred (historical
proceeds); subsequent to incur-
rence, the historical amount
may be adjusted for amortization.

Amount of cash (or its equivalent)
that would be obtained if the
same obligation were incurred
currently.

Amount of cash (or its equiva-
lent) that would be required
currently to eliminate the liability.

Amount of cash (or its
equivalent) expected to be
paid to eliminate the liability
in due course of business.

Present value of future cash
outflows to eliminate the
liability in due course of
business.

Source: Adapted from “Conceptual Framework for Financial Accounting and Reporting: Elements of Financial Statements and
Their Measurement,” FASB Discussion Memorandum (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1976), p. 193 and “Recognition and Measurement in
Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB,

1984), p.23.

systematic and organized fashion. A current market value would be determined by obtain-
ing a quoted market price for the sale of an asset of similar kind and condition. The term
current market value is potentially confusing, because current cost and current market
value are both “market values.” Therefore, sometimes current market value is referred to
as current exit value.

Net Realizable Value

The net realizable value of an asset is the amount of cash (or equivalent) into which
the asset is expected to be converted in the ordinary operations of the company,
less any expected conversion costs (e.g., completion, disposal, or collection costs). Net
realizable value differs from current exit value by being based upon expected future sales
proceeds of the asset (perhaps in a different form) rather than upon the current disposal
value of an asset in its existing form. Net realizable value is sometimes referred to as
expected exit value.
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Present Value

The present value of an asset is the net amount of discounted future cash inflows less
the discounted future cash outflows relating to the asset. Each future cash flow may be
a single amount; in this case, the amount is referred to as an estimated cash flow. Or, each
future cash flow may involve a range of possible amounts. In this case, a “weighted aver-
age” amount is determined and is referred to as an expected cash flow. When the estimated
cash flows are used to determine present value, they are similar to those used to deter-
mine net realizable value; the difference between the two alternatives is that under the
present value approach the time value of money (i.e., interest) is considered.” We discuss

discounting and the computation of present value in the Time Value of Money module.

Valuations on Today’s Balance Sheet

The valuation method primarily used in a company’s balance sheet is historical cost. In
general, each asset and liability of the company is recorded at the exchange price of the
transaction in which the asset is obtained or the liability is incurred. Usually the com-
pany then reports this exchange price in its balance sheet until another exchange has
taken place. Certain assets such as property, plant, and equipment are measured and
reported at their exchange price (historical cost) adjusted for depreciation. Historical cost
is used extensively as a valuation method because it is based on transactions and provides
information that has a high degree of reliability. It has been criticized, however, because
some users of financial statements argue that historical cost is not as relevant as the
amounts reported under some alternative valuation methods. That is, historical cost may
not represent the amount of future cash inflows (or outflows) that the company is likely
to obtain (or pay) for the asset (or liability).

The FASB sometimes requires a company to report an asset or liability at its fair value.
To clarify how to measure fair value, the FASB has issued a Proposed FASB Statement of
Standards. This Proposed Statement defines fair value as the estimated price at which an
asset (or liability) could be exchanged in a current transaction between knowledgeable,
unrelated willing parties under normal business conditions. It indicates that the objective
of determining a fair value is to estimate an exchange price for an asset (or liability) when
an actual transaction has not occurred.

The Proposed Statement defines “market inputs” as the assumptions and data that
would be used to estimate fair value. It groups these market inputs into a “hierarchy” of
five broad categories (levels) for estimating fair value, as follows:

e Level 1 market inputs are the best information for estimating fair value. These
inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.

e Level 2 market inputs are quoted market prices for similar assets, adjusted for
differences between the assets.

e Level 3 market inputs are direct market values other than quoted prices (e.g., current
appraisals).
Level 4 market inputs are indirect market values (e.g., previous appraisals).
Level 5 measures are the lowest level of information and are “entity” inputs. These
are based on the application of valuation techniques. Whenever possible (without
undue cost and effort), multiple valuation techniques consistent with the market
approach, income approach, and cost approach should be used. The market

7. FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, op. cit., par. 67, and “Conceptual Framework for
Financial Accounting and Reporting: Elements of Financial Statements and Their Measurement,” FASB
Discussion Memorandum, op. cit., pp. 196-206, and “Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in
Accounting Measurements,” FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 7 (Norwalk, Conn.:
FASB, 2000) p. 1.
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approach requires observable prices based on actual transactions involving compa-
rable assets. The income approach uses present value techniques to convert future
amounts to a single present amount. The cost approach relates to the amount that
would have to be paid to replace an asset’s service capacity.

When measuring the fair value, a company must consider whether the asset will continue
to be used in the business or will be sold. A company must also disclose certain infor-
mation about its use of fair value to remeasure assets (and liabilities) reported on its bal-
ance sheet. This includes, for instance, how the fair value amount(s) were determined
and the impact on the company’s earnings for the period.®

Depending on the circumstances, to report the fair value of an asset or liability, a
company might use current cost, current exit value, net realizable value, or present value.
For instance, a company uses current cost for valuing certain “inventories,” current exit
value for “marketable securities,” net realizable value for “receivables,” and present value
for “bonds payable.” We identify the valuation method used for each type of asset and
liability in the next section and we discuss these methods more fully in later chapters. As
increased emphasis is placed on reporting information concerning a company’s liquidity,
financial flexibility, and operating capability, it is likely that the FASB will require more
fair values to be reported on balance sheets (or related notes). The extent of the use of
other valuation methods will depend, among other considerations, on the tradeoff
between relevance and reliability. It is possible the FASB may develop GAAP in which
“financial” assets and liabilities are valued at fair value while “non-financial” assets and
liabilities are valued at historical cost.

LINK TO ETHICAL DILEMMA

As the controller for a struggling manufacturing company, you are in the process
of closing the books for the year and notice that the company is going to be in
technical violation of its debt covenants. Such a violation could result in bank-
ruptcy, which would result in the loss of hundreds of jobs, including your own.
You quickly analyze the financial statements and realize that by changing a few
estimates involving accounts receivable, warranties, and pensions, the company
will be able to avoid a violation of its debt covenants. While you don't believe
the revised estimates would best represent the economic reality of your com-
pany’s financial position, you also don't believe the estimates are unreasonably
aggressive. Do you revise the estimates?

Limitations of the Balance Sheet

In addition to the criticism that the use of historical costs for valuing assets and liabilities
does not help users assess the likely amounts of future cash flows relating to these items,
there are other limitations of the balance sheet. First, a company’s balance sheet does not
include all of its economic resources and economic obligations. For instance, “human
resources” or “intellectual capital” such as high-quality management or highly creative
employees are not included as assets, primarily because of the difficulty of reliably
measuring their values. Or, possible legal obligations for air or water pollution may not
be reported as liabilities, again due to measurement problems. Second, many of the

8. “Fair Value Measurements,” FASB Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (Norwalk, Conn.:
FASB, 2004).
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amounts that a company reports are based on estimates, which are subject to change. As
we discuss in the next section, estimates are involved in determining the amounts for
items such as uncollectible accounts and depreciation, as well as warranty and pension
liabilities. Finally, in periods of inflation the amounts listed on a company’s balance
sheet do not show the “purchasing power” of its assets and liabilities. The FASB is aware
of these limitations and in certain instances, as we discuss later in the chapter, requires
companies to disclose additional information in the notes to the financial statements to
help users in their decision making.

@ SECURE YOUR KNOWLEDGE 4-1

® By providing information about a company’s resources and financial structure, the bal-
ance sheet should help users:
= assess a company’s liquidity, financial flexibility, and operating capability,and
= evaluate a company’s income-producing performance during a period.

® The elements of a balance sheet that should be recognized are assets, liabilities, and
stockholders’ equity.

® Various valuation methods can be used to measure elements on a balance sheet, with
historical cost being the primary method employed; however, increasing use of fair
value measurements is being required by FASB.

® The balance sheet does suffer from several limitations, including the use of historical
cost, the exclusion of some economic resources and obligations, the use of estimates,
and the lack of purchasing power adjustments.

REPORTING CLASSIFICATIONS ON THE BALANCE SHEET

4 C(lassify th
A company’s accounting system processes vast amounts of data. When the company g;::isf{); ae
prepares the financial statements, it simplifies, condenses, and classifies that data. The balance sheet.
classifications are designed to help analysis by grouping items with similar characteristics.
The intent is to improve the predictive value, and hence the usefulness, of the financial
information for assessing the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of future cash flows.” The
arrangement of each company’s balance sheet items and subtotals should be designed
to be useful to its various external user groups. But there are differences in companies, / \
industries, and economic conditions. Therefore, there must be flexibility in classifications ‘_’Q

to ensure that a company’s balance sheet is useful. Nonetheless, a general classification
scheme may be presented that captures the majority of items reported by most companies.

A corporation usually divides its balance sheet into three sections, and groups the
items reported within each section in some informative manner. A common classifica-
tion would be:

1. Assets Reporting
. Current assets

a

b. Long-term investments / \
c. Property, plant, and equipment Q —
d. Intangible assets

e. Other assets
2. Liabilities
a. Current liabilities
b. Long-term liabilities
c. Other liabilities

9.  Ibid., FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, par. 20-22.
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3. Stockholders’ equity
a. Contributed capital
(1) Capital stock
(2) Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
¢. Accumulated other comprehensive income

We discuss each of these groupings in the following sections. We show a comprehensive
illustration of a balance sheet at December 31, 2007 for the Caron Manufacturing
Company in Example 4-1 on pages 130 and 131. For selected items, we show illustrations
of disclosures of actual companies in related exhibits. Appendix A includes The Coca-
Cola Company'’s balance sheet at December 31, 2004.

Current Assets

Current assets are cash and other assets that a company expects to convert into cash,
sell, or consume within one year or the normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. An
operating cycle is the average time taken by a company to spend cash for inventory, process
and sell the inventory, and collect the receivables, converting them back into cash. We
show an example of a company’s operating cycle in Exhibit 4-3. Note the relationship
between current assets, current liabilities (discussed in the next section), and operating
cash flows. Most companies have operating cycles of a year or less. A few, such as construc-
tion, lumber, distillery, and tobacco companies, have operating cycles that are longer than

EXHIBIT 4-3  Operating Cycle: Current Assets, Current Liabilities, and Cash Flows

Make Collectionsof | __________ - Acquire Inventory
Accounts Receivable 1. Pay cash
1. Collect cash 2. Incur accounts
2. Incur bad debts payable
Y 7
\ [l
\ 1
A Operating g
\ Cash Flows /

Incur General and

iy ] Incur Selling Expenses
Administrative Expenses

1. Pay cash
2. Incur current payables
3. Reduce prepaid items

1. Pay cash
2. Incur current payables
3. Reduce prepaid items

\ 1
\ /
% Make Sales (Revenues) E
Y\ | 1. Collect cash L
\| 2. Increase accounts "
receivable

3. Reduce deferred revenues

Incur Cost of Goods Sold

""" operating cycle flow | 4 educe inventory

operating cash flows




Reporting Classifications on the Balance Sheet

one year. In that case, the longer time period should be used to determine the current
assets. "’
A company’s current assets may include five items:

cash (and cash equivalents),

temporary investments in marketable securities,
receivables,

inventories, and

prepaid items.

(Companies may use different titles than the ones we use here.) These items usually are
presented in the current asset section in the order of their liquidity, as we show in
Example 4-1 on pages 130 and 131.

Cash includes cash on hand and readily available in checking and savings accounts.
Many companies also include “cash equivalents” with cash. Cash equivalents are risk-free
securities, such as money market funds and treasury bills that will mature in three months
or less from the date acquired by the holder. Temporary investments in marketable
securities include debt and equity securities that are classified as “trading securities,”
“available-for-sale securities” that management intends to sell within one year or the nor-
mal operating cycle (whichever is longer), and “held-to-maturity” securities that will
mature within a year. Also included are “derivative financial instruments,” such as options
to buy stock. Alternative titles include short-term marketable securities and short-term
investments. They are listed at their fair value (current market value). Receivables include
accounts receivable and notes receivable with short-term maturity dates. They are listed at
their estimated collectible amounts (net realizable values).

Inventories include goods held for resale in the normal course of business plus, in
the case of a manufacturing company, raw materials (items to be converted into finished
goods) and work in process (partially completed goods) inventories. They are listed at
their historical cost or market value (current cost), whichever is lower. The inventory cost-
ing method (LIFO, FIFO, average cost) is disclosed parenthetically or in the related notes.
To reduce the detail on its balance sheet, a company might show a total inventory
amount in current assets and include a schedule of the components in the notes to the
financial statements. This procedure is used by Johnson & Johnson, as we show in Real
Report 4-1 on page 132. Prepaid items such as insurance, rent, office supplies, and taxes
will not be converted into cash but will be consumed. Conceptually, prepaid items
should not be classified as current assets because they do not directly enter into the oper-
ating cycle. However, they are included as current assets because had they not been paid
in advance, cash would have been paid out within the cycle. Also, even though a two-year
prepayment of insurance would extend over more than an annual operating cycle, the
payment is usually classified as a current asset because the amount is not material.
Prepaid items are listed at the historical cost of the remaining amounts.

Current Liabilities

We discuss current liabilities next because of their close relation to current assets. Current
liabilities are obligations of a company that it expects to liquidate by using existing
current assets, or creating other current liabilities within one year or the normal
operating cycle, whichever is longer. Several types of liabilities should be included as
current liabilities:

1. Obligations for items (goods or services) that are in the operating cycle. These
include, for instance, accounts payable and salaries payable.

10. “Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins,” Accounting Research and Terminology Bulletins,
Final Edition, No. 43 (New York: AICPA, 1961), ch. 3, sec. A, par. 4 and 5.
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2. Advance collections for the future delivery of goods or performance of service—for
instance, obligations under short-term derivative financial instruments (such as
options to sell stock) as well as unearned rent and unearned ticket sales. These lat-
ter items sometimes are referred to as short-term deferred (unearned) revenues.

3. Other obligations that will be paid within one year or the operating cycle, such as
short-term notes payable, interest payable, dividends payable, income taxes
payable, the estimated liability for short-term product warranties, and the portions
of long-term liabilities that mature during this period."

These obligations are listed on the balance sheet at the amount owed (historical pro-
ceeds) or estimated to be owed. Example 4-1 shows the current liabilities section of the
Caron Manufacturing Company.

EXAMPLE 4-1 Balance Sheet

CARON MANUFACTURING COMPANY

Balance Sheet
December 31,2007

Assets

Current Assets

Cash $ 14,300
Temporary investments in available
for sale securities 19,700
Accounts receivable $ 68,200
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (3,200) 65,000
Inventories
Raw materials $ 32,000
Work in process 49,500
Finished goods 66,100 147,600
Prepaid items
Insurance S 4,800
Office supplies 2,200 7,000
Total current assets $253,600
Long-Term Investments
Investment in held-to-maturity bonds $ 17,000
Fund to retire long-term bonds payable 17,400
Total long-term investments 34,400

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Accumulated Book
Cost Depreciation Value
Land $ 36,000 = $ 36,000
Buildings 428,000 $207,000 221,000
Equipment 192,000 63,700 128,300
Totals $656,000 $270,700 $385,300
Total property, plant,and equipment 385,300
Intangible Assets
Trademarks $ 12,600
Patents (net) 16,900
Total intangible assets 29,500
Total Assets $702,800

11. Ibid., par. 7.
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An obligation that is due within the next accounting period but which will be refi-
nanced by issuing new long-term liabilities is not classified as a current liability. This

obligation is not a current liability, because it will not require the use of current assets to
satisfy the debt.

Working Capital

The working capital of a company is the financial resources it uses during its operating
cycle. Working capital is the excess of a company’s current assets over its current / \
liabilities. Although a company seldom computes its working capital on the balance

sheet, it is often used by creditors and others as an indicator of the short-run liquidity of @ Q
the company. Often external users use a slightly different computation, the current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities), for the same purpose. Users must be careful
when using the current ratio because the liquidity composition of the current assets is very
important. The FASB has suggested several general guidelines for more homogeneous
classifications of assets to help external users assess the nature, amounts, and liquidity of
available resources. One classification alternative might be to separate the current assets

EXAMPLE 4-1 (Continued)

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 87,100
Salaries payable 3,300
Income taxes payable 27,400
Advances from customers 19,600
Current portion of mortgage payable 8,400
Total current liabilities $145,800
Long-Term Liabilities
Bonds payable (10%, due 2020) $ 90,000
Less: Unamortized bond discount (8,200) $ 81,800
Mortgage payable (12%, due 2009-2012) 52,600
Accrued pension cost 34,700
Total long-term liabilities 169,100

Other Liabilities
Deferred income taxes 14,300
Total Liabilities $329,200

Stockholders’ Equity

Contributed Capital (see Example 4-2)
Common stock, $5 par (20,000 shares authorized,

14,300 shares issued and outstanding) $71,500

Additional paid-in capital on common stock 173,900
Total contributed capital $245,400
Retained Earnings (see Example 4-2) 116,200

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Unrealized increase in value of available-for-

sale securities (see Example 4-2) 12,000
Total Stockholders’ Equity $373,600

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $702,800
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into two groups. The first group would include the liquid assets of cash and temporary
investments in marketable securities that are immediately convertible into cash. The sec-
ond group would include separable assets, those assets that can be separated from the
company and converted into cash but with some time lag and conversion costs. These
would include items such as receivables and inventories.'? Users can develop alternative
groupings of current assets and current liabilities, as well as other ratios for assessing lig-
uidity and financial flexibility.

Real Report 4-1 Inventory Disclosures

JOHNSON & JOHNSON

At January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003 2004 2003
(in millions)
Current assets (in part):

Inventories (Notes 1 and 2) $3,744 $3,588

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (in part):

2 Inventories

At the end of 2004 and 2003, inventories were comprised of:

(Dollars in Millions) 2004 2003
Raw materials and supplies $ 964 $ 966
Goods in process 1,113 981
Finished goods 1,667 1,641

$3,744 $3,588

Questions:

1. What is the percentage of each type of inventory for 2004 and 2003?
2. Why might you be concerned (or optimistic) in regard to the changes in the
percentages?

Long-Term Investments

Companies make investments for several reasons. They may be interested in appreciation
of the investment (the company expects the market value of the investment to increase),
in income from interest or dividends, in exercising control over certain other companies,
as in the case of a subsidiary or a major supplier, and in using the investment for specific
future purposes such as the acquisition of property, plant, and equipment for expansion.
Whether or not the investment is readily marketable, if the company expects to hold the
item for more than one year or the operating cycle, whichever is longer, it is classified
as a long-term (noncurrent) investment.

Long-term investments include holdings of available-for-sale debt and equity securi-
ties that the company does not intend to convert into cash within one year or the normal
operating cycle (if longer than a year). Long-term investments also include investments in
debt securities (e.g., bonds) expected to be held to maturity, noncurrent notes receivable
from unaffiliated companies, long-term advances to unconsolidated affiliated compa-
nies, and financial instruments (such as options to buy stock) that are noncurrent.
Investments in property and equipment being held for future operations, such as land
being held for a future building site, also are included. Special funds established to retire

12. For a further discussion, see “Reporting Funds Flows, Liquidity, and Financial Flexibility,” FASB Discussion
Memorandum (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1980), ch. 8 and 9.



Reporting Classifications on the Balance Sheet

bonds payable or preferred stock (often called sinking funds) or to acquire future facili-
ties are included as long-term investments. Finally, miscellaneous investments, including
the cash surrender value of life insurance policies, should be listed in this section of the
balance sheet. Investments are listed at their fair value, historical cost, book value, or
present value, depending on the type of investment. The method of valuation for each
long-term investment should be disclosed either parenthetically or in the notes to the
financial statements. Example 4-1 illustrates the long-term investments section of Caron
Manufacturing Company.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

The property, plant, and equipment section of a company’s balance sheet includes the
tangible assets used in its operations. Often these are called fixed assets because of their
relative permanency in the company’s operations. A merchandising company sometimes
will title this section Property and Equipment because it does not have manufacturing
(plant) facilities. Assets that have a physical existence, such as land, buildings, equip-
ment, machinery, furniture, and natural resources are listed in this category. Except for
land, all the fixed assets are depreciable or depletable (in the case of natural resources).
Land is listed at its historical cost, while the remaining fixed assets are listed at their book
values (historical cost less accumulated depreciation or depletion). A contra-asset account,
such as accumulated depreciation, usually is used to reduce fixed assets to their book val-
ues while still disclosing the historical cost. The method of depreciating the fixed assets is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. In the case where the earning power of
a fixed asset has been impaired, it is reported at a reduced fair value. Example 4-1 illus-
trates the property, plant, and equipment section of Caron Manufacturing Company.
Some companies show a total amount of property, plant, and equipment on their bal-
ance sheets and a breakdown in the related notes. This procedure is used by Campbell
Soup Company for its plant assets, as we show in Real Report 4-2.

Real Report 4-2 Plant Assets

CAMPBELL SOUP COMPANY

August 1, 2004 August 3, 2003

(in millions)
Assets (in part):
Plant assets, net of depreciation (Note 14) $1,901 $1,893
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (in part):
14 Plant Assets (in part):

2004 2003
Land $ 70 $ 66
Buildings 1,009 974
Machinery and equipment 2 9 2,827
Projects in progress 192 145
4,248 4,012
Accumulated depreciation (2,347) (2,169)
$1,901 $1,843

Questions:

1. What percentage of the total cost is “projects in progress” on August 3, 2003, and
August 1, 20047
2. What might this indicate?
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Certain long-term lease contracts relating to leased property, plant, and equipment also
are included in this section. Long-term leases of assets are a popular way for a lessee to acquire
the rights to the use of the assets without a large cash down payment. In the case of a capital
lease, one that has many of the characteristics of a purchase, both the assets and the liabilities
sections of the lessee’s balance sheet are affected. Since the lease allows the lessee company rel-
atively unrestricted rights to the use of the asset for an extended period, the rights are eco-
nomic resources to the company, even though the asset is not legally owned. The lessee
initially records a capital lease as an asset, Leased Equipment, at the present value of the future
lease payments. It is amortized in a manner similar to other legally owned assets of the com-
pany. The book value of the leased asset is reported in the property, plant, and equipment sec-
tion. Similarly, since the capital lease payments are noncancelable over an extended number
of years, these payments are a long-term liability of the lessee company. The obligation for a
capital lease also is recorded initially at the present value of the future lease payments and then
reduced by the amount of each lease payment (after adjustment for interest). As we discuss
later in this chapter, the capital lease liability is reported in the long-term liabilities section of
the balance sheet. We discuss the accounting for capital leases in Chapter 21.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are those noncurrent economic resources that a company uses in its
operations but have no physical existence. They generally derive their value from the rights
held by the company for their use. A company may have three categories of intangible assets:
(1) intangible assets with finite useful lives, (2) intangible assets with indefinite lives, and (3)
goodwill. Intangible assets with finite useful lives (such as patents, franchises, and computer
software costs) are amortized over their useful lives and reported on the balance sheet at their
book values (historical cost less accumulated amortization). The accumulated amortization
of these intangibles is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives (such as trademarks) are not amortized, but are reviewed for
impairment annually. Impairment arises when the earning power of an intangible asset has
been reduced to the point where its fair value is less than its historical cost. These intangible
assets are reported on the balance sheet at their historical cost or, if impaired, at their lower
fair value. Goodwill, another type of intangible asset, is not amortized but is also reviewed
for impairment annually. Goodwill is also reported on the balance sheet at its historical cost
or, if impaired, at its lower fair value. Many companies have valuable “intangible assets,” such
as their human resources and intellectual capital (employees), but these resources are not
reported on the balance sheet because of the difficulty in reliably measuring their value.
Example 4-1 illustrates the intangibles section of Caron Manufacturing Company. We dis-
cuss the acounting for intangible assets in Chapter 12.

Other Assets

Finally an “Other Assets” section occasionally is used to report miscellaneous assets that
may not “fit” in one of the previous sections. This section sometimes is referred to as
deferred charges. Examples of items that have been classified in this section include long-
term prepayments (such as for rent or insurance), deferred tax assets, prepaid pension costs,
bond issue costs, assets of a component of the company that is being discontinued,
advances to officers, idle fixed assets, cash from customers’ security deposits on returnable
containers, assets leased to others, and assets temporarily restricted by foreign countries.
Classification within this section should be made judiciously. Many items that are listed in
this section might be classified correctly in one of the previous sections.

Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liabilities are those obligations of a company that it does not expect to
liquidate using current assets or creating current liabilities within one year or the
normal operating cycle (whichever is longer). Long-term liabilities may be called
noncurrent liabilities. Many of these obligations may be outstanding for several years.
Items such as long-term notes payable, capital lease obligations, mortgages payable, obligations
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under noncurrent financial instruments (e.g., options to sell stock), estimated liabilities
from long-term warranties, accrued pension cost (i.e., obligation for future pension pay-
ments), and bonds payable are included in this category.

To finance its activities, a corporation may issue long-term bonds (sometimes called
debentures or notes). A bond is a written promise to repay a specific amount (its face
value) at some future maturity date. Nearly all bonds also pay a specified interest rate
(either semiannually or annually) that may vary from company to company. Many bonds
sell in a bond market similar to that of a stock market. Frequently a corporation may
issue a bond at more or less than its face value. This occurs when the bond pays a stated
interest rate greater or less than the yield rate investors can earn elsewhere on a similar
security, making it more or less valuable.

When a bond is issued for more than its face value, it is sold at a premium; when it is
issued for less, it is sold at a discount. At the time of sale the Bonds Payable account is
recorded at the face value of the bond, and an adjunct account called Premium on Bonds
Payable (or a contra account called Discount on Bonds Payable) is used to record the
amount by which the selling price is greater than (or less than) the face value. Then, each
period this premium (or discount) is amortized as an adjustment to interest expense (gen-
erally by use of a present value approach), and at the maturity date only the face value of the
bonds payable remains. Whenever a balance sheet is prepared, the remaining premium is
added to (or the discount is subtracted from) the face value of the bonds payable to deter-
mine the book value. Most long-term liabilities are reported at their present value, but some
are listed at cost. Any applicable interest rates, maturity values, and other provisions are dis-
closed parenthetically on the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial statements.
Example 4-1 illustrates the long-term liabilities section of Caron Manufacturing Company.
Some companies show a total amount of long-term liabilities on their balance sheets and a
schedule of the individual amounts in the related notes. This procedure is used by
Kim